MIXING, SPECTRAL AND REGULARITY PROPERTIES

OF FINITE AND INFINITE AUTOMORPHISMS

by

JACK KEITH DUGDALE

 Λ Thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor

of Philosophy in the University of London.

IMPERIAL COLLEGE

JUNE 1965

1

ABSTRACT

Given any automorphism T on a measure space (X, ε, μ) there is (see K.Jacobs [8] or V.A.Rokhlin [16]) an associated unitary operator U on L²_μ such that Uf(x) = f(Tx) for all feL²_μ. We first define and investigate the properties of the <u>introduced by A.N.Kelmegorov [11] and [12], and</u> metric invariant entrophy, see Ja. G. Sinai [18], in order to show (see A.N.Kolmegorov [11] and [12]) that there exist show (see A.N.Kolmegorov [11] and [12]) that there exist metrically equivalent (see V.A.Rokhlin [16]) T₁, T₂ such that the associated U₁, U₂ are not spectrally equivalent (see V.A.Rokhlin [15]).

Having done this we turn to the concepts of Kolmogorov and regular automorphisms on finite measure spaces. Then following V.A.Rokhlin [15] and L.Sucheston [21] we show that both these concepts imply mixing of all degrees. Further investigation enables us to deduce that T is a Kolmogorov automorphism if, and only if, it is a regular'automorphism. An immediate question then is whether or not T being a mixing of all degrees implies T is a Kolmogorov automorphism? We answer this in the negative by constructing a stationary Gaussian process which we show to be a mixing of all degrees and which cannot be a Kolmogorov automorphism since its spectrum is not a Lebesgue spectrum as is that of all Kolmogorov automorphisms see K. Jacobs [8].

In the course of the above we show that if a Gaussian process is a mixing of degree 1 then it is a mixing of all degrees. In the last chapter we extend the notion of a Kolmogorov automorphism to σ -finite measure spaces and prove (a fact which is clear for finite measure spaces) that in this case also T is a Kolmogorov automorphism implies that T is ergodic. An open question for σ -finite measure spaces is what mixing properties does a

Kolmogorov automorphism have?

3

ACKN ONLEDGMENT

I wish to thank my supervisor,

Dr. Y. N. DOWKER for her assistance,

encouragement and criticism while I was

preparing this thesis.

CONTENTS

1.	INTRODUC	TION	Page
	1•1	Notation	7
	1•2	Introduction	10
	1.3	Preview of the Main Results	13
	l•4	Convex Functions	14
	1•5	Algebras and Partitions	16
2.	THE ENT	ROPY OF A J-ALGEBRA	21
	2•1	The Entropy of a σ -Algebra in ${ m Z}_3$	21
	2•2	The Entropy of a σ -Algebra	27
	2•3	Increasingly Filtered Collections of σ - Algebras	31
	2•4	The Metric Space (Z, ρ)	38
	2.5	An Alternative Definition	39
3.	DEFINITI	ION AND PROPERTIES OF h(T)	42
	3.1	The Entropy of T with respect to a - Algebra	42
	3.2	More Properties of Entropy	47
	3•3	The Entropy of T	51
	3•4	Existence and Properties of Certain <i>o</i> -Algebras	55
4.	KOLMOGOR	OV AND REGULAR AUTOMORPHISMS	61
	4•1	Definitions	61
	4•2	Mixing	61
	4•3	Sequences of σ -Algebras	64
	4•4	Mixing Properties of Kolmogorov Automorphisms	67

	4• 5	Equivalence of Kolmogorov and Regular Automorphisms	70
	4.6	Spectral Theory	72
	4.7	The Spectrum of a Kolmogorov Automorphism	77
5.	MIXINCS WH	ICH ARE NOT KOLMOGOROV AUTOMORPHISMS	82
	5-1	Riesz Products	82
	5•2	A Particular Product	85
	5•3	Stationary Gaussian Processes	88
	5•4	Spectral Properties of Stationary	
		Gaussian Processes	93
	5• 5	Mixing and Regularity Properties of	
		an Automorphism	99
6.	T_ FINITE	MEASURE SPACES	101
	6.1	Introduction	101
	6•2	Induced Automorphisms	102
	6•3	Kolmogorov Automorphisms	106
	SUMMARY OF	NOTATION AND DEFINITIONS	109
	BIBLIOGRAPH	īΥ	112

6.

1. INTRODUCTION

1 · 1 NOTATION

As usual we denote "is a member of" by ϵ and the union, intersection, difference and symmetric difference of two sets by \bullet , \circ , -, and \diamond respectively. If Λ is a subset of B then we write $\Lambda \in B$. Γ will denote the integers and Γ^+ the strictly positive integers. If X is an abstract space then by a σ -algebra \propto , we mean a collection of subsets of X such that:

(i) $A, B \in \alpha$ imply $A \wedge B, A \wedge B \in \alpha$;

- (ii) $\Lambda_i \epsilon \propto$, $i \epsilon \Gamma^+$ implies $\bigcup_{i \in \Gamma^+} \Lambda_i \epsilon \propto$;
- (iii) Xex.

We note that it is usual to define a σ -algebra to be rather more general than the above in that (iii) is replaced by

(iii) / x contains a "unit"

and then (i), (ii), (iii) become necessary and sufficient conditions for α to be a σ -algebra whose unit is X. (see P.R.Halmos [5]). However, the above definition is adequate for our purpose. If α is a σ -algebra, then, since $A \lor B = (A \land B) \land (A \land B)$, $A-B = (A \land B) \land A$, we have that $A, B \notin \alpha$ imply $A \lor B \notin \alpha$, $A-B \notin \alpha$ and since

 $\Lambda_{i\in \Gamma} : X \to U(X-\Lambda_i)$ we have that $\Lambda_i \in \alpha, i \in \Gamma^+$ implies $\Lambda_i \in \alpha$.

Gixen X and a σ -algebra \propto , then by a measure on (X, \propto) we mean a real valued, non-negative function μ whose domain of definition is α and which satisfies:

(i) $p(\phi) = 0$, where here as always we use ϕ to denote the null set;

(ii) if $\Lambda_i \in \alpha$, i $\in \Gamma^+$ are such that $\Lambda_i \cap \Lambda_j = \phi$ if $i \neq j$ then

 $m\left(\bigcup_{\mathbf{i}\in r^+} \mathbb{A}_{\mathbf{i}}\right) = \sum_{\mathbf{i}\in r^+} m(\mathbb{A}_{\mathbf{i}}).$

We point out that we are using "measure" for what in measure theory is usually called "positive measure", (see P.R.Halmos [51). We refer to (X, α, μ) as a measure space. If θ is a mapping of a measure space (X, α, μ) into another measure space (Y, β, λ) such that if $\Lambda \epsilon \beta$ then $\theta^{-1}\Lambda \epsilon \alpha$ and $\mu(\theta^{-1}\Lambda) = \lambda(\Lambda)$ then we say that θ is a homomorphism. If θ is a one-to-one mapping such that θ and θ^{-1} are homomorphism, then θ is an isomorphism and we say that (X, α, μ) and (Y, β, λ) are isomorphic. If the two measure spaces coincide then a homomorphism is called an endomorphism ind an isomorphism, an automorphism. An automorphism ξ of the space (X, α, μ) is called isomorphic to the automorphism ξ of the space (Y, β, λ) if there exists an isomorphism θ of (X, α, μ) onto (Y, β, λ) such that $S = \theta T \theta^{-1}$.

An important principle of measure theory is that of neglecting sets of measure zero. In accordance with this principle, the spaces, as well as their automorphisms, need to be studied up to sets of measure zero or, as is commonly said, modulo zero (mod 0). For instance, it is not whether (X, α, μ) and (Y, β, λ) or the transformations T and S acting on them are isomorphic which **is** essential, but whether it is possible to make them isomorphic by subtracting some sets of measure zero from (X, α, μ) and (Y, β, λ) ; if the answer is positive then (X, α, μ) and (Y, β, λ) or T and S are called isomorphic modulo zero, (see V.A.Rokhlin [16]). Throughout all results are to be interpreted modulo zero. We say that a measure space (X, ϵ, μ) is finite and normalized, if $\mu(X) = 1$. We define a Lebesgue space to be a finite and normalized

measure space which is isomorphic mod 0, to a segment of the real line with ordinary Lebesgue measure to which is attached a finite or denumerable set of points of positive measure. It turns out (see V.A.Rokhlin [14]) that all measure spaces which occur naturally in probability theory are Lebesgue spaces. Thus we shall always assume that (X, ε, μ) is a Lebesgue space. From now on, unless the contrary is explicitly stated, we always assume the existence of a measure space (X, ε, μ) which is finite and normalized and statements such as "A is a set", "Ais a o-algebra" will mean " $A \in E$ ", α is a sub- σ -algebra of E, i.e. α is a σ algebra such that A $\epsilon \propto$ implies A $\epsilon \in$ ". Further we assume the existence of an automorphism T acting on (X, ε, μ) . If α, β are σ -algebras such that $A \in \alpha$ implies $A \in \beta$ then we write $\alpha \leq \beta$. For any σ -algebras \propto , β we define \propto/β , $(\propto n\beta)$ to be the least, (greatest) σ algebra containing, (contained in) α and β . If α_i , i ϵ I, where I is any index set, are σ -algebras then we define $\bigvee_{i \in I} \propto_i$, $(\bigwedge_{i \in I} \propto_i)$ to be the least, (greatest) σ -algebras containing, (contained in) every α_i for $i \in I$. If I is finite then $A \in V_{i \in I} \propto_{i}$ if and only if $A = \bigwedge_{i \in I} A_i$ with $A_i \in \infty_i$ for each i and $A \in \bigwedge_{i \in I} \alpha_i$ if and only if $A \in \alpha_i$ for each i. However, these last statements are not true in general if I is infinite. We denote the σ -algebra whose only sets are ϕ ,X by u and refer to it as the trivial algebra. Lastly we write log for log2 throughout.

Any further notation will be explained as it is introduced, and a summary of the main definitions is given at the end of this thesis.

9.

1.5 INTRODUCTION

In this section we give a brief outline of the problems which led to the formulation and study of entropy. By a function on X we mean a mapping from X into the real line. As usual we denote,

If: f is a function on X, $\int_X |f(x)|^2 d\mu < \infty$ by L^2_{μ} . Then if for arbitrary f, $g \in L^2_{\mu}$ we put

$$(f,g) = \int_X f(x)g(x)d\mu$$

we have that (f,g) is an "inner product" and if

$$||f|| = (f,f)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

then ||f|| is a "norm" and \mathcal{L}^2_{μ} is a Hilbert space. We now associate with T a unique transformation $U:\mathcal{L}^2_{\mu}\to\mathcal{L}^2_{\mu}$ by putting

$$Uf(x) = f(Tx), f \epsilon l_{\mu}^{2}$$

If A is any set, x_A the characteristic function of A then

$$UX_{A}(x) = X_{A}(Tx) = X_{T-1A}$$

Moreover if A_i , $l \leq i \leq n$ are disjoint sets a_i , $l \leq i \leq n$ are finite real numbers and

$$f(x) = \begin{cases} a_i \text{ if } x \in A_i, \ J \leq i \leq n \\ 0 \text{ otherwise} \end{cases}$$

then $Uf(x) = \begin{cases} a_i & \text{if } x \in T^{-1}A_i, 1 \leq i \leq n \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$

giving
$$\|Uf\|^2 = \int |Uf(x)|^2 dn$$

$$= \int_{x_i}^{x_i} a_i^2 r^{(T^{-1}\Lambda_i)}$$

$$= \int_{x_i}^{x_i} a_i^2 r^{(\Lambda_i)} \text{ because } (\Lambda_i) = (T \Lambda_i)$$

$$= \int_{x} |f(x)|^2 dn$$

$$= \|f\|^2$$

Thus we see that U maps the "step functions" in L_{p}^{2} onto the "step functions" in L_{p}^{2} in a 1-1, and norm preserving manner. Further if f is as above and B_j, $l \leq j \leq m$ are disjoint sets, b_j, $l \leq j \leq m$ are finite real numbers and

$$g(x) = \begin{cases} b_j \text{ if } x \in B_j, \ l \notin j \notin m \\ 0 \text{ otherwise} \end{cases}$$

then
$$(Uf, Ug) = \int_{X} \{Uf(x)\} \{Ug(x)\} d\mu$$

 $= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{m} a_{i} b_{j} \mu(T^{-1}A_{i} \wedge T^{-1}B_{j})$
 $= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{m} a_{i} b_{j} \mu(A_{i} \wedge B_{j})$
 $= \int_{X} f(x)g(x) d\mu$
 $= (f,g)$

Hence since "step functions" are everywhere dense in \mathcal{L}_{p}^{2} , and T maps the sets in ε onto the sets in ε it follows by the usual process of approximation that U is an automorphism on \mathcal{L}_{p}^{2} such that (Uf, Ug) = (f,g) for all f, $g \in \mathcal{L}_{p}^{2}$ i.e. U is a unitary operator (see M.H.Stone [20])

If T_1 , T_2 are isomorphic automorphisms and S is the automorphism isomorphism satisfying $T_2 = ST_1S^{-1}$ and U_1 , U_2 , V are the unitary operators corresponding to T_1 , T_2 , S then for all $f \in L_p^2$

$$U_{2}f(x) = f(T_{2}x)$$

$$= f(ST_{1}S^{-1}x)$$

$$= Vf(T_{1}S^{-1}x)$$

$$= VU_{1}f(S^{-1}x)$$

$$= VU_{1}V^{-1}f(x)$$

$$U_{2} = VU_{1}V^{-1}$$

i.e.

Thus if T_1 , T_2 are of the same metric type, U_1, U_2 are of the same

spectral type. It is usual to refer to the spectral properties of U as the spectral properties of the metric type of T or simply as the spectral properties of T.

If U_1 , U_2 are of the same spectral type then we day that T₁,T₂ are of the same spectral type or alternatively that they are spectrally isomorphic (see V.A.Rokhlin [16]). However, while T₁,T₂metrically isomorphic imply T₁,T₂ spectrally isomorphic the converse is not true in general, as is shown below. We also refer to the eigenvalues, eigenfunctions, spectrum, and spectral invariants of U as the eigenvalues, eigenfunctions, spectrum and spectral invariants of T.

If $A \in \epsilon$, TA = A implies that either $\mu(A) = 0$ or $\mu(X-A)=0$ then we say that T is ergodic. Since f(x) = a, $x \in X$ implies Uf(x) = f(Tx) = a, $x \in X$ we see that J is always an eigenvalue of U and the constant functions are eigenfunctions corresponding to J. Further if $A \in \epsilon$, TA = A then $U \approx_A = \alpha_{T-1A} = \alpha_A$ giving us that α_A is an eigenfunction. Thus we see that if the only eigenfunctions corresponding to J are the constant functions then T is ergodic.

If T,S are ergodic automorphisms with pure point spectrum then (see P.R.Halmos [6]) they are of the same metric type if and only if they have the same spectrum.

For other cases we call the eigenvalues and eigenfunctions, quasi-eigenvalues and quasi-eigenfunctions of the first order. Then for n > l we define a quasi-eigenvalue of order n to be a quasi-eigenfunction of order n-1, and if f_{n-1} is a quasi-eigenvalue of order n and $f_n \neq 0$ satisfies $U f_n = f_n f_{n-1}$ then we say that f_n is a quasi-eigenfunction of order n (see V.A.Rokhlin [16]).

12.

If the quasi-eigenfunctions form a complete system in χ_{Γ}^2 then T has a quasi-discrete spectrum. The classification problem for ergodic automorphisms with quasi-discrete spectrum was investigated by L.M.Abramov [1] and a complete classification theory constructed for them.

If T has no eigenfunctions other than the constants then T has a purely continuous spectrum (see V.A.Rokhlin (16)). Until a few years ago it was not known whether there existed spectrally isomorphic automorphisms with purely continuous spectrum belonging to distinct metric types. In [11] and [12] A.N.Kolmogorov introduced the metric invariant, entropy, showed it was not a spectral **invariant**, and so gave a positive answer to the above question. In fact he proved a stronger result, namely, the existence of automorphisms with a denumerably multiple Lebesgue spectrum belonging to different metric types.

1.3 PREVIEW OF THE MAIN RESULTS

Having defined and investigated the entropy of an automorphism we then look at three classes of automorphisms, viz:

1. Kolmogorov automorphisms, i.e. those for which there exists a σ -algebra \propto such that $\propto \leq T \propto$, $\bigvee_{\iota \in \Gamma} T^i \propto = \varepsilon$, $\bigwedge_{\iota \in \Gamma} T^i \propto = \omega$. These were introduced by A.N.Kolmogorov see [11] under the name of quasi-regular automorphisms.

2. Regular automorphisms, i.e. those for which $\bigwedge_{i \in \Gamma} T^{-i} \bigvee_{j \in \Gamma} T^{-j} \alpha = \nu \text{ for all essentially finite } \sigma \text{-algebras } \alpha.$ (see L. Sucheslon [21]).

3. Automorphisms which are mixings of all degrees.

13.

The first two will be proved equivalent later in this thesis. V.A.Rokhlin [16] and L. Sucheston [21] have shown that Kolmogorov and Regular automorphisms are mixings of all degrees. Our main result is to show that the converse is false i.e that there exist automorphisms on finite measure spaces which are mixings of all degrees, but which are neither Kolmogorov automorphisms nor Regular automorphisms. To do this we consider the Riesz product $(1 \cos 2^{2^{\vee}}x) = 1 + \sum_{v \in T^{+}} v_{v} \cos v x$ and the increasing, continuous П, and singular function G(x) of which it is the Fourier-Stieltjes If we then consider F(x) = G(t) where $x(t) = \frac{1}{2} \left(t + \frac{t^2}{2} \operatorname{sign} t \right)$ series. we get that F(x) is increasing, continuous and singular and that if $\varphi(n) = \underbrace{1}_{2\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} e^{-inx} dF(x) \text{ for } n \in \Gamma \text{ then } \varphi(n) \text{ is a positive definite function and } \varphi(n) = O(n^{-\frac{1}{2}+d}) \text{ for every } d > O \text{ as } n \rightarrow \infty.$ Then extending slightly the results of S.V.Fomin [4] we show that the stationary Gaussian process associated with ϕ (n) is a mixing of To complete the result we then use the results all degrees. of A.N.Kolmogorov [11] and S.V.Fomin [4] to show that all Kolmogorov automorphisms have a Lebesgue spectrum whereas the stationary Gaussian process referred to above does not.

Next we look at σ -finite measure spaces and generalize the concept of a Kolmogorov automorphism. With this generalization we show that a Kolmogorov automorphism on a σ -finite measure space is ergodic.

1.4 CONVEX FUNCTIONS

Lemma 1.4 If f(x) is defined for $0 \le x \le 1$, f''(x) exists and satisfies $f''(x) \le 0$ for $0 \le x \le 1$, $f(\cdot) \le \lim_{x \to 0^+} f(x)$, $f(1) \le \lim_{x \to 1^-} f(x)$ then

æ

for all sequences $\{a_i\}, \{x_i\} i \in I \subseteq \Gamma^+$ of numbers satisfying $0 \leq a_i$, $\sum_{i \in \Gamma^+} a_i = 1, 0 \leq x_i \leq 1$ we have $\sum_{i \in I} a_i f(x_i) \leq f(\sum_{i \in I} a_i x_i)$

The existence of $f^{(i)}(x)$ for 0 < x < 1 implies (see G.H.Hardy Proof. [7] P.212) that f'(x) exists for 0 < x < 1 and that f(x), f'(x) are If $\sum_{i \in I} a_i x_i = 0$ then for each i either continuous for 0 < x < 1. $a_i = 0$ or $x_i = 0$, thus $\sum_{i \in T} a_i f(x_i) = f(0) = f(\sum_{i \in T} a_i x_i).$ If $\sum_{i=1}^{n} a_i x_i = 1$ then if $x_i < 1$ for some j such that $a_i \neq 0$ we have $\sum_{i \in I} a_i x_i \leq \sum_{\substack{i \in I \\ i \neq i}} a_i + a_j x_i < 1$ a contradiction and so $\sum_{i \in I} a_i x_i = 1$ implies $x_i = 1$ for all i such that $a_{i} \neq 0$ and so $\sum_{i \in T} a_i f(x_i) = f(1) = f\left(\sum_{i \in T} a_i x_i\right).$ Hence if g(x) = f(x), 0 < x < 1 $g(0) = \lim_{x \to 0^+} f(x)$, $g(1) = \lim_{x \to 0^+} 1 - f(x)$ then $\sum_{j \in T} a_j g(x_j) \leq g(\sum_{j \in T} a_j x_j)$ implies $\sum_{i \in T} a_i f(x_i) \leq f(\sum_{i \in T} a_i x_i)$. Thus, without loss of generality, we may assume that $f(0) = \lim_{x \to 0^+} f(x)$, $f(1) = \lim_{x \to 1^{-1}} f(x).$

Further by an application of the first mean value theorem, we have that the one sided derivatives at 0, 1 are the limits of f'(x) as $x \rightarrow 0,1$ respectively.

If $x = \sum_{i \in I} a_i x_i$ then $0 \le x \le 1$ since $\sum_{i \in I} a_i x_i \le \sum_{i \in I} a_i = 1$. Thus by the mean value theorem of the second order (G.H.Hardy [7] P.285) we have for $i \in \Gamma^+$

$$f(x_{i}) = f(x) + (x_{i}-x)f'(x) + \frac{1}{2}(x_{i}-x)^{2} f''(y_{i})$$

where

$$f(x_{i}) \leq f(x) + (x_{i}-x) f'(x)$$

and so on multiplying through by a, and adding we get

$$\sum_{i \in I} a_i f(x_i) \leq f(x) + (x-x)f'(x) = f(x)$$

i.e.
$$\sum_{i \in I} a_i f(x_i) \leq f(\sum_{i \in I} a_i x_i)$$

We remark that if f''(x) < 0 for 0 < x < 1 then we have equality if, and only if, $x_i = x$ for all i. But this holds only if either all the x_i are equal or $a_j = 1$ for some j and consequently $a_i = 0$ for $i \neq j$.

If $f(x) = -x \log x$ for, 0 < x < 1 and f(0) = 0 then f''(x)exists and satisfies $f''(x) = -(\log e) / x < 0$ for 0 < x < 1. Further $f(0) = \lim_{x \to 0+} f(x), f(1) = \lim_{x \to 1-} f(x)$ and so f(x) satisfies the $x \to 0+$ hypotheses of lemma 1.4 and of the remark at the end.

1.5 ALGEBRAS AND PARTITIONS

If α is a σ -algebra, A is satisfies $\mu(A) \neq 0$, then we say that A is an atom of α if $B \in \alpha$, $\mu(B-A) = 0$ imply $\mu(B) = 0$ or $\mu(B) = \mu(A)$ and that A is a continuous set of α if given any $A_2 \in \alpha$ such that $A_1 \in A$ and any d such that $0 < d \leq \mu(A_1)$ then there exists a $B \in \alpha$ with $\mu(B-A_2) = 0$ and $0 < \mu(B) \leq d$. If A, B are atoms of α then we say that A, B are essentially disjoint if $\mu(A + B) \neq 0$ and that A, B are equivalent if $\mu(A + B) = 0$. We have immediately that any σ -algebra has at most a denumerable number of essentially distinct atoms since we are assuming $\mu(X) = 1$. Clearly if A is an atom of α , and $A_3 \in \alpha$ satisfies $\mu(A_3) = 0$ then $A \cup A_3$, $A - A_3$ and $A = A_4$ are atoms of α . For each atom A of a σ -algebra α we put

 $\tilde{A} = \{B : B \text{ is an atom of } \alpha \text{ and } \mu(A = B) = 0\}$

By the above remarks any σ -algebra α has at most a denumberable

number of distinct equivalence classes \tilde{A} . Let these be $\tilde{A}_{i}^{}$, $i \in I$ where I is a subset of Γ^{+} , and let $B_{i}^{}$, $i \in I$ be such that $B_{i} \in \tilde{A}_{i}^{}$ for all i. Now put

$$A_{j} = B_{j}, A_{i} = B_{i} - \bigcup_{j=1}^{i-1} B_{j} \text{ for } i \neq 1, i \in I$$

$$\mu (A_{j} + B_{j}) = 0 \text{ and for } i \neq 1$$

then

$$\mu(A_i \Delta B_i) = \mu(A_i - B_i) + \mu(B_i - A_i)$$

since $A_i \in B_i$ and $B_i - A_i = B_i \wedge \frac{i}{j} \frac{i}{j} B_j = \frac{i}{j} \frac{i}{j} B_i \wedge B_j$; giving $A_i \in \widetilde{A_i}$ for all i. Given a σ -algebra then the $\widetilde{A_i}$, $i \in I$ are unique but the A_i , $i \in I$ depend on the choice of B_i , $i \in I$. However if for fixed $\propto B_i'$, $i \in I$ are another set of representatives of $\widetilde{A_i}$, $i \in I$ which give rise to A_i' , $i \in I$ then since A_i , $A_i' \in \widetilde{A_i}$ for $i \in I$ we have $\mu(A_i = A_i) = 0$ giving

$$\begin{split} & \left| \mu^{(A_{i})} - \mu^{(A_{i})} \right| \leq \mu^{(A_{i} - A_{i})} + \mu^{(A_{i} - A_{i})} = \mu^{(A_{i} - A_{i})} = 0 \\ & \text{i.e. } \mu^{(A_{i})} = \mu^{(A_{i})}. \quad \text{Thus the numbers } \mu^{(A_{i})}, \text{i ℓ I are uniquely} \\ & \text{determined.} \end{split}$$

Proposition 1.5 Given any σ -algebra \ll then we can find sets $A_i, i \in I$ and B such that A_i is an atom of \propto for each i, $A_i \wedge A_j = \emptyset$ if $i \neq j$, B is a continuous set of \ll if $\mu(B) \neq 0$, and $X = B_{\nu} \bigcup_{i \in I} A_i$

Proof Let \tilde{A}_i , $i \notin I$ be the equivalence classes of atoms of \ll and the A_i , $i \notin I$ chosen as above. Then A_i is an atom of \propto for each i and $A_i \wedge A_j = \oint \text{if } i \neq j$. If $B = X - \bigcup_{i \notin I} A_i$ then it remains to prove that B is a continuous set of α , if $\mu(B) \neq 0$. If $\mu(B) \neq 0$, B, is any set such that $B_i \notin \alpha, B_i \notin B$, d any number such that $0 < d < \mu(B_i)$ then either $\mu(B_i) = 0$ in which case no d exists, or $\mu(B_i \neq 0$. If $\mu(B_i) \neq 0$ and B, is an atom of α then for some i, B, $\in A_i$ and so $\mu(B_i \wedge A_i) = 0$ giving $\mu(B_i) = 0$ since B, $\leq B$ which is a contradiction. Thus B is not an atom of α and hence there exists a $C_1^i \in \alpha$ with $\mu(C_1^i - B_i) = 0$ and $0 < \mu(C_1^i) < \mu(B_i)$. If $C_1 = B_1 \cap C_1^i$ then $C_1 \in \alpha$, $C_1 \in B_1$ and $0 < \mu(C_1) < \mu(B_1)$. Similarly C_1 is not an atom of α and so there exists a $C_2 \in \alpha$ with $C_2 \leq C_1$ and $0 < \mu(C_2) < \mu(C_1)$. We now put

$$D_{1} = \left(\begin{array}{c} C_{2} \text{ if } \mu(C_{2}) < \mu(B_{1}) / 2 \\ C_{1} - C_{2} \text{ otherwise} \end{array} \right)$$

then $D_1 \in \alpha$, $D_1 \in B_1$ and $0 < \mu(D_1) < \mu(B_1)/2$.

Repeating this argument a further n-1 times we find a $D_n \epsilon \propto with$ $D_n \leq D_{n-1}$ and $0 < \mu(D_n) < \mu(D_{n-1})/2$, giving $D_n \in B_1$ and $0 < \mu(D_n) < \mu(B_1) \times \mathbb{Z}^n$. Since $\lim_{n \to \infty} \mu(B_1)/2^n = 0$ there exists an $m < \infty$ such that $\mu(B_1)/2^m \leq d$. If we now put $E = D_m$ then $E \epsilon \propto$, $\mu(E-B_1) = 0$ and $0 < \mu(E) \leq d$. Hence we conclude that B is continuous.

With the notation of the above proposition we put:

 $Z_1 = \{ \alpha: \mu(B) = 0, I \text{ is finite} \}$ $Z_3 = \{ \alpha: \mu(B) = 0 \}$ $Z_2 = Z_3 - Z_1.$

-

If $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_1$, (\mathbb{Z}_3) then we say that α is essentially finite, (denumerable) This terminology is based on the concept of "partitions". More precisely we say that a collection of sets P_i , $i \in I$ is a partition if I is countable and $i \neq j$ implies $P_i \wedge P_j = \phi$, and

 $P_i, i \in I$ with I finite, (denumerable) such that $\alpha = \overline{\omega}$. With the notation of proposition 1.5 if $\mu(B) = 0$ it can be shown that there exists a partition $P_i, i \in I$ such that $\overline{\omega} \ll \alpha$ and if A is any set in α then there exists an $A^{\perp} \in \overline{\omega}$ with $\mu(A \land A^{\perp}) = 0$. Thus $\overline{\omega}, \alpha$ differ only in a set of measure zero. However as we do not need the notion of a partition we shall not continue developing the connections between partitions and essentially denumerable σ -algebras.

We finish this section by considering the form the atoms and continuous set of proposition 1.5 take when we have a σ -algebra of the form $\alpha\beta$ with α, β -algebras.

Proposition 1.52 If α , β are σ -algebras, A_i , $i \in I$; B_j , $j \in J$ are atoms of α , β and D_1 , D_2 are either null sets or continuous sets of α , β such that

 $D_{1} \vee_{i \in I} V_{i} = X = D_{2} \vee_{j \in J} B_{j}$ then for all $i \in I, j \in J$ if $C_{ij} = A_{i} \cap B_{j}$ we have that C_{ij} is an atom

of $\alpha\beta$ if $\mu(C_{ij}) \neq 0$ and if $D = D_1 \cup D_2$ then $\mu(D) = 0$ or D is a continuous set of $\alpha\beta$ and

$$K = D \cup \bigcup_{\substack{i \in I \\ J \in J}} U_{ij}$$

Proof If $p(D) \neq 0$ and $E \in \alpha/\beta$ satisfies $E \notin D$ and d is such that $0 < d \leqslant p(E)$ then if p(E) = 0 no such d exists while if $p(E) \neq 0$ we have that either $p(E \land D_1) \neq 0$ or $p(E \land D_2) \neq 0$. Without loss of generality we take $p(E \land D_1) \neq 0$ then $E \land D_1 \notin \alpha$ and $E \land D_1 \notin D_1$ hence if $d_1 = \min\{d, p(E \land D_1)\}$ then by the continuity of D_1 there exists a $E_1 \notin \alpha$ with $E_1 \notin E$ and $0 < p(E_1) \leqslant d_1$. Now $E_1 \notin \beta$ and so we have $E_1 \notin \alpha/\beta$, $E_1 \notin E$ and $0 < p(E_1) \leqslant d$ thus giving D to be a continuous set with respect to $\propto \beta$.

It now remains to prove that C_{ij} is an atom of α/β if $\mu(C_{ij}) \neq 0$. Suppose there exists a $C^{1} \in \alpha/\beta$ with $\mu(C^{1}-C_{ij}) = 0$ and $0 < \mu(C^{1}) < \mu(C_{ij})$. Then $C = C^{1} \circ C_{ij}$ satisfies $C \notin \alpha/\beta$, $\mu(C-C_{ij}) = 0$ and $0 < \mu(C) < \mu(C_{ij})$. Since $C \notin \alpha/\beta$ there exists $C_{\alpha} \notin \alpha$, $C_{\beta} \notin \beta$ such that $C = C_{\alpha} \wedge C_{\beta}$. Further we can assume that $C_{\alpha} \notin A_{i}$ and $C_{\beta} \notin B_{j}$. However since A_{i}, B_{j} are atoms of α, β we must have

 $\mu(C_{\alpha}) = 0 \text{ or } \mu(A_{i}) \text{ and } \mu(C_{\beta}) = 0 \text{ or } \mu(B_{j})$ and since $\mu(C) \neq 0$ we must have $\mu(C_{\alpha}) = \mu(A_{i}), \quad \mu(C_{\beta}) = \mu(B_{j}).$ But this implies $\mu(C) = \mu(C_{ij})$ which is a contradiction and so we have that C_{ij} is an atom of $\alpha\beta$. Throughout this chapter all results unless stated otherwise can be found either explicitly or implicitly in K. Jacobs [8].

2.1 THE ENTROPY OF A σ -ALGEBRA IN z_3

If $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_3$ then by the last section there exist atoms $A_i, i \in \mathbb{I} \subseteq \Gamma^+$, (in general not unique) such that $A_i \wedge A_j = \emptyset$ if $i \neq j$ and $\mu(\underset{i \in \mathbb{I}}{U}A_i) = 1$, and further the $\mu(A_i), i \in \mathbb{I}$ are uniquely determined. Thus if we put

 $H(\alpha) = -i \xi_{I} r^{(A_{i})} \log r^{(A_{i})}$

then $H(\alpha)$ is well defined for $\alpha \in Z_3$. We refer to $H(\alpha)$ as the entropy of α . Since p(X) = 1 we have $0 \leq H(\alpha)$ and while $H(\omega) = 0$ if $X = \{0 \ 1\}$ and $P_i = [(i-1)/n, i/n], 1 \leq i \leq n$ then $H(\varpi) = -\sum_{i=1}^{n} n^{-1} \log n^{-1} = \log n$

where B is defined as in section 1.5.

For any sets A, B we put

$$\mu(A/B) = \begin{cases} \mu(A \land B) / \mu(B) & \text{if } \mu(B) \neq 0 \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

and using the terminology of probability theory we refer to it as the measure of A conditioned by B. If now $\propto , \propto' \in \mathbb{Z}_3$ and $A_i, i \in I, A_i^l, i \in I^l$, are chosen as above, then we define $H(\propto/\alpha^l)$, the entropy of \propto conditioned by \propto^l to be,

$$-\sum_{i \in I} \sum_{j \in I^{\perp}} p(A_{i} \wedge A_{i}^{\perp}) \log p(A_{i} / A_{i}^{\perp}).$$

Since all terms have the same sign we can reverse the order of summation without altering the convergence or divergence and without changing the sum in the former case. We now introduce the following definition. If $\alpha \in Z_3$ then $A_i, i \in I$ will be an atom set of α , (in general not unique) if the $A_i, i \in I$ are chosen as at the beginning of this section. It then follows by proposition 1.52 that if α , $\beta \in Z_3$ and $A_i, i \in I, B_j, j \in J$ are atom sets of α , β then $C_{ij} = A_i \cap B_j, i \in I, j \in J$ is an atom set of $\alpha \beta$ plus a number of sets of measure zero. Thus if $\gamma \in Z_3$ and C_k , $k \in K$ is an atom set of γ then

$$\begin{array}{l} H(\alpha\beta) = -\sum_{i \in I} \sum_{j \in J} p(A_{i} \cap B_{j}) \log p(A_{i} \cap B_{j}) \\ H(\alpha\beta/\gamma) = -\sum_{i \in I} \sum_{j \in J} \sum_{k \in K} p(A_{i} \cap B_{j} \cap C_{k}) \log p(A_{i} \cap B_{j}/C_{k}) \\ H(\alpha/\beta\gamma) = -\sum_{i \in I} \sum_{j \in J} \sum_{k \in K} p(A_{i} \cap B_{j} \cap C_{k}) \log p(A_{i}/B_{j} \cap C_{k}) \end{array}$$

For the remainder of this section we assume that $\alpha, \beta, \delta, \delta \in Z_3$ and that $A_i, i \in I, B_j, j \in J, C_k, k \in K, D_l, l \in L$ are atom sets of $\alpha, \beta, \delta, \delta$ respectively.

Proposition 2.11
$$H(\alpha/\beta) \leq H(\alpha)$$

Proof If $a_j = \rho(B_j)$, $x_j = \rho(A_i/B_j)$, $j \notin J$ then $\sum_{j \notin J} a_j = 1$, $0 \notin x_j \notin I$, $j \notin J$ giving by section 1.4 that

$$-j \stackrel{\Sigma}{\epsilon}_{J} a_{j} \stackrel{\times}{}_{j} \log \stackrel{\times}{}_{j} \leq -\left\{ j \stackrel{\Sigma}{\epsilon}_{J} a_{j} \stackrel{\times}{}_{j} \right\} \log \left\{ j \stackrel{\Sigma}{\epsilon}_{J} a_{j} \stackrel{\times}{}_{j} \right\}$$

i.e.
$$- \frac{\Sigma}{j \epsilon_{J}} \mu \left(B_{j} \right) \mu \left(A_{i} \middle/ B_{j} \right) \log \mu \left(A_{i} \middle/ B_{j} \right)$$

$$\leq -\left\{ \sum_{j \epsilon_{J}} \mu \left(B_{j} \right) \mu \left(A_{i} \middle/ B_{j} \right) \right\} \log \left\{ \sum_{j \epsilon_{J}} \mu \left(B_{j} \right) \mu \left(A_{i} \middle/ B_{j} \right) \right\}$$

$$= - \mu^{\left(A_{i} \right)} \log \mu^{\left(A_{i} \right)}$$

Summing over i then gives the required result.

22

Proposition 2.12
$$H(\alpha \beta / \delta) = H(\alpha / \beta \delta) + H(\beta / \delta)$$
Proof
$$H(\alpha \beta / \delta) = -\frac{5}{i \epsilon_{I}} \sum_{j \epsilon_{J}} \sum_{k \epsilon_{K}} p(A_{i} \wedge B_{j} \wedge C_{k}) \log p(A_{i} \wedge B_{j} / C_{k})$$

$$= -\frac{5}{i \epsilon_{I}} \sum_{j \epsilon_{J}} \sum_{k \epsilon_{K}} p(A_{i} \wedge B_{j} \wedge C_{k}) \{ \log p(A_{i} / B_{j} \wedge C_{k}) + \log p(B_{j} / C_{k}) \}$$

$$= -\frac{5}{i \epsilon_{I}} \sum_{j \epsilon_{J}} \sum_{k \epsilon_{K}} p(A_{i} \wedge B_{j} \wedge C_{k}) \log p(A_{i} / B_{j} \wedge C_{k})$$

$$- \sum_{j \epsilon_{J}} \sum_{k \epsilon_{K}} p(B_{j} \wedge C_{k}) \log p(B_{j} / C_{k})$$

$$= H(\alpha / \beta \delta) + H(\beta / \delta)$$

Since $\propto \beta = \beta \propto$ we have immediately

Corl $H(\alpha\beta/\delta) = H(\beta/\alpha\delta) + H(\alpha/\delta)$

If $\alpha \leq \beta$ then $\alpha \beta = \beta$ and this together with $H(\beta \mid \alpha \forall) > 0$ gives

Cor 2 If
$$\alpha \leq \beta$$
 then $H(\alpha/\delta) \leq H(\beta/\delta)$

Now X is an atom set for $\boldsymbol{\nu}$ and so

$$H(\alpha/\nu) = -\sum_{i \in I} p(A_i \wedge X) \log p(A_i/X)$$
$$= -\sum_{i \in I} p(A_i) \log p(A_i)$$
$$= H(\alpha)$$

thus putting $\mathcal{X} = \mathcal{V}$ in the proposition and corollary 1 gives

Corollary 3 $H(\alpha\beta) = H(\alpha/\beta) + H(\beta) = H(\beta/\alpha) + H(\alpha)$

And putting $\mathcal{V} = \mathcal{V}$ in corollary 2 gives

Corollary 4 If $\alpha \leq \beta$ then $H(\alpha) \leq H(\beta)$

Proposition 2.13 If $\beta \leq \delta$ then $H(\alpha | \delta) \leq H(\alpha | \beta)$

Proof For each
$$j \in J$$
 let $\varepsilon_{j} = \{A:A \leq B_{j}\}, \alpha_{j} = \{A:A = B_{j}A' \text{ with}$
 $A' \in \alpha \}$ and $K_{j} = \{k:k \in K, \mu(C_{k}-B_{j}) = 0\}$ then since $\beta \leq \delta$ we have
 $\mu({}_{k} \in K_{j} C_{k} \wedge B_{j}) = 0$. Thus
 $H(\alpha/\gamma) = -\sum_{i \in I} \sum_{k \in K} \mu(A_{i}AC_{k}) \log \mu(A_{i}/C_{k})$
 $= -\sum_{i \in I} \sum_{j \in J} k \in K_{j} \mu(A_{i}AC_{k}) \log \mu(A_{i}/C_{k})$
 $= +\sum_{i \in I} \sum_{j \in J} k \in K_{j} \mu(A_{i}AB_{j}AC_{k}) \log \mu(A_{i}/C_{k})$
If $a_{k} = \mu(C_{k}) / \mu(B_{j}), x_{k} = \mu(A_{i}AB_{j}/C_{k})$ then $k \in K_{i} a_{k} = 1$,
 $0 \leq x_{k} \in I$ and so by soction $I \cdot 4$
 $-\sum_{k \in K_{j}} a_{k} \times k \log \times k \leq -\{k \in K_{j} \mu(A_{i}AC_{k}/B_{j}) = \mu(A_{i}AC_{k}/B_{j})$
Now $a_{k} \times k = \frac{\mu(C_{k})}{\mu(B_{j})} \mu(A_{j}AB_{j}/C_{k}) = \mu(A_{i}AC_{k}/B_{j})$

giving

< >-

$$H(\alpha/\gamma) \leq -\sum_{i \in I} \sum_{j \in J} p^{(B_{j})} p^{(A_{i}/B_{j})} \log p^{(A_{i}/B_{j})}$$
$$= -\sum_{i \in I} \sum_{j \in J} p^{(A_{i}A_{j}B_{j})} \log p^{(A_{i}/B_{j})}$$
$$= H(\alpha/\beta)$$

Lemma 2.14 $0 \leq H(\alpha)$ $H(\nu) = 0$ $0 \leq H(\alpha/\beta)$ $H(\alpha/\beta) \leq H(\alpha)$

If $H(\alpha/\beta) = 0$ then there exists a σ -algebra β^* such that $\alpha \leq \beta^*$ and β , β^* differ only by sets of measure zero.₂₃ Thus $H(\alpha/\beta) = 0$ if, and only if $\alpha \leq \beta$ 24

Proof 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 8, 9, 11, 14, 15, 16 have already been established. 7 follows from 4, 6, and 10 from 9, 16. We now prove 13

25

$H(\alpha/\delta) \leq H(\alpha\beta/\delta) \text{ by 15}$ = $H(\alpha/\beta\delta) + H(\beta/\delta) \text{ by 8}$ $\leq H(\alpha/\beta) + H(\beta/\delta) \text{ by 16}$

To prove 17 we note that if $p(A_i \cap B_j) \neq 0$

then
$$\mu(A_{i}|B_{j}) = 1$$
 giving

$$H(\alpha|\beta) = -\sum_{i \in I} \sum_{j \in J} \mu(A_{i} \cap B_{j}) \log \mu(A_{i}|B_{j})$$

$$= -\sum_{i \in I} \sum_{j \in J} 0$$

$$= 0.$$

12 now follows from 8, 17.

18 follows from 4 if $H(\alpha/\delta') < \infty$ and is meaningless otherwise. If $H(\rho/\delta') = \infty$, 19 is meaningless while if $H(\beta/\delta') < \infty$, $H(\beta) = \infty$ then 19 is true and if $H(\beta/\delta') < \infty$, $H(\beta) < \infty$ then $H(\alpha) < \infty$ by 14 $H(\alpha/\delta') < \infty$ by 4, and $H(\beta/\alpha) < \infty$ by 7. Thus

$$H(\alpha) - H(\alpha/\delta) \leq H(\alpha) + H(\beta/\alpha) - H(\beta/\delta) \text{ by 13}$$
$$= H(\alpha\beta) - H(\beta/\delta) \text{ by 6}$$
$$= H(\beta) - H(\beta/\delta) \text{ because}$$

20 follows from 15 if $H(\alpha/\delta) < \infty$ and is meaningloss otherwise. If $H(\alpha/\delta) = \infty$, 21 is meaningless, while if $H(\alpha/\delta) < \infty$, $H(\beta/\delta) = \infty$ then 21 holds and if $H(\alpha/\delta) < \infty$, $H(\beta/\delta) < \infty$ then $H(\alpha/\delta) < \infty$, $H(\beta/\delta) < \infty$ by 16. Thus

$$H(\beta/\delta) - H(\alpha/\delta) \leq H(\alpha\beta/\delta) - H(\alpha/\delta) \text{ by 15}$$

$$\leq H(\beta/\alpha\delta) \text{ by 9}$$

$$\leq H(\beta/\alpha\delta) \text{ by 16}$$

$$= H(\alpha\beta/\delta) - H(\alpha/\delta) \text{ by 9}$$

$$= H(\beta/\delta) - H(\alpha/\delta) \text{ since } \alpha \leq \beta$$
If $H(\alpha) = \infty$ 22 is meaningless, while if $H(\alpha) \leq \infty$, $H(\beta) = \infty$

26

then 22 holds, and if $H(\alpha) < \infty$, $H(\beta) < \infty$ then $H(\alpha/\delta) < \infty$, $H(\beta / \gamma) < \infty$ by 4 and 22 follows from 19. If there does not exist a σ -algebra β^* such that $\propto \leq \beta^*$ and β , β^{\times} differ only by sets of measure zero, then there exist m, n such that $\mu(A_m \land B_n) \neq 0$, $\mu(A_m \land B_n) \neq \mu(B_n)$ and so $H(\alpha/\beta) = -\sum_{i \in I} \sum_{j \in J} r(A_i \wedge B_j) \log r(A_i/B_j)$ $\geq - \mu(A_m B_n) \log \mu(A_m / B_n)$

> 0

thus proving 23. 24 is a direct consequence of 17, 23.

> 2.2 THE ENTROPY J-ALGEBRA OF A

For any σ -algebra \propto we put

$$S(\alpha) = \{ \alpha' : \alpha' \leq \alpha, \alpha' \in Z_3 \}$$

 $H(\alpha) = \sup_{\alpha' \in S(\alpha)} H(\alpha').$ Since $\alpha \in S(\alpha)$ if $\alpha \in Z_3$ it follows from lemma 2.14, 14 that this definition of H(\propto) coincides with the previous one if $\propto \epsilon Z_3$. If β is any σ -algebra $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_3$ we put

$$H(\alpha/\beta) = \inf_{\beta' \in S}(\beta) H(\alpha/\beta')$$

and note that in view of lemma 2.14, 16, this coincides with our previous definition if $\beta \in z_3$.

Proposition 2.21 If α , β z_3 , $\alpha \in \beta$ and γ is any σ -algebra then $H(\alpha/\delta) \leq H(\beta/\delta)$

Let $\mathscr{I}_{i}^{1}, \mathscr{I}_{i}^{2} \in \Gamma^{+}$ be such that $\lim_{n \to \infty} H(\alpha/\mathscr{I}_{i}^{1}) = H(\alpha/\mathscr{I}),$ Proof $\lim_{i \to \infty} H(\rho/\mathcal{V}_i^2) = H(\beta/\mathcal{V}) \text{ and put } \mathcal{V}_i = \mathcal{V}_i^1 \mathcal{V}_i^2, i \in \Gamma^+$ Then $H(\alpha/\vartheta_i) \leq H(\alpha/\vartheta_i)$, $i \in \Gamma^+$ and $H(\beta/\vartheta_i) \leq H(\beta/\vartheta_i^2)$, $i \in \Gamma^+$

giving
$$H(\alpha/\gamma) = \lim_{i \to \infty} H(\alpha/\gamma_i), H(\beta/\gamma) = \lim_{i \to \infty} H(\beta/\gamma_i)$$

But $H(\alpha/\gamma_i) \leq H(\beta/\gamma_i), i \in \Gamma^+$ by lemma 2.14, 15.

and so

$$H(\alpha/\delta) = \lim_{i \to \infty} H(\alpha/\delta_i)$$

$$\leq \lim_{i \to \infty} H(\beta/\delta_i)$$

$$= H(\beta/\delta)$$

For any σ -algebras α , β we put

$$H(\alpha | \beta) = \sup_{\alpha' \in S(\alpha)} H(\alpha' | \beta)$$

and note that in view of proposition 2°21 this coincides with our previous definition if $\alpha \in Z_{3^\circ}$

$$H(\alpha\beta) = \sup_{\substack{\xi \in S(\alpha\beta) \\ \varphi \in S(\alpha), \beta \in S(\beta)}} H(\xi^{1})$$

by the above remarks and lemmas 2.14, 14 while

$$H(\alpha\beta | \mathcal{V}) = \sup_{\substack{S \in S(\alpha\beta) \\ \alpha \in S(\alpha), \beta \in S(\beta)}} H(s^{1}/\mathcal{V})$$
$$= \sup_{\substack{a \in S(\alpha), \beta \in S(\beta) \\ \alpha \in S(\alpha), \beta \in S(\beta)}} H(s^{1}/\mathcal{V})$$

by the above remarks and proposition 2.21

Also if $\forall \in \mathbb{Z}_{2}$ then

$$H(\mathcal{V}|\alpha\beta) = \inf_{\substack{\delta \in S(\alpha\beta) \\ \alpha^{1} \in S(\alpha), \beta^{1} \in S(\beta) \\ \alpha^{1} \in S(\alpha), \beta^{1} \in S(\beta) \\ \beta^{1}$$

by the above remarks and lem

Lemma 2.22 The results of lemma 2.14 hold for arbitrary σ -algebras $\alpha, \beta, \delta, \delta$.

1, 2, 3 are direct consequence of lemmas 2.14 and the Proof definitions of $H(\alpha)$, $H(\alpha | \beta)$. Now

$$H(\alpha/\beta) = \sup_{\alpha \in S} \inf_{(\alpha)} H(\alpha^{1}/\beta^{1})$$

$$\leq \sup_{\alpha \in S} \inf_{(\alpha)} H(\alpha^{1}) \text{ by lemma 2.14, 4}$$

$$= H(\alpha)$$

5 and 8 are proved by the method used in proposition giving 4. 2.21, bearing in mind the remarks made afterwards. 6 and 9 then follow from 5 and 8 and the fact that $\alpha\beta = \beta\alpha$. 7 is a direct consequence of 4 and 5 and 10 will follow from 8 and 16 when we have Now established the latter.

$$H(\alpha/\nu) = \sup_{\substack{\alpha' \in S(\alpha) \\ \alpha' \in S(\alpha)}} H(\alpha'/\nu)$$

=
$$\sup_{\substack{\alpha' \in S(\alpha) \\ \alpha' \in S(\alpha)}} H(\alpha') \text{ by lemma 2°14, ll}$$

=
$$H(\alpha)$$

15 is proposition 2.21 and has already been giving 11. 13 follows from 10 and 15. 14 follows from 11 established. and 15. To prove 16 we note that $\beta = \alpha \beta$ and so

$$H(\mathscr{V}/\mathscr{A}) = \sup_{\substack{\forall \in S(\mathscr{V}) \\ \forall \in S(\mathscr{A}) \\ \forall \in S(\mathscr{V}) \\ \forall \in S(\mathscr{A}) \\ = H(\mathscr{V}/\mathscr{A}) \\ = H(\mathscr{V}/\mathscr{A}) \\ \lim_{\substack{\forall \in S(\mathscr{V}) \\ \forall \in S(\mathscr{A}) \\ \neq \in S(\mathscr{A}) \\ = H(\mathscr{V}/\mathscr{A}) \\ \end{bmatrix}} \inf_{\substack{\forall \in S(\mathscr{A}) \\ \forall \in S(\mathscr{A}) \\ \neq \in S(\mathscr{A}) \\ \neq \in S(\mathscr{A}) \\ = H(\mathscr{V}/\mathscr{A}) \\ \lim_{\substack{\forall \in S(\mathscr{A}) \\ \forall \in S(\mathscr{A}) \\ \neq \in S(\mathscr{A}) \\ \neq \in S(\mathscr{A}) \\ = H(\mathscr{V}/\mathscr{A}) \\ } \lim_{\substack{\forall \in S(\mathscr{A}) \\ \forall \in S(\mathscr{A}) \\ \neq \in S(\mathscr{A}) \\ \neq \in S(\mathscr{A}) \\ \neq \in S(\mathscr{A}) \\ = H(\mathscr{V}/\mathscr{A}) \\ } \lim_{\substack{\forall \in S(\mathscr{A}) \\ \forall \in S(\mathscr{A}) \\ \neq \in S(\mathscr{A}) \\ \neq \in S(\mathscr{A}) \\ \neq \in S(\mathscr{A}) \\ = H(\mathscr{V}/\mathscr{A}) \\ } \lim_{\substack{\forall \in S(\mathscr{A}) \\ \neq \in S(\mathscr{A}) \\ \neq \in S(\mathscr{A}) \\ \neq \in S(\mathscr{A}) \\ \neq \in S(\mathscr{A}) \\ = H(\mathscr{V}/\mathscr{A}) \\ } \lim_{\substack{\forall \in S(\mathscr{A}) \\ \neq (\mathscr{A}) \\ \neq (\mathscr{A})$$

by lemma 2.14, 16, 18, 19, 20, 21 and 22 are proved as in lemma 2.14. To prove 17 we note that $\beta = \alpha/\beta$ and so

$$H(\alpha | \beta) = \sup_{\alpha \in S} \inf_{(\alpha)} \inf_{\beta \in S} \frac{\inf_{(\beta)} H(\alpha | \beta^{1})}{\inf_{\alpha \in S} (\beta)}$$
$$= \sup_{\alpha \in S} \inf_{(\alpha)} \frac{\inf_{\beta \in S} H(\alpha | \beta^{1})}{\beta \in S(\beta)}$$

= 0 by lemma 2.14, 17.

Here we use the fact that for fixed $\alpha^{l} \in S(\alpha)$ we have $\beta^{l} \leq \alpha^{l} \beta^{l} \in S(\beta)$ for all $\beta^{l} \epsilon S(\beta)$. 12 follows from 8 and 17. To prove 23 we note that $H(\alpha/\beta) = 0$ implies $H(\alpha^1/\beta) = 0$ for all Given any $A \in \mathcal{A}$ we can find an $\mathcal{A}^{l} \in S(\mathcal{A})$ such that $\int_{-\infty}^{1} S(\alpha)$ A $\epsilon \alpha'$. If there exists a $\beta^{1} \epsilon S(\beta)$ such that $H(\alpha'/\beta^{1}) = 0$ then $\propto \langle \beta^{1} \leq \beta$ by lemma 2.14. However if $H(\alpha^{1}/\beta^{1}) \neq 0$ for all $\beta^{l} \in S(\beta)$ then we choose β_{i}^{l} , $i \in \Gamma^{+}$ such that $\beta_{i}^{l} \in S(\beta)$ each i and $\lim_{n\to\infty} H(\alpha^{1}/\beta_{1}^{1}) = 0$. If $\inf_{B \in \beta} f(A \circ B) = k > 0$ then there exists an atom B, of β_i^1 for each i such that $-p(B_i \land A) \log p(A/B_i) \ge k^1 = k^1(k) > 0$ and hence $\lim_{i \to \infty} H(\alpha^{1}/\beta_{i}^{1}) > k^{1} \neq 0$ a contradiction. $\inf_{B \in \beta} \int (A \circ B) = 0$, i.e. $A \in \propto$ implies that there exists a Thus $B \in \beta$ such that $p(A \circ B) = 0$ as required.

24 is an immediate consequence of 17 and 23.

30

We now introduce

$$Z = \{ \alpha : \alpha \text{ is a } \sigma \text{-algebra, } H(\alpha) < \infty \}$$

Lemma 2.31 $Z \leq Z_{q}$

If α is a σ -algebra such that $\alpha \notin Z_3$ and Δ is any Proof real number then it is sufficient to find a $\alpha^{1} \in S(\alpha)$ with If $\Delta \leq 0$ then we take $\alpha^1 = \nu$ if not then we $\mathbb{H}(\alpha^{\perp}) \geq \Delta$ consider the B of proposition 1.51. Since $\propto q' Z_2$ we have $\mu(B) \neq 0$ and hence B a continuous set of \propto . Further $\lim_{X \to 0^+} - f(B) \log x = \infty$ and so we can find a real number d such that $0 < d \le \mu(B)$ and $-\mu(B) \log d \ge \Delta$. Let \mathfrak{P} be the set of all sequences of disjoint sets A_i , $i \in I \in I^{+}$ such that $A_i \in \alpha$, $A_i \leq B$, $0 < \mu(A_i) \leq d$ for all i. Since B is continuous there exists an $\mathbb{A}^{1} \epsilon \propto \text{ with } \mathbb{A}^{1} \xi \mathbb{B}$ and $0 < \rho(\mathbb{A}^{1}) \leq d$ and so \mathfrak{P} is If $p_1, p_2 \in \overline{\Phi}$ then we write $p_1 \leq p_2$ if $A \in p_1$ implies non-empty. Thus \preccurlyeq is a partial ordering of ${ar arPsi}$. AE Ro. If C is a "chain" in $\overline{\Phi}$ i.e. for all $\beta_1, \beta_2 \in C$ we have $\beta_1 \leq \beta_2$ or $\beta_2 \leq \beta_1$ (or both if $\beta_1 = \beta_2$) and $\beta_c = \{A: \text{ there exists a } \beta \in C \text{ with } A \in \beta \}$ then if $A_1, A_2 \in A_c$ there exist $A_1, A_2 \in C$ such that $A_1 \in A_1, A_2 \in A_2$ but $\mathcal{P}_1 \leq \mathcal{P}_2$ or $\mathcal{P}_2 \leq \mathcal{P}_1$ and so $A_1, A_2 \in \mathcal{P}_2$ or $A_1, A_2 \in \mathcal{P}_1$ giving in either case that Λ_1 , Λ_2 are disjoint and hence that $\beta_c \in \mathcal{F}$, since $\mu(X) = 1$ implies that β_c is at most denumerable. Now $\beta \leq \beta_c$ for all $\beta \in C$ and so by Zorns lemma there exists a $\psi \in \overline{\varPhi}$ such that for all $\mathcal{R} \in \mathcal{I}$ it is false that $\mathcal{P} \leq \mathcal{R}$ and $\mathcal{R} \neq \mathcal{P}$. Suppose $\mu(B - ACY A) > 0$ then if C = B - ACY A we have that $C \in \mathcal{A}$, $C \leq B$ and so by the continuity of B there exists an $A_1 \in \propto$, $A_1 \leq C$ with

 $0 < p(A_1) \leq d$. Now $\forall v A_1 \in \overline{\Psi}, \forall \leq \psi A_1$ and $\psi \neq \psi v A_1$ giving a contradiction and so p(C) = 0. If α 1 is the \mathcal{T} -algebra generated by the members of ψ together with $X - \bigwedge_{A \in \psi} A$ then $\alpha^1 \in S(\alpha)$ and

$$H(\alpha^{1}) \geq - \bigwedge_{A \in \varphi} \mu^{(A) \log n'(A)}$$
$$\geq - \bigwedge_{A \in \varphi} \mu^{(A) \log d}$$
$$= - (B) \log d$$
$$\geq \Delta$$

We say that a collection S of σ -algebras is increasingly filtered if given any $\alpha, \beta \in S$ then there exists a $\gamma \in S$ with $\alpha \beta \leq \gamma$. For any σ -algebra α we have that $S(\alpha)$ is increasingly filtered. Again if $\alpha_i, i \in I \leq l^+$ are σ -algebras such that $\alpha_i \leq \alpha_j$ if $i \leq j$ then $S = \{\alpha_i: i \in I\}$ is an increasingly filtered system.

Lemma 2.32 If S is an increasingly filtered collection of σ -algebras, $\varkappa = \bigvee_{\epsilon S} \beta$, $\forall \epsilon Z_1$ and $\forall \leq \varkappa$ then if $C_i, l \leq i \leq n$ is an atom set of \forall and d is any real number such that 0 < d there exists a $\beta \epsilon S$ and sets $B_i \epsilon / \beta$, $l \leq i \leq n+1$ such that $\int (B_i \wedge C_i) < d, l \leq i \leq n; \quad \int (B_{n+1}) < d; \quad \int (C_i \wedge B_j) < d$ if $i \neq j;$ $\int (C_i / B_i) > 1 - d$, $l \leq i \leq n$ and $\prod_{i=1}^{n+1} B_i = X$

Proof Since C_i , $1 \le i \le n$ is an atom set of \forall we have $0 < p(C_i)$ for all i and so given any d such that 0 < d we can find a d_1 such that $0 < d_1 < d$, $d_1 < \max \{p(C_i), d_1, (C_i)\}$ and $\overline{p(C_i)^1 - d_1} < d$, $1 \le i \le n$

For each i there exists a $\beta_i \in S$ and a $B_i^{\perp} \in \beta_i$ such that $p(B_{i}^{1} \land C_{i}) < d_{1}/8n^{2}$. Since S is increasingly filtered there exists a $\beta \in S$ such that $\beta_i \leq \beta$, $1 \leq i \leq n$. Let $B_{1} = B_{1}^{1} - U_{1}B_{1}^{1}$, $1 \le i \le n$, $B_{n+1} = X - \frac{n}{i} \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} B_i$. Then for each i, $B_i \le 3$ and if $i \neq j$ then $B_i A B_j = \phi$. For $i \neq j$ $\mu(B_{i}^{1} \wedge B_{j}^{1}) \leq \mu(B_{i}^{1} - C_{i}) + \mu(B_{j}^{1} - C_{j}) \text{ since } \mu(C_{i} \wedge C_{j}) = 0$ $< d_1/8n^2 + d_1/8n^2$ $= d_1 / 4n^2$ and $\mu(B_{i}^{l}-B_{i}) \leq \sum_{j \neq i} \mu(B_{i}^{l} \wedge B_{j}^{l})$ $(n-1)d_1/4n^2$ $d_{\gamma}/4n$ giving $\mu(C_i - B_i) \leq \mu(C_i - B_i^1) + \mu(B_i^1 - B_i)$ since $B_i \leq B_i^1$ $< d_1/8n^2 + d_1/4n$ < d₁/2n But $\mu(B_i - C_i) \leq \mu(B_i^1 - C_i)$ <ئم /8n² Thus $\mu(B_i \land C_i) = \mu(B_i - C_i) + \mu(C_i - B_i)$ $\langle d_1/2n + d_1/8n^2$ < d₇ ≺d Lastly $\mu(B_{n+1}) = \mu(X - a_{i=1}^{n} B_{n})$ $= 1 - \sum_{n=1}^{n} \mu(B_n)$ $= 1 - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu(B_{i}^{1} - \bigcup_{i=1}^{j} B_{i}^{1})$ $\leq 1 - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\{ \mu(B_{i}^{1}) - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \mu(B_{i}^{1} \wedge B_{j}^{1}) \right\}$ $< 1 - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\{ r^{(B_{i}^{1})} - (n-1)d/4n^{2} \right\}$ $< 1 - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left(p(C_i) - d/8n^2 - d/4n \right)$

If $l \leq i \leq n$, $l \leq j \leq n$ $i \neq j$ we have

$$r^{(C_{i} \land B_{j})} \leqslant \mu^{(C_{i} \land B_{j}^{1})} \\
 \leqslant \mu^{(C_{i} \land C_{j})} + \mu^{(C_{j} \land B_{j}^{1})} \\
 \leqslant 0 + d_{j}/8n^{2} \\
 \leqslant d$$

If l i i then

If S is an increasingly filtered collection of Lemma 2.33 σ -algebras in Z_3 , $\alpha = \frac{V}{\beta \epsilon S} / \beta$ and γ is any σ -algebra then

(i)
$$H(\alpha) = \sup_{\substack{\beta \in S \\ \beta \in S}} H(\beta)$$

(ii) $H(\alpha | \delta) = \sup_{\substack{\beta \in S \\ \beta \in S}} H(\beta | \delta)$

and if $\chi \in Z_3$ then

(iii)
$$H(\delta | \alpha) = \inf_{\beta \in S} H(\delta | \beta)$$

Proof Given d > 0 since $- \times \log x$ is continuous for $0 \le x \le 1$ and since $\lim_{X \to 1} -\log x = 0$ there exists a d¹ such that $0 \le x, y \le 1$, $|x - y| \le d^1$ implies $| -x \log x + y \log y| \le d/n(n+1)$ and $|-d^1 \le x \le 1$ implies $-\log x \le d/n(n+1)$. If $\alpha^1 \in S(\alpha)$ and $C_i, i \in I$ is an atom set of α then for each $n \in \Gamma^+$ we define δ_n to be the σ - algebra generated by the $C_i, i \in I, i \le n$. Then $\delta_n \in \mathbb{Z}_1$, $n \in \Gamma^+$ and $H(\alpha^1) = \lim_{n \to \infty} H(\delta_n)$. we now take δ_n as the δ , and d^1 as the d of lemma 2.32. With the notation of lemma 2.32 let β^1 be the σ - algebra generated by $B_i, 1 \le i \le n+1$. Thus

$$\begin{array}{l} H(x_{n}) - H(\beta^{1}) = \left| -\sum_{i=1}^{n} p^{(C_{i})} \log p^{(C_{i})} + \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} p^{(B_{i})} \log p^{(B_{i})} \right| \\ \leq \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} d/n(n+1) \\ \leq d \end{array}$$

Hence
$$H(\alpha) = \sup_{\substack{x \in S(\alpha) \\ \alpha \notin S(\alpha)}} H(\alpha^{1})$$

 $= \sup_{\substack{x \in S(\alpha) \\ \alpha \notin S(\alpha)}} \lim_{\substack{n \to \infty \\ n \to \infty}} H(\gamma_{n})$
 $< \sup_{\substack{x \in S(\alpha) \\ n \to \infty}} H(\gamma_{n}) + d$
 $\leq \sup_{\substack{x \in S(\alpha) \\ \alpha \notin S(\alpha)}} \lim_{\substack{n \to \infty \\ n \to \infty}} H(\beta) + d$
 $\leq \sup_{\substack{x \in S(\alpha) \\ \beta \notin S(\alpha)}} \left\{ H(\beta) + d \right\}$
 $= \sup_{\substack{\beta \notin S \\ \beta \notin S(\alpha)}} H(\beta) + d$

But d was arbitrary and so we have

 $H(\alpha) \leq \sup_{\beta \in S} H(\beta)$

and since $S \subseteq S(\alpha)$ we have

giving (i) Now $H(\delta_n | \beta^1) = -\sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{j=1}^{n+1} \rho(C_i \cap B_j) \log \rho(C_i | B_j)$ < n (n+1) d/n(n+1)d because $+\mu(C_i \cap B_i) \log \mu(C_i | B_i) \leq -\mu(C_i \cap B_i) \log \mu(C_i \cap B_i)$ $\leq d/n(n+1)$ if $i \neq j$ since $\mu(C_i \cap B_i) < d^1$ if $i \neq j$ while $-\mu(C_1,B_1)\log\mu(C_1|B_1) \leq -\log\mu(C_1|B_1)$ $< - \log (1-d^1)$ < d/n(n+1) $H(\alpha | \delta) = \sup_{\substack{\forall \in S \\ \alpha \neq S \\ \alpha \neq$ Thus lim H(Yn)Y) = sup α¹εŜ(α) n→∞ $\lesssim \sup_{\alpha \in S(\alpha)} \lim_{n \to \infty} H(\rho^{1}\gamma_{n}/\gamma)$ by lemma 2.22, 15 = sup $\lim_{\alpha \neq S} \left\{ H(\mathcal{Y}_n \mid \beta^{\perp} \mathcal{Y}) + H(\beta^{\perp} \mid \mathcal{Y}) \right\}$ by lemma 2.22, 8 $\leq \sup_{\alpha \in S(\alpha)} \lim_{n \to \infty} \left(H(\gamma_n / \beta^1) + H(\beta^1 | \gamma) \right)$ by lemma 2.22, 16 $\sup_{x \in S(x)} \lim_{n \to \infty} \left\{ d + H(\beta^{1}|x) \right\}$ $\begin{cases} \sup & \lim_{\alpha \in S(\alpha)} d + H(\beta | X) \\ n \to \infty \end{cases}$ $\begin{cases} \sup \sup_{\alpha^{1} \in S} \sup \{ d + H(\beta | Y) \} \\ \alpha^{1} \in S(\alpha) \beta \in S \end{cases}$ $= \sup_{\beta \in S} \left\{ d + H(\beta | \mathcal{X}) \right\}$

But d was arbitrary and so we have

$$H(\alpha | Y) \leq \sup_{\beta \in S} H(\beta | Y)$$

and since $S \in S(\alpha)$ we have
$$H(\alpha | Y) \geq \sup_{\beta \in S} H(\beta | X)$$

giving (ii)
$$Again H(Y | \alpha) = \inf_{\alpha \in S(\alpha)} H(Y | \alpha^{1}) \text{ for } Y \in Z_{3}$$

$$= \inf_{\alpha \in S(\alpha)} \lim_{n \to \infty} H(Y | \beta^{1} Y_{n})$$

$$\geq \inf_{\alpha \in S(\alpha)} \lim_{n \to \infty} H(Y | \beta^{1} Y_{n}) \text{ by lemma } 2 \cdot 22, 16.$$

$$= \inf_{\alpha \in S(\alpha)} \lim_{n \to \infty} H(Y | \beta^{1}) - H(Y_{n} | \beta^{1}) \}$$

by lemma $2 \cdot 22, 8$
$$\geq \inf_{\alpha \in S(\alpha)} \lim_{n \to \infty} H(Y | \beta^{1}) - d \}$$

by lemma $2 \cdot 22, 15$
$$\geq \inf_{\alpha \in S(\alpha)} \lim_{n \to \infty} H(Y | \beta^{1}) - d \}$$

by lemma $2 \cdot 22, 16$
$$\geq \inf_{\alpha \in S(\alpha)} \inf_{n \to \infty} H(Y | \beta) - d \}$$

by lemma $2 \cdot 22, 16$
$$\geq \inf_{\alpha \in S(\alpha)} \inf_{\beta \in S} H(Y | \beta) - d \}$$

Evt d was arbitrary and so we have
$$H(Y | \alpha) \geq \inf_{\beta \in S} H(Y | \beta)$$

giving (iii)

THE METRIC SPACE (Z, ρ) .

We now define a function $\rho(\varkappa,\beta)$ for any pair of σ -algebras \varkappa,β by

$$p(\alpha,\beta) = H(\alpha|\beta) + H(\beta|\alpha)$$

Clearly by lemma 2.22

2•4

(1) $\rho(\alpha,\beta) = 0$ if, and only if $\alpha = \beta$ up to sets of measure zero

(2)
$$\rho(\boldsymbol{x},\boldsymbol{\beta}) = \rho(\boldsymbol{\beta},\boldsymbol{\alpha})$$

(3) $\rho(\boldsymbol{\alpha},\boldsymbol{\delta}) \leq \rho(\boldsymbol{\alpha},\boldsymbol{\beta}) + \rho(\boldsymbol{\beta},\boldsymbol{\delta})$
i.e. ρ is a metric.

Lemma 2.41 (Z, ρ) is a complete metric space.

Proof If α_{n}^{1} , $n \in \Gamma^{+}$ is a Cauchy sequence in (Z, ρ) , then there exists a subsequence α_{n} , $n \in \Gamma^{+}$ such that $\rho(\alpha_{n}, \alpha_{n+p}) < 2^{-n}$ for all $p \in \Gamma^{+}$ If $\alpha = j \stackrel{\wedge}{=} 1 \quad i \stackrel{\vee}{=} j \stackrel{\vee}{=} i$ then for m > j > n $H(_{i} \stackrel{\vee}{=} j \alpha_{i}|_{i} \stackrel{j}{=} n \alpha_{i}) = H(\alpha_{j}|_{i=n}^{j-1} \alpha_{i}) + H(\stackrel{\vee}{=} j+1 \alpha_{i}|_{i=n}^{j} \alpha_{i})$ All terms are finite and so summing over j gives $H(\stackrel{\vee}{=} n+1 \alpha_{i} | \alpha_{n}) = \stackrel{m=1}{j=n+1} H(\alpha_{j}|_{i=n}^{j-1} \alpha_{i}) + H(\alpha_{m}|_{i=n}^{m-1} \alpha_{i})$ $= \stackrel{m}{=} H(\alpha_{j}|_{i=n}^{j-1} \alpha_{i})$ $\leq \stackrel{m}{=} H(\alpha_{j}|_{i=n}^{j-1} \alpha_{i})$ Ey lenma 2.33 letting $m \to \infty$ gives $H(\stackrel{\vee}{=} j + 1 \alpha_{i} | \alpha_{n}) = \stackrel{\widetilde{=}}{j=n+1} H(\alpha_{j} | \alpha_{j-1})$ and since $\alpha \leq \stackrel{\widetilde{=}}{i=n+1} \alpha_{i}$ we have

$$\begin{array}{rcl} H(\varkappa |\varkappa_{n}) & \leq & H(\underset{j=n+1}{\overset{\circ}{j=n+1}} \varkappa | \varkappa_{j} | \varkappa_{j-1}) \\ & = & \underset{j=n+1}{\overset{\circ}{j=n+1}} H(\varkappa_{j} | \varkappa_{j-1}) \\ & \leq & \underset{j=n+1}{\overset{\circ}{j=n+1}} \\ & = & 2^{-(j-1)} \\ \end{array} \\ \begin{array}{rcl} \text{Also } H(\varkappa_{n} | \varkappa) & = & \underset{j>n}{\underset{j\to\infty}{\overset{\circ}{m}}} H(\varkappa_{n} | \underset{j=j}{\overset{\circ}{j=j}} \varkappa_{j}) \\ \text{hence there exists a } j>n & \text{for which} \\ H(\varkappa_{n} | \varkappa) & \leq & H(\varkappa_{n} | \underset{j=j}{\overset{\circ}{j=j}} \varkappa_{j}) + 2^{-(n-1)} \\ & \leq & H(\varkappa_{n} | \varkappa_{j}) + 2^{-(n-1)} \\ & \leq & P(\varkappa_{n}, \varkappa_{j}) + 2^{-(n-1)} \\ & \leq & 2^{-n} + 2^{-(n-1)} \\ & \leq & 2^{-(n-1)} + 2^{-n} + 2^{-(n-1)} \\ & \leq & 2^{-(n-1)} + 2^{-n} + 2^{-(n-1)} \\ & \leq & 2^{-(n-3)} \end{array} \\ \text{Further } H(\varkappa) & \leq & H(\varkappa_{n}) \\ & = & H(\varkappa_{j} \varkappa_{1}) + H(\varkappa_{1}) \\ & < & 1 + H(\varkappa_{1}) \\ & < & \infty \end{array}$$

Hence we conclude that $|\alpha_i|$ and hence $|\alpha_i|$ is convergent to a σ -algebra $\alpha \in Z$.

2.5 AN ALTERNATIVE DEFINITION

We have defined the conditional entropy $H(\alpha \mid \beta)$ of α with respect to β by

 $H(\alpha|\beta) = \sup_{\substack{\alpha \in S(\alpha) \\ \beta \in S(\rho)}} \inf_{\beta \in S(\rho)} H(\alpha^{1}|\beta^{1})$

or equivalently as

$$H(\alpha | \beta) = \lim_{\alpha \in S(\alpha)} \lim_{\beta \in S(\beta)} H(\alpha^{1} | \beta^{1})$$

if we wish to make use of the theory of Moore-Smith convergence (see J.L.Kelley [J0]) and such notions as 'nets', 'filters', etc. However, while K. Jacobs [8] takes an essentially equivalent definition, the Russian school proceed in a rather different menner as outlined below.

For any
$$\alpha$$
, $\beta \in Z_3$, if $A \in \alpha$ we define
 $p^{A}(B) = p(A \land B)$ for $B \in \beta$

If B_{j} , $j \in J$ is an atom set of β and we put

$$r^{(A|\beta)(\mathbf{x})} - j \boldsymbol{\xi}_{J} \boldsymbol{\chi}_{B_{j}}(\mathbf{x}) r^{(A|B_{j})}$$

where $\chi_{B_i}(x)$ is the characteristic function of B. then we have

$$\mu^{A}(B) = \int_{B} \mu^{(A|\beta)}(\mathbf{x}) d\mu$$

by proposition 1.51.

We now put

$$H_{\beta}(\alpha, \mathbf{x}) = -\sum_{i \in I} \chi_{A_{i}}(\mathbf{x}) \log p(A_{i}|\beta)(\mathbf{x})$$

$$\int_{\mathbf{X}} H_{\beta}(\alpha, \mathbf{x}) dp = -\int_{\mathbf{x}} \sum_{i \in I} \chi_{A_{i}}(\mathbf{x}) \log \{\sum_{j \in J} \chi_{B_{j}}(\mathbf{x}) p(A_{i}|B_{j})\} dp$$

$$= -\sum_{i \in I} \sum_{j \in J} p(A_{i} \cap B_{j}) \log p(A_{i}|B_{j})$$

$$= H(\alpha|\beta)$$

Thus we could have defined $H(\alpha | \beta)$ as an integral. We now indicate how $H_{\beta}(\alpha, \mathbf{x})$ can be defined for general β and then give an alternative definition for $H(\alpha | \beta)$ in terms of the integral of $H_{\beta}(\alpha, \mathbf{x})$.

If β is any σ -algebra then for fixed A $\epsilon \propto$ we define

$p^{A}(B) = p(A \cap B)$ for $B \in \beta$

Now ρ^{Λ} is 'absolutely continuous" with respect to ρ on (X, β) and so by the Radon-Nikodym theorem (see P.R.Halmos [5] P.128 theorem B) there exists a function $\rho_1(\Lambda|\beta)(x)$ on X which is measurable with respect to (X, β, ρ) and such that

$$\mu^{A}(B) = \int_{B} \mu_{1}(A|\beta)(x) d\mu$$

We now put

$$H_{\rho}(\alpha, \mathbf{x}) = \sum_{i \in I} \chi_{A_i}(\mathbf{x}) \log \rho_1(A_i|\beta)(\mathbf{x})$$

and define

$$H_1(\alpha|\beta) = \int H_\beta(\alpha, x) dp$$

Since the Radon-Nikodym theorem asserts the uniqueness of $p_1(A|\beta)(x)$ modulo sets of measure zero, it follows that if $\beta \in Z_3$ then $p_1(A|\beta)(x) = p(A|\beta)(x)$ except possibly on a set of measure zero and consequently that $H_1(\alpha|\beta) = H(\alpha|\beta)$ in this case. Further, if $p_1, p_2 \in Z_3$ are such that $\beta_1 \leq \beta_2$ we have that $p(A|\beta_1)(x) \leq p(A|\beta_2)(x)$ giving us that $-\log p(A|\beta_2)(x) \leq -\log p(A|\beta_1)(x)$. Thus since it follows by convergence theory that for any σ -algebra

$$\Gamma_1^{(\Lambda|\beta)(\mathbf{x})} = \lim_{\beta \in S(\beta)} \Gamma^{(\Lambda|\beta^1)(\mathbf{x})}$$

where the limit is taken in the Moore-Smith sense we have that

$$H_{1}(\alpha|\beta) = \lim_{\beta \in S} H(\alpha|\beta^{\perp})$$
$$= H(\alpha|\beta)$$

for $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_3$ and β any σ -algebra.

3. DEFINITION AND PROPERTIES OF h(T)

3-1 THE ENTROPY OF T WITH RESPECT TO A J-ALGEBRA

As stated in $l \cdot l$ we always assume the existence of an automorphism T on (X, ε, ρ) . If α is a σ -algebra then we put

$$T \propto = \{A : T^{-1}A \in \mathcal{A}\}$$

$$\alpha_{T}^{n} = \prod_{i=0}^{n-1} T^{i} \mathcal{A}, n \in f^{+}$$

$$\alpha_{T}^{n} = \bigcup_{i \in f^{+}} T^{i} \mathcal{A}$$

$$\alpha_{T}^{-} = \bigcup_{i \in f^{+}} T^{-i} \mathcal{A}$$

$$\pi_{\infty}^{T} = \prod_{i \in f^{+}} T^{-i} \mathcal{A}$$

and if there is no danger of confusion we write $\ll^n, \ll^n, \ll_{\infty}$ for $\ll^n_{\pi}, \ll^T_{\pi}, \ll^T_{\infty}$.

If α , $\beta \in \mathbb{Z}_3$ and Λ_i , $i \in I$, B_j , $j \in J$ are atom sets of α , β then clearly $T^k \Lambda_i$, $i \in I$, $T^k B_j$, $j \in J$ are atom sets of $T^k \alpha$, $T^k \beta$ and $T^k \alpha$, $T^k \beta \in \mathbb{Z}_3$ for $k \in \Gamma$. Thus since μ is measure preserving

$$H(T^{k} \alpha) = - \sum_{i \in I} p(T^{k}A_{i}) \log p(T^{k}A_{i})$$

$$= - \sum_{i \in I} p(A_{i}) \log p(A_{i})$$

$$= H(\alpha)$$

$$H(T^{k} \wedge T^{k}\beta) = - \sum_{i \in I} \sum_{j \in J} p(T^{k}A_{i} \wedge T^{k}B_{j}) \log p(T^{k}A_{i} | T^{k}B_{j})$$

$$= - \sum_{i \in I} \sum_{j \in J} p(A_{i} \wedge B_{j}) \log p(A_{i} | B_{j})$$

$$= H(\alpha | \beta)$$

for ker

and

Lemma 3.11 If α , β are σ -algebras then $H(T^k \alpha) = H(\alpha)$ and $H(T^k \alpha | T^k \beta) = H(\alpha | \beta)$ for $k \in \Gamma$

Proof
$$H(T^{k}\alpha) = \sup_{\alpha^{l} \notin S} H(\alpha^{l})$$
 for $k \notin f$
and since $S(T^{k}\alpha) = T^{k} S(\alpha)$ we have
 $H(T^{k}\alpha) = \sup_{T^{k}\alpha^{l} \notin S(\alpha)} H(\alpha^{l})$
 $= \sup_{\alpha^{l} \notin S(\alpha)} H(\alpha^{l})$
 $= \sup_{\alpha^{l} \notin S(\alpha)} H(\alpha^{l})$
 $= H(\alpha)$
while $H(T^{k}\alpha \mid T^{k}\beta) = \sup_{\alpha^{l} \notin S} \inf_{\beta^{l} \notin S} H(\alpha^{l}\beta^{l})$
 $= \sup_{T^{k}\alpha^{l} \notin S(\alpha)} \inf_{\beta^{l} \notin S(T^{k}\beta)} H(\alpha^{l}\beta^{l})$
 $= \sup_{T^{k}\alpha^{l} \notin S(\alpha)} \inf_{T^{k} \notin I^{l} \notin S(\beta)} H(\alpha^{l}\beta^{l})$
 $= \sup_{\alpha^{l} \notin S(\alpha)} \inf_{\beta^{l} \notin S(\beta)} H(\alpha^{l}\beta^{l})$
 $= \sup_{\alpha^{l} \notin S(\alpha)} \inf_{\beta^{l} \notin S(\beta)} H(T^{k}\alpha^{l}\beta^{l})$
 $= \sup_{\alpha^{l} \notin S(\alpha)} \inf_{\beta^{l} \notin S(\beta)} H(\alpha^{l}\beta^{l})$
 $= \sup_{\alpha^{l} \notin S(\alpha)} \inf_{\beta^{l} \notin S(\beta)} H(\alpha^{l}\beta^{l})$
 $= \sup_{\alpha^{l} \notin S(\alpha)} \inf_{\beta^{l} \notin S(\beta)} H(\alpha^{l}\beta^{l})$

43

Lemma 3.12 If α is a σ -algebra, n, m $\in \Gamma^+$ then H(α^{nm}) $\leq mH(\alpha^n)$

Proof
$$H(\alpha^{nm}) = H(\bigvee_{\substack{i=0\\j=0}}^{nm-1} T^{i} \land)$$

 $= H(\bigvee_{\substack{j=0\\j=0}}^{m-1} T^{jn} \land^{n})$
 $\leq \sum_{\substack{j=0\\j=0}}^{m-1} H(T^{jn} \land^{n})$
 $= \sum_{\substack{j=0\\j=0}}^{m-1} H(\alpha^{n})$

For any σ -algebra α and $n \in \Gamma^+$ we have $T^{-n} \propto n \leq T^{-(n+1)} \propto n+1$ and so by lemma 2.22, 16 we have $0 \leq H(\alpha | T^{-(n+1)} \propto n+1) \leq H(\alpha | T^{-n} \propto n) \leq H(\alpha)$. Thus $H(\alpha | T^{-n} \propto n)$, $n \in \Gamma^+$ is a monotonic sequence and hence if we put

$$h_1(\alpha,T) = \lim_{n \to \infty} H(\alpha | T^{-n} \alpha^n)$$

then $h_1(\alpha,T)$ is well defined. Clearly $h_1(\alpha,T) \leq H(\alpha)$ and so $\alpha \in Z$ implies $h_1(\alpha,T) < \infty$. Further by lemma 2.33 we have that

$$h_{1}(\alpha,T) = H(\alpha | \alpha^{-1})$$
Again $H(\alpha^{n} | \alpha^{-1}) = H(\alpha^{n-1} | \alpha^{-1}) + H(T^{n-1} | \alpha^{n-1} | \alpha^{-1})$

$$= H(\alpha | \alpha^{-1}) + \frac{n-1}{1-1} H(T^{1} | \alpha^{-1} | \alpha^{-1})$$

$$= H(\alpha | \alpha^{-1}) + \frac{n-1}{1-1} H(\alpha | T^{-1} | \alpha^{-1} | \alpha^{-1})$$

$$= H(\alpha | \alpha^{-1}) + \frac{n-1}{1-1} H(\alpha | \alpha^{-1})$$

$$= n H(\alpha | \alpha^{-1})$$
giving $h_{1}(\alpha,T) = \frac{1}{2} H(\alpha^{-1} | \alpha^{-1}), n \in f^{n+1}$

Lemma 3.13 If $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}$ then $h_1(\alpha, T) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \lim_{n \to \infty} H(\alpha^n)$

Proof
$$H(\alpha^{n}) = H(\alpha^{n-1}) + H(T^{n-1} \wedge | \wedge^{n-1})$$

= $H(\alpha) + \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} H(T^{i} \wedge | \wedge^{i})$
= $H(\alpha) + \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} H(\alpha | T^{-i} \wedge^{i})$

Thus if $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}$ then the $H(\alpha | T^{-i} \alpha^{i})$ are bounded, and since we know that $\lim_{n \to \infty} H(\alpha | T^{-n} \alpha^{n})$ exists it follows that $\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} H(\alpha^{n})$ exists and equals $\lim_{n \to \infty} H(\alpha | T^{-n} \alpha^{n})$ i.e. $h_1(\alpha, T) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} H(\alpha^{n})$

If $\alpha \notin Z$ then $H(\alpha^n) \ge H(\alpha) = \infty$ and so lim <u>1</u> $H(\alpha^n) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \infty = \infty$ $n \to \infty$

Thus if we set

$$h(\alpha, T) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} H(\alpha^n)$$

then $h(\alpha, T)$ is well defined for all σ -algebras α . We call $h(\alpha, T)$ the entropy of α with respect to T, or of T with respect to α , or simply the entropy of α and T. If $\alpha \in Z$ then

 $h(\alpha,T) = h_1(\alpha,T)$ but this is not true in general. To see this we consider a σ -algebra α such that $H(\alpha) = \infty$, $T \propto \xi \propto$ then $\alpha \in T^{-n} \propto^n$, $n \in \Gamma^+$ and so by lemma 2.22, 17, $H(\alpha \mid T^{-n} \propto^n) = 0$ giving

$$h_{1}(\alpha, T) = \lim_{n \to \infty} H(\alpha | T^{-n} \alpha^{n})$$
$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} 0$$
$$= 0$$

while $h(\alpha,T) = \infty$ as stated earlier. Lastly since $T^{-(n+1)}\alpha^{n} = \alpha_{T-1}^{n}$ we have that

$$H(\alpha^{n}) = H(T^{-(n+1)}\alpha^{n}) = H(\alpha^{n}_{T-1})$$

giving that $h(\alpha,T) = h(\alpha,T^{-1})$

Lemma 3.14 If $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}$ and T is the identity then $h(\alpha, T) = 0$ Proof Since T is the identity $\alpha^n = \alpha, n \in \Gamma^+$ and so $h(\alpha, T) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} H(\alpha^n)$

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} H(\alpha)$$
$$= 0$$

Lemma 3.15 If α , $\beta \in \mathbb{Z}$ then

$$h(\alpha,T) = h(\beta,T) \leqslant H(\alpha|\beta) + H(\beta|\alpha) = \rho(\alpha,\beta)$$

Proof If $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{Z}$ then $\alpha^{n}, \beta^{n}, \alpha^{n}, \beta^{n} \in \mathbb{Z}$ for $n \in \mathbb{P}^{+}$ and so $|H(\alpha^{n}) = H(\beta^{n})| \leq |H(\alpha^{n}) - H(\alpha^{n}\beta^{n})| + |H(\alpha^{n}\beta^{n}) - H(\beta^{n})|$ $= H(\alpha^{n}|\beta^{n}) + H(\beta^{n}|\alpha^{n})$ $\leq \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \{H(T^{i}\alpha|\beta^{n}) + H(T^{i}\beta|\alpha^{n})\} by 2.22$ $\leq \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \{H(T^{i}\alpha|\beta^{n}) + H(T^{i}\beta|T^{i}\alpha)\} by 2.22$ $= n \{H(\alpha|\beta) + H(\beta|\alpha)\}$

Giving that

$$|h(\alpha,T) - h(\beta,T)| = \lim_{\substack{n \to \infty \\ n \to \infty}} \frac{1}{n} |H(\alpha^{n}) - H(\beta^{n})|$$

$$\leq \lim_{\substack{n \to \infty \\ n \to \infty}} \{H(\alpha|\beta) + H(\beta|\alpha)\}$$

$$= H(\alpha|\beta) + H(\beta|\alpha)$$

$$= \rho(\alpha,\beta)$$

Lemma 3.16 If α , β are σ -algebras and $\alpha \leq \beta$ then $h(\alpha,T) \leq h(\beta,T)$

Proof $\alpha \leq \beta$ implies $\alpha^n \leq \beta^n$, $n \in f^+$ and so $h(\alpha, T) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} H(\alpha^n)$ $\leq \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} H(\beta^n)$ $= h(\beta, T)$

Lemma 3.17 If α , β are σ -algebras, $\alpha \leq \beta_T$ then h(α ,T) \leq h(β ,T)

Proof

$$H(\varkappa^{n}) \leq H(\varkappa^{n} \xrightarrow{m+n-1} T^{i}\beta)$$

$$= H(\underset{i=}{\overset{m+n-1}{j}} T^{i}\beta) + H(\varkappa^{n} \underset{i=}{\overset{m+n-1}{j}} T^{i}\beta)$$

$$H(\varkappa^{n} \underset{i=-m}{\overset{m+n-1}{j}} T^{i}\beta) \leq \underset{j=0}{\overset{n-1}{j}} H(T^{j} \underset{i=-m}{\overset{m+n-1}{j}} T^{i}\beta)$$

$$= \underset{j=0}{\overset{n-1}{j}} H(\varkappa \underset{i=-m-j}{\overset{m+n-1-j}{j}} T^{i}\beta)$$

Now for $0 \leq j \leq n-1$

$$\bigvee_{i=-m}^{m} \operatorname{T}^{i}_{\beta} \leqslant \bigvee_{i=-m-j}^{m+n-l-j} \operatorname{T}^{i}_{\beta}$$

and therefore

$$H(\alpha^{n}) \leq H(\bigvee_{i=-m}^{m+n-1} T^{i}\beta) + \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} H(\alpha|_{i=-m-j}^{m+n-1-j} T^{i}\beta)$$

$$\leq H(\bigvee_{i=-m}^{m+n-1} T^{i}\beta) + \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} H(\alpha|\bigvee_{i=-m}^{m} T^{i}\beta)$$

$$= H(\beta^{2m+n}) + nH(\alpha|\bigvee_{i=-m}^{m} T^{i}\beta)$$

Given d > 0 there exists an m such that $H(\alpha/i \bigvee_{m}^{m} T^{i}\beta) < d$ and for this m

$$\frac{1}{n} H(\alpha^n) < \left(\frac{2m+n}{n}\right) \frac{1}{2m+n} H(\beta^{2m+n}) + d$$

giving

$$h(\alpha, T) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} H(\alpha^{n}) \leq \lim_{n \to \infty} \left\{ \left(\frac{2m+n}{n} \right) \frac{1}{2m+n} H(\beta^{2m+n}) + d \right\}$$
$$= h(\beta, T) + d$$

But d was arbitrary and so

$$h(\alpha,T) \leq h(\beta,T)$$

3.2 MORE PROPERTIES OF ENTROPY

Lemma 3.21 If $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{Z}_3$ and either $\beta \leq \alpha, \mathbb{H}(\alpha | \beta^-) < \infty$ or $\alpha \leq \beta, \mathbb{H}(\beta | \alpha^-) < \infty$ then

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} H(\alpha^n | \beta^-) = H(\alpha | \alpha^-)$$

Proof If
$$\beta \leq \alpha$$
, $H(\alpha | \beta -) < \infty$ then we have
 $H(\alpha^{n} | \beta -) = H(\alpha^{n-1} | \beta -) + H(T^{n-1} \alpha | \alpha^{n-1} \beta -)$
 $= H(\alpha | \beta -) + \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} H(T^{i} \alpha | \alpha^{i} \beta -)$
 $= H(\alpha | \beta -) + \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} H(\alpha^{i} | T^{-i} (\alpha^{i} \beta -))$

But
$$H(\alpha|\beta^{-}) < \infty$$
 and
 $T^{-i}(\alpha^{i}\beta^{-}) = \bigcup_{j=1}^{i} T^{-j} \alpha \bigvee_{k=i+1}^{\infty} T^{-k}\beta^{-k}$
 $\rightarrow \alpha - as \quad i \rightarrow \infty$

Thus
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} H(\alpha^n \beta^-)$$
 exists and
 $\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} H(\alpha^n \beta^-) = \lim_{n \to \infty} H(\alpha T^{-n}(\alpha^n \beta^-))$
 $= H(\alpha \alpha^-)$

If
$$\alpha \leq \beta$$
, $H(\beta | \alpha^{-}) < \infty$ then we have

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} H(\alpha^{n} \beta^{n} | \beta^{-}) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} H(\beta^{n} | \beta^{-}) \text{ since } \alpha \leq \beta$$

$$= H(\beta | \beta^{-})$$

by the first part of the lemma since $\beta < \beta$ and $H(\beta|\beta-) \leq H(\beta|\alpha-) < \infty$ Thus since $\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} H(\alpha^n \beta^n | \beta^-) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \left\{ H(\alpha^n | \beta^-) + H(\beta^n | \alpha^n \beta^-) \right\}$ we have that the limits on the right hand side are finite and so $\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} H(\alpha^n | \beta^-) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} H(\alpha^n \beta^n | \beta^-) - \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} H(\beta^n | \alpha^n \beta^-)$ $\geq H(\rho | \beta -) - \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} H(\rho^n | \alpha^n \alpha^-)$ since $\alpha \leq \beta$. Now $\lim_{n\to\infty} \frac{1}{n} H(\beta^n | \alpha^n \alpha) = \lim_{n\to\infty} \frac{1}{n} H(\alpha^n \beta^n | \alpha) - \lim_{n\to\infty} \frac{1}{n} H(\alpha^n | \alpha) \alpha$ since $\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} H(\alpha^n \beta^n (\alpha^-) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} H(\beta^n (\alpha^-))$ = H(BB-)<00 and so $\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} H(\alpha^n | \beta^-) \ge H(\beta | \beta^-) - H(\beta | \beta^-) + \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} (\alpha^n | \alpha^-)$ $= H(\alpha | \alpha^{-})$ since $H(\alpha | \alpha) \leq H(\beta | \alpha) < \infty$ If \propto, β, δ are σ -algebras such that $\propto \leq \beta$, Lemma 3.22 $H(\beta \forall [\beta]) < \infty$ then $\lim_{n \to \infty} H(\alpha | \beta^{-T}) = H(\alpha | \beta)$ $H(\beta^{n} | \beta^{-} \delta^{-}) = H(\beta^{n-1} | \beta^{-} \delta^{-}) + H(T^{n-1}\beta | \beta^{n-1}\beta^{-} \delta^{-})$ Proof $= H(\beta | \beta^{-} \gamma^{-}) + \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} H(T^{i} \beta | \beta^{i} \beta^{-} \gamma^{-})$ = $H(\beta | \beta^{-} \gamma^{-}) + \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} H(\beta^{i} \beta^{-} T^{-i} \gamma^{-})$ Now $\beta^{-T^{-(i+1)}} \gamma^{-} \leq \beta^{-T^{-i}} \gamma^{-}$ and so $\lim_{n\to\infty} H(\beta | \beta^{-T^{-i}} \gamma^{-})$ exists and by the above we have $\lim_{n \to \infty} H(\beta | \beta^{-}T^{-n} \forall^{-}) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} H(\beta^{-} | \beta^{-} \forall^{-})$ since $H(\beta|\beta^{-}\gamma^{-}) \leq H(\beta|\beta^{-}) \leq H(\beta^{-}|\beta^{-}) < \infty$

Further
$$H(\beta \mid \propto \beta^{-}T^{-n}\gamma^{-}) \leq H(\beta \mid \beta^{-})$$

 $\leq H(\beta \gamma \mid \beta^{-})$
 $< \infty$

and so

$$H(\alpha | \beta^{-}T^{-n} \delta^{-}) = H(\alpha | \beta^{-}T^{-n} \delta^{-}) - H(\beta | \alpha | \beta^{-}T^{-n} \delta^{-})$$

$$= H(\beta | \beta^{-}T^{-n} \delta^{-}) - H(\beta | \alpha | \beta^{-}T^{-n} \delta^{-})$$
But lim $H(\beta | \beta^{-}T^{-n} \delta^{-}) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} H(\beta^{n} | \beta^{-} \delta^{-})$

$$= H(\beta | \beta^{-})$$
bylemma 3.21 since $\beta \leq \beta \delta$, $H(\beta \delta | \beta^{-}) < \infty$ and
$$H(\beta | \alpha | \beta^{-}T^{-n} \delta^{-}) \leq H(\beta | \alpha | \beta^{-})$$
giving that
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} H(\alpha | \beta^{-}T^{-n} \delta^{-}) \geq H(\beta | \beta^{-}) - H(\beta | \alpha | \beta^{-})$$

$$= H(\alpha | \beta^{-}) - H(\beta | \alpha | \beta^{-})$$

$$= H(\alpha | \beta^{-}) - H(\beta | \alpha | \beta^{-})$$

since $H(\beta | \alpha \beta^{-}) \leq H(\beta | \beta^{-}) \leq H(\beta \delta | \beta^{-}) < \infty$ Now $H(\alpha | \beta^{-n} \delta^{-}) \leq H(\alpha | \beta^{-})$ giving $\lim_{n \to \infty} H(\alpha | \beta^{-n} \delta^{-}) \leq H(\alpha | \beta^{-})$ Hence we conclude that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} H(\alpha I \beta^{-} T^{-n} \gamma^{-}) = H(\alpha I \beta^{-})$$

Lemma 3.23 If α , β are σ -algebras such that $H(\alpha/\beta/\beta^{-}) < \infty$ then

$$H(\alpha\beta \mid \alpha^{-}\beta^{-}) = H(\alpha \mid \alpha^{-}\beta_{T}) + H(\beta \mid \beta^{-})$$

Proof

$$H(\alpha^{n} | \alpha^{-} \beta^{-} \beta^{n}) = H(\alpha^{n-1} | \alpha^{-} \beta^{-} \beta^{n}) + H(T^{n-1} | \alpha^{-1} | \alpha^{-n-1} | \alpha^{-} \beta^{-} \beta^{n})$$

$$= H(\alpha | \alpha^{-} \beta^{-} \beta^{n}) + \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} H(T^{i} | \alpha^{i} | \alpha^{-} \beta^{-} \beta^{n})$$

$$= H(\alpha | \alpha^{-} \beta^{-} \beta^{n}) + \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} H(\alpha | T^{-i} | \alpha^{i} | \alpha^{-} \beta^{-} \beta^{n})$$

$$= H(\alpha | \alpha^{-} \beta^{-} \beta^{n}) + \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} H(\alpha | \alpha^{-} \beta^{-} \beta^{n-i})$$

But

$$H(\alpha \mid \alpha \neg \beta \neg \beta^{n}) \leq H(\alpha \mid \beta \neg)$$
$$\leq H(\alpha \beta \mid \beta \neg)$$

while $H(\alpha | \alpha \beta \beta^n) \leq H(\alpha | \alpha \beta \beta^{n-1})$ and so

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} H(\alpha | \alpha^{-} \beta^{-} \beta^{n}) = H(\alpha | \alpha^{-} \beta_{T})$$

giving that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} H(\alpha^n) \propto \beta^- \beta^n) = \lim_{n \to \infty} H(\alpha) \propto \beta^- \beta^n)$$
$$= H(\alpha \mid \alpha^- \beta_T)$$

Now $H(\alpha^{n}\beta^{n})\alpha^{-}\beta^{-}) = H(\alpha^{n})\alpha^{-}\beta^{-}\beta^{n}) + H(\beta^{n})\alpha^{-}\beta^{-})$ and since $\alpha\beta \leq \alpha\beta$, $H(\alpha\beta^{-}\alpha^{-}\beta^{-}) \leq H(\alpha\beta^{-}\beta^{-}) < \infty$ we have by lemma 3.21 that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} H(\alpha \beta^n | \alpha^{-\beta^{-}}) = H(\alpha \beta | \alpha^{-\beta^{-}})$$

and again since $\beta \leq \langle \beta \rangle$, $H(\langle \beta \rangle \beta^{-}) < \infty$ the same lemma gives

 $\lim_{n\to\infty} H(\beta^n | \alpha^- \beta^-) = H(\beta | \beta^-)$

Thus we conclude that

$$H(\alpha\beta \mid \alpha^{-}\beta^{-}) = H(\alpha \mid \alpha^{-}\beta_{T}) + H(\beta \mid \beta^{-})$$

Corollary 1 If \ll, β are σ -algebras such that $H(\ll \beta | \beta^{-}) < \infty$ then

$$h_1(\alpha\beta,T) = H(\alpha|\alpha^{\beta}T) + h_1(\beta,T)$$

Corollary 2 If \ll , β Z then

$$h(\alpha\beta,T) = H(\alpha/\alpha\beta_T) + h(\beta,T)$$

Proof If α , $\beta \in \mathbb{Z}$ then $\alpha \beta \in \mathbb{Z}$ and so $H(\alpha \beta | \beta^{-}) \leq H(\alpha \beta) < \infty$ The result then follows from corollary 1 and section 3.1

Lemma 3.23 is usually referred to as Pinsker's lemma, see [13]

although the proof given here is based on that given by V.A.Rokhlin and Ja.G.Sinai in [17] as are the proofs of lemma 3.21 and 3.22.

3.3 THE ENTROPY OF T.

We define the entropy h(T) of T by

 $h(T) = \sup_{\alpha \in Z} h(\alpha, T)$

We have immediately that $0 \le h(T)$ and by section 3.1 that $h(T) = h(T^{-1})$. By lemma 3.14 if T is the identity then $h(\alpha,T) = 0$ for $\alpha \in Z$ and so h(T) = 0.

Lemma 3.31 $h(T) = \sup_{\substack{\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_{1} \\ \alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_{1}}} h(\alpha, T)$ Proof Since $\mathbb{Z}_{1} \in \mathbb{Z}$ we have $\sup_{\substack{\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_{1} \\ \alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_{1}}} h(\alpha, T) \leq h(T)$. If $h(T) < \infty$ then given any real number d > 0 there exists an $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_{3}$ with

$$h(T) \leq h(\varkappa,T) + d/2$$

Further, let A_i , $i \in I$ be an atom set of α , $A_i = \phi$ if $i \in \Gamma^+ - I$ and β n be the σ -algebra generated by $B_j = A_j$, $1 \le j \le n-1$ and $B_n = X - \bigcup_{j=1}^{n-1} B_j$. Thus for $i \in \Gamma^+$, $1 \le j \le n-1$ $A_i \land B_j = \begin{cases} \phi & \text{if } i \neq j \\ A_i & \text{if } i = j \end{cases}$

and for $i \in \Gamma^+$

$$A_{i} \wedge B_{n} = \begin{cases} \phi & \text{if } i < n \\ A_{i} & \text{if } n < i \end{cases}$$

Hence
$$H(\alpha | \beta_n) = -\sum_{i \in \Gamma'} \sum_{j=1}^n \rho(A_i \land B_j) \log \rho(A_i | B_j)$$

$$= -\sum_{i=n}^{\infty} \rho(A_i) \log \rho(A_i | B_n)$$

$$= -\sum_{i=n}^{\infty} \rho(A_i) \log \rho(A_i) + \log \rho(B_n) \sum_{i=n}^{\infty} \rho(A_i)$$

$$\leq -\sum_{i=n}^{\infty} \rho(A_i) \log \rho(A_i)$$

Since $\propto \in Z$ there exists an N such that

$$-\sum_{i=N}^{\infty} r^{(\Lambda_i)} \log r^{(\Lambda_i)} < d/2$$

Hence since $\beta_{\mathbb{N}} \leq \propto$ we have

$$h(\alpha, T) \leq h(\beta_{N}, T) + \rho(\alpha, \beta_{N})$$
$$= h(\beta_{N}, T) + H(\alpha | \beta_{N})$$

giving $h(T) \leq h(\alpha, T) + d/2$

$$\leq h(\beta_{N},T) + d/2 + d/2$$

$$\leq \sup_{\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_{2}} h(\alpha,T)$$

But d was arbitrary and so we deduce that

 $h(T) \leqslant \sup_{\boldsymbol{\alpha} \in \mathbb{Z}_{1}} h(\boldsymbol{\alpha}, T)$ If $h(T) = \infty$ then given any $\Delta > 0$ there exists an $\alpha \in Z$ with $h(\alpha,T) > \Delta$ and if the β_n , $n \in \Gamma^+$ are defined as above then there exists an N such that $h(\beta_n,T) > \Delta$ from which we deduce that $\sup_{\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_{1}} h(\alpha, T) = \infty$. This completes the proof. 3.32 If $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}$, $\alpha_m = \ell$ then $h(T) = h(\alpha, T)$ Lemma For all $\beta \in \mathbb{Z}$ we have $\beta \leq \alpha_{\mathrm{T}}$ and so by $h(\beta, \mathrm{T}) \leq h(\alpha, \mathrm{T})$. Proof Thus

)

$$h(\alpha, T) \leq h(T)$$

$$\leq \sup_{\substack{\beta \in Z \\ \beta \in Z}} h(\beta, T)$$

$$\leq \sup_{\substack{\beta \in Z \\ \beta \in Z}} h(\alpha, T)$$

$$= h(\alpha, T)$$
giving
$$h(T) = h(\alpha, T)$$

If $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}$, $\alpha_m = \mathcal{E}$ then we refer to α as a generator.

Lemma 3.33 If $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}$, $\bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} T^{i} \alpha = \ell$, $m \in \Gamma$ then h(T) = 0

Proof Since $\bigvee_{i=m}^{\infty} T^{i} \ll \ll_{T}$ we have that \ll is a generator and so

$$h(T) = h(\alpha, T)$$

$$= h(\alpha, T^{-1}) \quad \text{by } 3 \cdot 1$$

$$= h_{1}(\alpha, T^{-1}) \quad \text{by } 3 \cdot 1$$

$$= H(\alpha / \alpha_{T}) \quad \text{by } 3 \cdot 1$$
But $\alpha_{T} = \bigvee_{i \in P^{+}} T^{i} \alpha = T^{-m+1} \bigvee_{i \leq m}^{\infty} T^{i} \alpha = T^{-m+1} \mathcal{E} = \mathcal{E}$
and so $\alpha \leq \alpha_{T}$ giving

$$h(T) = H(\alpha | \alpha_{T}) = 0$$

Lemma 3.34 If $\alpha_n \in \mathbb{Z}$, $n \in \Gamma^+$, $\bigvee_{n \in \Gamma^+} \alpha_n = \mathcal{E}$ and $\alpha_n \leq \alpha_{n+1}$ for each n then $h(T) = \lim_{n \to \infty} h(\alpha_n, T)$

Proof If $S = \{\alpha_n, n \in \Gamma^+\}$ then S is an increasingly filtered system and since $\ell = \bigvee_{\ell \in S} \beta$ it follows from lemma 2°32 that given any $\gamma \in Z_1$, if C_i , $1 \le i \le m$ is an atom set of γ and d^1 any real number such that $0 < d^1$ then there exists an n and sets $B_i \in \alpha_n$, $1 \le i \le m + 1$ such that $p(B_i \land C_i) < d^1$, $1 \le i \le n$; $p(B_{n+1}) < d^1$; $p(C_i \land B_j) < d^1$ if $i \ne j$; $p(C_i | B_i) > 1 - d^1$, $1 \le i \le n$ and $\prod_{i=1}^{n+1} B_i = X$. Further

$$r^{(B_{i}|C_{i})} = \frac{p(B_{iA}C_{i})}{p(C_{i})}$$

$$= \frac{p(C_{i}) - p(C_{i} \neq B_{i})}{p(C_{i})}$$

$$\geqslant 1 - \frac{p(C_{i} \wedge B_{i})}{p(C_{i})}$$

$$\geqslant 1 - \frac{d_{1}}{p(C_{i})}$$

$$\geqslant 1 - d^{1}$$

(1)

where the d_1 is the d_1 occurring in lemma 2.33.

Hence given any

d such that 0 < d if we choose d^{1} as in lemma 2.33 then we have $H(\cancel{a} | \cancel{a}_{n}^{1}) < d$ where \cancel{a}_{n}^{1} is the σ -algebra generated by B_{i} , $1 \le i \le n+1$. By using the same method as that used in lemma 2.33 we show that (1) implies $H(\cancel{a}_{n}^{1} | \cancel{a}) < d$. We then have

$$h(\mathbf{T}) = \sup_{\boldsymbol{\delta} \in \mathbf{Z}_{1}} h(\boldsymbol{\delta}, \mathbf{T}) \text{ by lemma } 3 \cdot 31$$
$$\leq \sup_{n \in \mathbf{T}_{+}} h(\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{n}, \mathbf{T}) + 2d$$

by the above and lemma 3.15. But d was arbitrary and $\ll_n \leqslant \ll_{n+1}$ for all n and so using lemma 3.16 we get

$$h(T) \leq \lim_{n \to \infty} h(\alpha_n, T)$$

but trivially

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} h(\alpha_n, T) \leq h(T)$$

and so we conclude that

$$h(T) = \lim_{n \to \infty} h(\alpha_n, T)$$

Lemma 3.35 If $k \in \Gamma^+$ then $h(T^k) = kh(T)$

Proof For any

Hence

$$h(\alpha, T^{k}) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} H(\alpha_{T^{k}}^{n})$$

$$\leq \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} H(\alpha_{T}^{nk})$$

$$\leq \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{k}{n} H(\alpha^{n}) \text{ by lemma } 3^{\circ}12$$

$$- k h(T)$$

$$h(T^{k}) = \sup_{\alpha \in Z} h(\alpha, T^{k})$$

$$\leq \sup_{\alpha \in Z} k h(T)$$

$$= k h(T)$$

If h(T) = 0 then $h(T^k) = 0$. If h(T) > 0 let d be any number satisfying $0 \le d \le h(T)$. Then there exists an $\ll \epsilon Z$ with

 $d < h(\propto, T) \leq h(T)$.

Put $\beta = \alpha^k$ then

 $\frac{1}{n} \quad H(\beta_{T^{k}}^{n}) = \frac{1}{n} \quad H(\alpha_{T}^{nk})$ $= \frac{k}{nK} \quad H(\alpha^{nk})$ $= \frac{k}{nK} \quad H(\alpha^{nk})$ $= \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \quad H(\beta_{T^{k}}^{n})$ $= \lim_{n \to \infty} k \cdot \frac{1}{nK} \quad H(\alpha^{nk})$ $= k \quad h(\alpha, T)$ Thus $h(T^{k})$ $= \sup_{\delta \in \mathbb{Z}} h(\delta, T^{k})$ $\geq h(\beta, T^{k})$ $= k \quad h(\alpha, T)$ $> k \quad d$

But d was any number satisfying $0 \le d \le h(T)$ and so $h(T^k) \ge k h(T)$. The result then follows from our two inequalities.

Corollary If $k \in I$ then $h(T^k) = |k| h(T)$

Proof If $-k \in \Gamma^+$ then $h(T^{-k}) = -k h(T)$ by the lemma. Thus we have $h(T^k) = |k| h(T)$ if $k \in \Gamma$, $k \neq 0$. If k = 0 then $T^k =$ the identity and hence $h(T^k) = 0 = |k|h(T)$, in this case also.

3.4 EXISTENCE AND PROPERTIES OF CERTAIN OF ALGEBRAS

We say that a σ -algebra is invariant with respect to T if $\propto \leq T \propto$ and that it is exhaustive with respect to T if $\propto_T = \ell$. If a σ - algebra is invariant and exhaustive, we say that it is a K_1 -algebra with respect to T, while if \propto is a K_1 -algebra such that $\approx_{\infty} = \nu$ we say that \propto is a K-algebra with respect to T. Further if given T there exists a K-algebra, then we say that T is a Kolmogorov automorphism. If \propto is a K-algebra then $\bigwedge_{i \in \Gamma} T^i \propto = \propto_{\infty}$ and so we have that T is a Kolmogorov automorphism if, and only if, there exists a σ -algebra \ll such that $\ll \leq T \ll$, $\bigvee_{i \in \Gamma} T^{i} \ll = \epsilon$, $\bigwedge_{i \in \Gamma} T^{i} \ll = \nu$.

Since \mathcal{E} is a K₁-algebra for all T, there always exist K₁-algebras, but as we shall see later there do not always exist K-algebras. However, if we put

$$S^* = \{ \alpha : h(\alpha, T) = 0 \}$$
$$\Pi(T) = \bigvee_{\alpha \in S^*}$$

then the following theorems due to V.A.Rokhlin and Ja.G.Sinai (see [17]) show that a necessary and sufficient condition for the existence of a K-algebra is $\Pi(T) = \vee$. Note that $\propto \notin Z$ implies $h(\alpha,T) = H(\alpha) = \infty$ and hence $\alpha \notin S^*$. Thus, since (Z,ρ) is complete we have that $\alpha \leq \Pi(T)$ implies $\alpha \in Z$, and so by the corollary of lemma 3.34 that $\alpha \in S^*$ i.e. $\Pi(T) = \bigcup_{\alpha \in S^*} \alpha$.

Theorem 3.41. (1) If \ll is a K₁-algebra then $\Pi(T) \leq \propto$ (2) If \ll is invariant and $H(T_{\ll}|_{\ll}) = h(T) < \infty$ then $\ll_{\infty} \leq \Pi(T)$

Proof (1) If $\beta \leq \Pi(T)$ then $\beta \in Z$ and if $\delta \in Z$ is such that $\delta \leq T^m \ll$ for some m then for all $p \in f^+$

 $H(\mathcal{J}|\mathcal{J}_{T}^{T}P \ll_{\infty} \beta_{T}) \leq H(\mathcal{J}|\ll_{\infty} \beta_{T}) \leq H(\mathcal{J}|\ll_{\omega})$ (1) But $T \ll_{\infty} = \alpha_{\infty}$ and $\beta \leq \Pi(T)$, thus by section 3.1

 $h(\beta|\beta^{-}) = h(\beta,T) = 0$ giving $\beta \leq \beta^{-}$ and hence $T \beta \leq \beta\beta^{-} = \beta^{-}$. Therefore by induction we show that $T^{k}\beta \leq \beta^{-}$, $k \in \Gamma$ i.e. $\beta_{T} = \beta^{-} = T^{pk}\gamma^{-}$, $k \in \Gamma$ Now $H(\gamma|(\gamma \ll \infty)_{T}^{-p} T^{-pi}(\bigvee_{k=1}^{p} T^{-k}\beta)_{T}^{-p})$ $= H(\gamma|\gamma_{T}^{-p} \ll T^{-pi} \bigvee_{k=1}^{p} T^{-pj} \bigvee_{k=1}^{p} T^{-k}\beta)$

$$= H(\mathcal{X} | \mathcal{X}_{TP}^{-} \propto_{\infty} / \mathcal{X}_{T})$$
Thus $H(\mathcal{X} | \mathcal{X}_{TP}^{-} \propto_{\infty} / \mathcal{X}_{T}) = \lim_{i \to \infty} H(\mathcal{X} | \mathcal{X}_{TP}^{-} \propto_{\infty} / \mathcal{X}_{T})$

$$= \lim_{i \to \infty} H(\mathcal{X} | (\mathcal{X} \sim_{\infty})_{TP}^{-} T^{-Pi} (\bigvee_{k=1}^{P} T^{-k} \mathcal{X}_{T})_{TP}^{-})$$

$$= H(\mathcal{X} | (\mathcal{X} \sim_{\infty})_{TP}^{-}) \text{ by } 2 \cdot 22$$

$$= H(\mathcal{X} | (\mathcal{X}_{TP}^{-} \sim_{\infty})) \qquad (2)$$

While since

$$\begin{split} \mathscr{Y}_{T}^{-} &= \bigvee_{i \in \Gamma^{+}} T^{-Pi} \mathscr{Y} \leqslant \bigvee_{i \in \Gamma^{+}} T^{-Pi+m} \ll = T^{-P+m} \varkappa \\ \text{we have that } \lim_{p \to \infty} \mathscr{Y}_{T}^{-} \varkappa_{\infty} = \varkappa_{\infty} \text{ and so} \\ \text{by 2.33} \qquad \lim_{p \to \infty} H(\mathscr{Y}) \mathscr{Y}_{T}^{-} \varkappa_{\infty}) = H(\mathscr{Y}) \varkappa_{\infty}) \end{split}$$
(3) Thus from (1), (2), (3) we get

$$H(\mathcal{J}|\alpha_{\infty}) \leq H(\mathcal{J}|\alpha_{\infty}/\beta_{\mathrm{T}})$$

but $\alpha_{\infty} \leq \alpha_{\infty} \beta_{T}$ and so

$$H(\mathcal{J}|_{\infty}\beta_{\mathrm{T}}) \leq H(\mathcal{J}|_{\infty})$$

giving $H(\mathcal{J}|_{\infty}\beta_{\mathrm{T}}) = H(\mathcal{J}|_{\infty})$

If $\delta \in \mathbb{Z}$ and d is any real number such that $d \ge 0$ then there exists a $\forall \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that $\rho(\delta, \forall) < d/2$ and $\forall \in \mathbb{T}^m \not\prec$ for some m Thus

$$\begin{aligned} |H(\delta | \alpha_{\infty} \beta_{T}) - H(\delta | \alpha_{\infty})| \\ \leq |H(\delta | \alpha_{\infty} \beta_{T}) - H(\delta | \alpha_{\infty} \beta_{T})| \\ + |H(\delta | \alpha_{\infty} \beta_{T}) - H(\delta | \alpha_{\infty} \beta_{T})| \\ + |H(\delta | \alpha_{\infty} \beta_{T}) - H(\delta | \alpha_{\infty})| \\ + |H(\delta | \alpha_{\infty}) - H(\delta | \alpha_{\infty})| \\ + |H(\delta | \alpha_{\infty}) - H(\delta | \alpha_{\infty})| \\ \leq H(\delta | \delta_{\alpha} \beta_{T}) + H(\delta | \delta \alpha_{\alpha} \beta_{T}) + 0 \\ + H(\delta | \delta \alpha_{\infty}) + H(\delta | \delta \alpha_{\infty}) \\ \leq 2\rho(\delta, \delta) \quad \text{by lemma 2.22} \end{aligned}$$

But d was arbitrary and so

 $H(\delta | \alpha_{\infty} \beta_{m}) = H(\delta | \alpha_{\infty})$

for all $\delta \epsilon Z$ in particular for $\delta = \beta$ giving

$$H(\beta \mid \alpha_{\infty}) = H(\beta \mid \alpha_{\infty} \beta_{\mathrm{T}}) = 0$$

Hence $\beta \leqslant \varkappa_{\infty}$, and therefore $\Pi(T) \leqslant \varkappa_{\infty}$

Proof (2) Let $\beta \in Z$ be such that $\beta \in \alpha_{\infty}$ and \mathcal{V}_{p} , $p \in \Gamma^{+}$ any sequence in (Z,p) such that $\lim_{p \to \infty} \mathcal{V}_{p} = \alpha$. Then by lemma 2.22

$$H(\mathscr{V}_{p}|\mathscr{V}_{p}^{-}/\mathscr{Y}_{T}) + H(\mathscr{Y}_{p}/\mathscr{I}^{-}) = H(\mathscr{V}_{p}/\mathscr{I}|\mathscr{V}_{p}/\mathscr{I}^{-})$$
$$= H(\mathscr{I}/\mathscr{I}^{-}(\mathscr{V}_{p})_{T}) + H(\mathscr{V}_{p}|\mathscr{V}_{p}^{-})$$
giving $h(\mathscr{I},T) = H(\mathscr{I}/\mathscr{I}^{-})$

$$= H(\beta | \beta^{-}(\mathcal{X}_{p})_{T}) + H(\mathcal{Y}_{p} | \mathcal{Y}_{p}) - H(\mathcal{Y}_{p} | \mathcal{Y}_{p} / \beta_{T})$$
Now $\lim_{p \to \infty} H(\beta | \beta^{-}(\mathcal{Y}_{p})_{T}) = H(\beta | \beta^{-} \ll)$ by lemma 2.33

$$= 0 \text{ since } \beta \leq \ll$$
and $\lim_{p \to \infty} H(\mathcal{Y}_{p} | \mathcal{Y}_{p}) = H(\alpha | \alpha^{-})$
while $\lim_{p \to \infty} H(\mathcal{Y}_{p}) \mathcal{Y}_{p} / \beta_{T}) = H(\alpha | \alpha^{-} \beta_{T})$

$$= H(\alpha | \alpha^{-}) \text{ because } \beta_{T} \leq \alpha^{-}$$

Thus $h(\beta, T) = \lim_{P \to \infty} h(\beta, T)$

$$= O + H(\alpha ! \alpha) - H(\alpha ! \alpha)$$

= Ö

giving $\beta \leq \Pi(T)$ and so completing the proof.

Corollary If $h(T) < \infty$ and \propto is a K_1 -algebra such that H(T < i <) = h(T) then $\propto_{\infty} = \Pi(T)$

Theorem 3.42 There exists a K_1 -algebra \propto such that $\alpha_{\infty} = \overline{\Pi}(T)$ and $H(T \propto | \propto) = h(T)$

Proof Let β_{i} , $i \in \Gamma^{+}$ be such that $\beta_{i} \leq \beta_{i+1}$ for each i and $\lim_{i \to \infty} \beta_{i} = \epsilon$ and n_{i} , $i \in \Gamma^{+}$ an increasing sequence of positive integers. Put $\delta_{p} = \bigcup_{i=1}^{p} T^{-n_{i}} \beta_{i}$, $\delta_{i} = \bigcup_{i \in r^{+}} T^{-n_{i}} \beta_{i}$ and $\alpha = \delta^{-}$ Then $\alpha = \delta^{-} \leq T \delta^{-} = T \alpha$ showing that α is invariant. Further $\epsilon = \bigvee_{k \in \Gamma} \beta_{k}$ $\leq \bigcup_{i \in \Gamma} T^{i} \bigcup_{j \in \Gamma^{+}} T^{-j} \bigvee_{k \in \Gamma} T^{-n_{k}} \beta_{k}$

and hence α is a K₁-algebra. Consider

= ~ _m

$$F(p,q) = H(\gamma_{q-1}) - H(\gamma_{p}|\gamma_{q-1}), p,q \in \Gamma^{+}$$
$$= H(\gamma_{p}|\gamma_{q-1}) - H(\gamma_{p}|\gamma_{q-1}T^{-nq}\beta_{q})$$

We put $n_1 = 1$ and assume that $n_i, 1 \leq i \leq r-1$ have been chosen such that

$$F(p,q) < \frac{1}{p} \cdot \frac{1}{2q-p} \quad \text{if } p < q < r \tag{4}$$

Then by lemma 3.22 we can find an n such that

 $F(p,r) < \frac{1}{p} \cdot \frac{1}{2^{r-p}} \text{ if } p < r$ Hence we can find n_i , $i \in \Gamma^+$ such that (3) holds for all $r \in \Gamma^+$. If q = p + r then

$$H(\mathcal{X}_{p}|\mathcal{X}_{p}^{-}) - H(\mathcal{X}_{p}|\mathcal{X}_{q}^{-}) = \sum_{i=p+1}^{p+r} F(p,i)$$

$$< \frac{1}{p} \sum_{i=1}^{r} \frac{1}{2}i$$

$$< \frac{1}{p}$$

But $\lim_{r \to \infty} \delta_{p+r}^{-} = \alpha$ and so we get

$H(o_p o_p) = H(o_p \alpha) < \frac{1}{p}, per$				
i.e.	lim p→∞	$H(\mathcal{X}_{p} \mathcal{X}_{p}^{-})$	=	lim H(४)∝) p→∞ p
Now	lim p->00	$H(\mathcal{V}_{p} \mathcal{V}_{p}^{-})$	=	$H(\gamma \gamma^{-})$
	•	-		h(ð,T)

= h(T) because χ is a generator.

while $\lim_{p \to \infty} H(\mathcal{X}_p | \alpha) = H(\mathcal{X} | \alpha)$ But $\mathcal{Y} \in T \alpha$ and so $H(T \alpha | \alpha) = H(\mathcal{X} T \alpha | \alpha)$ $= H(\mathcal{X} | \alpha) + H(T \alpha | \mathcal{X} \alpha)$

= $H(\gamma) \propto \beta$ because $\gamma \propto = T \propto$

Thus

$$H(T_{\alpha} + \alpha) = \lim_{p \to \infty} H(\gamma_{p} + \alpha)$$
$$= \lim_{p \to \infty} H(\gamma_{p} + \gamma_{p})$$
$$= h(T)$$

If $\beta \in \mathbb{Z}$, $\beta \leq \infty$ then $\delta_{p}^{-\beta} = H(\beta \vee p) \beta = H(\beta \vee p) = H(\beta$

giving
$$h(\beta,T) = H(\beta|\beta^{-})$$

 $= H(\beta|\beta^{-}(\gamma_{p})_{T}) + H(\gamma_{p}|\gamma_{p}) - H(\gamma_{p}|\gamma_{p}\beta_{T})$
Now $\lim_{p \to \infty} (\gamma_{p})_{T} = \alpha_{T} = \epsilon$ and so
 $\lim_{p \to \infty} H(\beta|\beta^{-}(\gamma_{p})_{T}) = 0$
and $H(\gamma_{p}|\gamma_{p}\beta_{T}\beta_{T}) \ge H(\gamma_{p}|\alpha)$

giving
$$h(\beta,T) = \lim_{p \to \infty} h(\beta,T)$$

 $\leqslant \lim_{p \to \infty} \left(H(\gamma_p | \gamma_p) - H(\gamma_p | \alpha) \right)$
 $= 0$

and hence $\beta \leq \Pi$ (T). Thus we have $\ll_{\infty} \leq \Pi$ (T) and so by theorem 3.41 $\ll_{\infty} = \Pi$ (T)

4 KOLMOGOROV AND REGULAR AUTOMORPHISMS

4.1 DEFINITIONS

We say that a σ -algebra \propto is : invariant if $\alpha \leq T \alpha$; exhaustive if $\alpha_T = \epsilon$; a K_1 - algebra if $\alpha \leq T \alpha$ and $\alpha_T = \epsilon$; and lastly a K-algebra if $\alpha \leq T \alpha$, $\alpha_T = \epsilon$ and $\alpha_{\infty} = \nu$, or equivalently if $\alpha \leq T \alpha$, $\bigvee_{i \in I} T^i \alpha = \epsilon$ and $\bigwedge_{i \in I} T^i \alpha = \nu$. (see K.Jacobs [8])

If there exists a K-algebra with respect to T we say that T is a Kolmogorov automorphism. (see V.A.Rokhlin [16]).

For any σ -algebra \propto we define the tail σ -algebra (α) of α (see L.Sucheston [21]) by

 $(\alpha) = \bigwedge_{i \in \Gamma} T^{i} \alpha^{-} = \bigwedge_{i \in \Gamma} + T^{-i} \alpha^{-}$ and say that T is regular if $(\alpha) = \nu$ for all $\alpha \in Z_{1}$

Lastly we say that T is a mixing of degree n if given any sets Λ_i , $l \leq i \leq n+1$, $t_i \in \Gamma$, $l \leq i \leq n+1$ then we have

 $\lim_{\Delta \to \infty} \left| \mu \left(\frac{n+1}{\underline{i}} T^{\dagger} \underline{i} \Lambda_{\underline{i}} \right) - \frac{n+1}{\underline{i}} \mu \left(\Lambda_{\underline{i}} \right) \right| = 0$ where $\Delta = \inf_{\substack{i \neq j}} |t_i - t_j|$, see P.R.Halmos [6], and V.A.Rokhlin [16].

4.2 MIXING

If $t_i = t_i(n)$, $n \in \Gamma^+$, $1 \leq i \leq n+1$ are such that $\lim_{n \to \infty} \Delta_n = \infty$ where $\Delta_n = \inf_{i \neq j} |t_i(n) - t_j(n)|$ then there exists a subsequence n_m such that for all m the integers $t_i(n_m)$ are in the same order. Without loss of generality we can assume that $t_i(n_m) > t_{i+1}(n_m)$ for $l \leq i \leq n$. Moreover since $\mu \left(\frac{n+1}{i=1} T^{t_i} \Lambda_i \right) = \mu \left(\frac{n+1}{i=1} T^{t_i-t_i} \right)$ we lose no generality in assuming that $t_i(n_m) = 0$.

Thus we see that T is a mixing of degree n if given any sets A_i , $1 \le i \le n+1$ and any d > 0 there exists an $n_0 > 0$ such that for

all n; > n, l < i < n then we have

 $\left| \begin{array}{c} \mu \begin{pmatrix} n+1 \\ \underline{i} \\ \underline{$

Another view of mixing can be obtained by considering the action of U in L^2_{μ} .

Theorem 4.21 T is a mixing of degree n if and only if, given $f_i, 1 \leq i \leq n+1, t_i \in \Gamma, 1 \leq i \leq n+1$ such that $f_i \in L_p^2$ each i then $(n+1, t_i)$ n+1 (

$$\lim_{\Delta \to \infty} \left[\prod_{i=1}^{n+1} U^{i} \mathbf{f}_{i} d \boldsymbol{p} \cdot = \prod_{i=1}^{n+1} \right]_{\mathbf{X}} \mathbf{f}_{i} d \boldsymbol{p}$$
(1)

where $\Delta = \inf_{\substack{i \neq j}} |t_i - t_j|$

Proof If T is a mixing of degree n then given sets $A_i, l \leq i \leq n+l$

$$\lim_{\Delta \to \infty} \mu \left(\stackrel{n+1}{\underline{i}} T^{t_{i}} A_{\underline{i}} \right) = \stackrel{n+1}{\underline{i}} \mu \left(A_{\underline{i}} \right)$$

$$\text{but} \quad \mu \left(A_{\underline{i}} \right) = \int_{\mathbb{X}} \mathcal{X}_{A_{\underline{i}}} \quad d \mu \text{ and}$$

$$\mu \left(\stackrel{n+1}{\underline{i}} T^{t_{\underline{i}}} A_{\underline{i}} \right) = \int_{\mathbb{X}} \stackrel{n+1}{\underline{i}} \mathcal{X}_{T^{t_{\underline{i}}} A_{\underline{i}}} \quad d \mu$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{X}} \stackrel{n+1}{\underline{i}} U^{-t_{\underline{i}}} \mathcal{X}_{A_{\underline{i}}} \quad d \mu$$

$$(2)$$

Thus if T is a mixing of degree n (1) holds for characteristic functions. It is then obvious that (1) holds for step functions and hence by continuity for arbitrary functions in L_{μ}^2 .

If (1) holds then given sets A_i , $1 \le i \le n+1$ we put $f_i = X_{A_i}$ for each i and get (2) thus showing T is a mixing of degree n.

Corollary 1 T is a mixing of degree n if, and only if, there exists a subset L of L_{μ}^2 such that

(i) $\{g:g = \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_i f_i, a_i \text{ a real number, } f_i \in L \text{ each } i, n \text{ finite }\}$ is everywhere dense in L_{μ}^2 (ii) given $f_i \in L$ $l \leq i \leq n+1$, $t_i \in f$ $l \leq i \leq n+1$ then $\lim_{\Delta \to \infty} \int_{x} \prod_{i=1}^{n+1} U^{t_i} f_i d\mu = \prod_{i=1}^{n+1} \int_{x} f_i d\mu \text{ where } \Delta = \inf_{j \neq j} |t_j - t_j|$ If T is a mixing then we take $L = L_{p}^{2}$. Conversely Proof given a subset L satisfying (i), (ii) we have that (ii) implies $\lim_{\Lambda \to \infty} \left\{ \prod_{i=1}^{n+1} U^{t_i} f_i d\mu = \prod_{i=1}^{n+1} \left\{ f_i d\mu \right\} \right\}$ that holds for all fi belonging to the subset in (i) and hence for arbitrary $f_i \in L_p^2$ since integration is a continuous operation. T is a mixing of degree 1 if and only if there Corollary 2 exists a subset L of L_p^2 such that (i) $f_{g:g} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_i f_i$, a_i a real number, $f_i \in L$ each i, n finite? is everywhere dense in L_p^2 (ii) given f, g & L then $\lim_{t \to \infty} (U^t f, g) = \left(\int_{\mathfrak{m}} f d f \right) \left(\int_{\mathfrak{m}} g d f' \right)$ Since $(U^{t}f,g) = \int_{-}^{-} (U^{t}f) g d\mu$ the result follows from Proof corollary 1. Lemma 4.22 T is a mixing of degree one if and only if $\lim_{\mathbf{t}\to\infty} (\mathbf{U}^{\mathbf{t}}\mathbf{f},\mathbf{f}) = \left\{ \left(\mathbf{f} \, \mathrm{d} \, \boldsymbol{\mu} \right)^2, \, \mathbf{f} \, \boldsymbol{\epsilon} \, \mathrm{L}^2 \quad (1) \right\}$

Proof Given $f \in L^2_{\mu}$, let L_1 be the subspace of L^2_{μ} spanned by the constant functions together with $f, U^t f, t \in \Gamma^+$ and let L_2 be such that $L_1 \oplus L_2 = L^2_{\mu}$. If $g = U^S f$ and (1) holds then $\lim_{t \to \infty} (U^t f, g) = \lim_{t \to \infty} (U^t f, U^S f)$ $= \lim_{t \to \infty} (U^{t-s} f, f)$

$$= \left\{ \left(\int_{\mathbf{X}} f \, d\rho \right)^2 \text{ by (1)} \right.$$
$$= \left(\int_{\mathbf{X}} \int d\rho \right) \left\{ \int_{\mathbf{X}} g \, d\rho \right\}$$
since $\int_{\mathbf{X}} g \, d\rho = \left\{ U^{\mathbf{S}} f \, d\rho = \left\{ f \, d\rho \right\} \right\}$

Hence we get that for all $g \in L_1$ we have $\lim_{X \to \infty} (U^t f,g) = \left\{ \int_X f d\rho \right\} \left\{ \int_X g d\rho \right\}$ Now if $g \in L_2$ then $(U^t f,g) = 0$, $t \in \Gamma^+$ and since L_1 contains the constant functions in particular h(x) = 1, $x \in X$ we have

$$0 = (g,h)$$
$$= \int_{X} gh d p$$
$$= \int_{X} g d p.$$

Thus for arbitrary $g \in L^2$ we can find $g_1 \in L_1$, $g_2 \in L_2$ such that $g = g_1 + g_2$ and so

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} (\mathbf{U}^{t} \mathbf{f}, \mathbf{g}) = \lim_{t \to \infty} (\mathbf{U}^{t} \mathbf{f}, \mathbf{g}_{1} + \mathbf{g}_{2})$$

$$= \lim_{t \to \infty} \{ (\mathbf{U}^{t} \mathbf{f}, \mathbf{g}_{1}) + (\mathbf{U}^{t} \mathbf{f}, \mathbf{g}_{2}) \}$$

$$= \{ \int_{X} \mathbf{f} \, d\mathbf{p} \} \{ \int_{X} \mathbf{g}_{1} \, d\mathbf{p} \}$$

$$= \{ \int_{X} \mathbf{f} \, d\mathbf{p} \} \{ \int_{X} \mathbf{g}_{1} \, d\mathbf{p} + \int_{X} \mathbf{g}_{2} \, d\mathbf{p} \}$$

$$= \{ \int_{X} \mathbf{f} \, d\mathbf{p} \} \{ \int_{X} \mathbf{g}_{1} \, d\mathbf{p} + \int_{X} \mathbf{g}_{2} \, d\mathbf{p} \}$$

The if of the lemma then follows from theorem 4.21, corollary 2 as does the only if. (see K.Jacobs [8].)

4.3 SEQUENCES OF O-ALGEBRAS

The main result in this section is due to J.R.Blum and D.L.Hanson (see [2]). In this section we use the term measure to mean a real valued function p^1 defined on a σ -algebra \prec such

that $p^{1}(\phi) = 0$ and if $A_{i} \epsilon \alpha$, $i \epsilon l^{\prime +}$, $A_{i} A_{j} = \phi$ for $i \neq j$ then $p^{1}(\bigcup_{i \in l^{\prime +}} A_{i}) = \sum_{i \in l^{\prime +}} p^{1}(A_{i})$. However by p we still mean a positive measure with p(X) = 1.

Lemma 4.31 If $\{\alpha_n\}$, $n \in \Gamma^+$ are a sequence of σ -algebras such that $\alpha_{n+1} \leqslant \alpha_n$ for each n, $\alpha^{\infty} = \bigwedge_{n \in \Gamma^+} \alpha_n$ then $\alpha^{\infty} = \mathscr{U}$ if and only if for all $A \in \mathcal{E}$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sup_{B \in \alpha_n} |\rho^{(\Lambda_n B)} - \rho^{(\Lambda)} \rho^{(B)}| = 0$$
 (1)

Proof The limit always exists since $\alpha_{n+1} \leq \alpha_n$, $n \in \Gamma^+$. If (1) holds, let $\Lambda \in \alpha^{\infty}$ then $\Lambda \in \alpha_n$, $n \in \Gamma^+$ and so

 $0 \leq | \mu(A) - \mu(A) \mu(A) | \leq \lim_{n \to \infty} \sup_{B \in \mathcal{A}_n} |\mu(A, B) - \mu(A) \mu(B) | = 0$ i.e. $\mu(A) = 0$ or 1 giving $A \in \mathcal{U}$. But A was any set in \propto^{∞} and so we deduce that $\propto^{\infty} = \mathcal{U}$.

If $\varkappa^{\infty} = \nu$ and (1) is false then there exists an $\Lambda \epsilon \epsilon$ and a d > 0 such that

$$B \sup_{\epsilon \propto n} p(\Lambda_{n} B) - p(\Lambda) p(B) \neq d, n \epsilon \Gamma^{+}$$
(2)
For each n we define a measure p_{n} on (X, α_{n}) by
 $p_{n}(B) = p(\Lambda_{n} B) - p(\Lambda) p(B)$ for $B \epsilon \alpha_{n}$. We have that
 $p_{n}(X-B) = p(\Lambda_{n}(X-B)) - p(\Lambda) p(X-B)$
 $= p(\Lambda_{n}(\Lambda_{n} B)) - p(\Lambda) (1-p(B))$

$$= - \mu(\Lambda_{n}B) + \mu(\Lambda) \mu(B)$$

= - $\mu_{n}(B)$ (3)

Hence $p_n(B) \leq p(A \land B) \leq 1$ and $-p_n(B) = p(X-B) \leq p(A \land (X-B)) \leq 1$ giving $|p_n(B)| \leq 1$, $B \in \alpha_n$, $n \in \Gamma^+$ If $k = \sup_{B \in \alpha_n} p_n(B)$ then there exists a sequence $\{B_i\}$, $i \in \Gamma^+$ with $B_i \in \alpha_n$, $\lim_{i \to \infty} p_n(B_i) = k$. Further if $C_n = \bigcup_{i \in \Gamma^+} B_i$ then $C_n \in \alpha_n$ because α_n is a σ -algebra and $\beta_n(C_n) \ge \beta_n(B_i)$ for all i, hence $\mu_n(C_n) \ge k$ giving $\beta_n(C_n) = k$. We note that $k \ge d$, by (2), (3) and the definition of k, and that for any $B \in \alpha_n$ we have $\beta_n(C_n) \ge \beta_n(B)$. Thus for $n \in \Gamma^+$ $\beta_n(C_n) \ge \beta_n(C_n \circ C_{n-1})$ $\ge \beta_n(C_{n+1})$ $= \beta_{n+1}(C_{n+1})$ since $\beta_n(B) = \beta_{n+1}(B)$ if $B \in \alpha_{n+1}$ If $\beta_n(\stackrel{m}{i=0} C_{n+i}) \ge \beta_n(\stackrel{m+1}{i=1} C_{n+i})$ then $\beta_n(\stackrel{m+1}{i=0} C_{n+i}) \ge \beta_n(\stackrel{m+1}{i=1} C_{n+i})$ $= \beta_{n+1}(\stackrel{m+1}{i=0} C_{n+i})$ $= \beta_{n+1}(\stackrel{m}{i=0} C_{n+i})$ $\ge \beta_n(n+i) \ge \beta_n(1) \ge \beta_n(1)$ $\ge \beta_{n+i}(C_{n+i})$ $\ge \beta_{n+i}(C_{n+i})$ by (4)

Thus since (4) holds for m = 1 we have by induction that (4) holds for $m \in \Gamma^+$. Hence $\prod_{i=n}^{n+m} C_i \geq \prod_{n+m} (C_{n+m}) = k \geq d$ for $n, m \in \Gamma^+$, letting $m \rightarrow \infty$ gives

 $\prod_{i=n}^{n} \binom{\widetilde{U}}{i=n} C_{i} \geq d \text{ for } n \in \Gamma^{+}$ i.e. $\prod_{i=n}^{n} \binom{\widetilde{U}}{i=n} C_{i} = \prod_{n}^{n} \binom{\widetilde{U}}{i=n} C_{i} \geq d \text{ for } n \in \Gamma^{+}$ and so

$$\int_{1}^{r} \left(\bigwedge_{n \in \Gamma^{+}} \bigcup_{i=n}^{v} C_{i} \right) \geq d$$
(5)

But $\bigcup_{i=n}^{\infty} C_i \in \alpha_n$, $\bigcup_{i=n+1}^{\infty} C_i \subseteq \bigcup_{i=n}^{\infty} C_i n \in \Gamma^+$ and so $\bigcap_{n \in \Gamma^+} \bigcup_{i=n}^{\infty} C_i \in \alpha^{\infty} = \nu$ giving $\prod_{n \in \Gamma^+} \bigcup_{i=n}^{\infty} C_i$ = 0 or 1. In either case $\prod_{i=n}^{\infty} (\bigcap_{n \in \Gamma^+} \bigcup_{i=n}^{\infty} C_i) = 0$ contradicting (5). Hence we deduce that if $\alpha^{\infty} = \nu$ then (1) holds.

66

4.4 MIXING PROPERTIES OF KOLMOGOROV AUTOMORPHISMS

We are now in a position to prove a result due to A.N.Kolmogorov [11], [12] and V.A.Rokhlin [16], namely that a Kolmogorov automorphism is a mixing of all degrees. However, the proof we give is due to J.R.Blum and D.L.Hanson [2].

Theorem 4.41 If T is a Kolmogorov automorphism then it is a mixing of degree 1.

Proof Let I be a K-algebra, and $\alpha_n = T^{-n}I$, $n \in \Gamma^+$. Then for each n, $\alpha_{n+1} \leq \alpha_n$ and $\alpha^{\infty} = \mathcal{V}$. If $\Lambda, B \in \epsilon$ then there exists a sequence $\{B_i\}$, $i \in \Gamma^+$ with $B_i \in T^{k_i}I$ and $\rho(B \wedge B_i) < 2^{-i}$ for each i Hence for $n \in \Gamma^+$, $i \in \Gamma^+$

$$| \mu(A \wedge T^{-(n+k_{i})}B) - \mu(A \wedge T^{-(n+k_{i})}B_{i}) |$$

$$\leq | \mu(T^{n+k_{i}}A_{A}B) - \mu(T^{n+k_{i}}A_{A}B_{i}) |$$

$$\leq \mu((T^{n+k_{i}}A_{A}B) \wedge (T^{n+k_{i}}A_{A}B_{i}))$$

$$\leq \mu(B \wedge B_{i})$$

$$\leq 2^{-i}$$
and $| \mu(A) \mu(T^{-(n+k_{i})}B_{i}) - \mu(A) \mu(B) |$

$$= \mu(A) | \mu(B,) - \mu(B) |$$

$$\leq p(A) p(B \land B_{i})$$

 $\leq 2^{-i}$

Given $d \ge 0$ choose i such that $2^{-i} < d/3$. Now $T^{-(n+k_i)} \xrightarrow{B_i} < <_n, n < f^+$ and so by lemma 4.31 we have $\lim_{n \to \infty} |\rho(\Lambda \wedge T^{-(n+k_i)}B_i) - \rho(\Lambda)\rho(T^{-(n+k_i)}B)| = 0$ Thus we can choose N_i such that for $N \ge N_i$ and $n = N-k_i$ $|\rho(\Lambda \wedge T^{-(n+k_i)}B_i) - \rho(\Lambda)\rho(T^{(n+k_i)}B)| < d/3$

Hence
$$|\rho(\Lambda \wedge T^{-N}B) - \rho(\Lambda) \rho(B)|$$

 $\leq |\rho(\Lambda \wedge T^{-(n+k_{1})}B) - \rho(\Lambda \wedge T^{-(n+k_{1})}B_{1})|$
 $+ |\rho(\Lambda_{\Lambda}T^{-(n+k_{1})}B_{1}) - \rho(\Lambda)\rho(T^{-(n+k_{1})}B_{1})|$
 $+ |\rho(\Lambda)\rho(T^{-(n+k_{1})}B_{1}) - \rho(\Lambda)\rho(B)|$
 $\leq d/3 + d/3 + d/3$
 $= d$
giving $\lim_{N \to \infty} |\rho(\Lambda \wedge T^{-N}B) - \rho(\Lambda)\rho(B)| = 0.$

i.e. T is a mixing of degree 1.

Corollary If T is a Kolmogorov automorphism then it is a mixing of all degrees.

Proof It is sufficient to prove that given any sets Λ_j , $l \leq j \leq m, m < l^+$ and d > 0 there exists a n_0 such that if $n_j \ge n_0$, $N_1 = 0$, $N_{j \ge 1} = -\sum_{k=1}^{j} n_j$, $l \leq j \leq m-1$ then

$$| r(\prod_{j=1}^{m} \mathbf{T}^{N} \mathbf{j} \wedge_{\mathbf{j}}) - \prod_{j=1}^{m} r(\wedge_{\mathbf{j}}) | < \mathbf{a}.$$

We assume the result for m and prove that this implies the result for m+1. An appeal to the theorem for the case m = 2 then completes the proof.

Given Λ_j , $1 \leq j \leq m+1$, d > 0 and integers n_j , $1 \leq j \leq m$ put $N_1 = 0$, $N_{j+1} = -k = 1$ n_j , $1 \leq j \leq m$. There exist sequences $\{\Lambda_{ji}\}$, $i \in \Gamma^+$, $2 \leq j \leq m+1$ such that $\Lambda_{ji} \in T^{k_i} \leq \Gamma^{k_i} \leq \Gamma^{(\Lambda_j \wedge \Lambda_{ji})} < 2^{-i}$ for each i and $2 \leq j \leq m+1$. Hence for $i \in \Gamma^+$

$$\begin{array}{l} \left(\mu \left(\Lambda_{1} \circ T^{-n_{1}} \quad \prod_{j=2}^{m+1} T^{N} j^{+n_{1}} \Lambda_{j} \right) - \mu \left(\Lambda_{1} \circ T^{-n_{1}} \quad \prod_{j=2}^{m+1} T^{N} j^{+n_{1}} \Lambda_{ji} \right) \right) \\ \leq \mu \left(\int_{j=2}^{m+1} T^{N} j^{+n_{1}} \Lambda_{j} \circ \prod_{j=2}^{m+1} T^{N} j^{+n_{1}} \Lambda_{ji} \right) \\ = \mu \left(\int_{j=2}^{m+1} T^{N} j^{+n_{1}} \Lambda_{j} - \prod_{j=2}^{m+1} T^{N} j^{+n_{1}} \Lambda_{ji} \right) \\ + \left(\int_{j=2}^{m+1} T^{N} j^{+n_{1}} \Lambda_{ji} - \prod_{j=2}^{m+1} T^{N} j^{+n_{1}} \Lambda_{j} \right) \end{array}$$

Choose i such that $m2^{-i} < d/4$. Now $N_{j}+n_{1}$ is independent of n_{1} for $2 \le j \le m+1$ and $T^{-(n_{1}+k_{1})} \xrightarrow{m+1}_{j=2} T^{N}j+n_{1} \wedge_{ji} \in T^{-n_{1}} = \ll_{n_{1}},$ $n_{1} \in I^{+}$. Hence by lemma 4.31 $\lim_{n_{1}\to\infty} |\rho(\Lambda_{1} \wedge T^{-(n_{1}+k_{1})}) \xrightarrow{m+1}_{j=2} T^{N}j+n_{1} \wedge_{ji}) - \rho(\Lambda_{1})\rho(T^{-(n_{1}+k_{1})}) \xrightarrow{m+1}_{j=2} N^{j+n_{1}} \wedge_{ji}) = 0$

uniformly in n_j , $2 \le j \le m$ Thus we can find an n_0^1 such that for $n_1 \ge n_0^1$

$$\int_{\mu(\Lambda_{1},T^{-n_{1}} \underset{j=2}{\overset{m+1}{\longrightarrow}} T^{N}j^{+n_{1}}\Lambda_{ji}) - \mu(\Lambda_{1})\mu(T^{-n_{1}} \underset{j=2}{\overset{m+1}{\longrightarrow}} T^{N}j^{+n_{1}}\Lambda_{ji}) | \langle d/4 \rangle$$

but by our hypothesis there exists an n_{0}^{11} such that if $n_{j} > n_{0}^{11}$,
 $2 < j \leq m$ then

 $| \mu(\bigcap_{j=2}^{m+1} T^{Nj+n_1} \Lambda_j) - \bigcap_{j=2}^{m+1} (\Lambda_j) | < d/4$ and since $\mu(\Lambda_1) < 1$ we have

$$\begin{split} &|\mu(\Lambda_{1}) \ \mu(\stackrel{m+1}{j=2} \ T^{N}j^{+n} \Lambda_{j}) \ - \ \stackrel{m+1}{j=1} \ \mu(\Lambda_{j}) \ | \ < d/4 \\ &\text{Thus if } n_{0} = \max \left\{ n_{0}^{1} \ , \ n_{0}^{11} \right\} \text{ we have for } n_{j} \geqslant n_{0}, \ 1 < j < m \text{ that} \\ &|\mu(\stackrel{m+1}{j=1} \ T^{N}j_{\Lambda_{j}}) \ - \ \stackrel{m+1}{j=1} \ \mu(\Lambda_{j}) \ | \\ &\leq |\mu(\stackrel{m+1}{j=1} \ T^{N}j_{\Lambda_{j}}) \ - \ \mu(\Lambda_{1} \wedge T^{-n}1 \ \stackrel{m+1}{j=2} \ T^{N}j^{+n} \Lambda_{ji}) \ | \ + \end{split}$$

$$\begin{array}{l} \left[\rho(\Lambda_{1} \wedge T^{-n_{1}} \prod_{j=2}^{m+1} T^{N} j^{+n_{1}} \Lambda_{ji}) - \rho(\Lambda_{1}) \rho(T^{-n_{1}} \prod_{j=2}^{m+1} T^{N} j^{+n_{1}} \Lambda_{ji}) \right] \\ + \left[\rho(\Lambda_{1}) \rho(T^{-n_{1}} \prod_{j=2}^{m+1} T^{N} j^{+n_{1}} \Lambda_{ji}) - \rho(\Lambda_{1}) \rho(\prod_{j=2}^{m+1} \Lambda_{j}) \right] \\ + \left[\rho(\Lambda_{1}) \rho(\prod_{j=2}^{m+1} N j^{+n_{1}} \Lambda_{j}) - \prod_{j=1}^{m+1} \rho(\Lambda_{j}) \right] \\ < \quad \frac{d}{4} + \frac{d}{4} + \frac{d}{4} + \frac{d}{4} \\ = d \end{array}$$
Theorem 4.42 If T is a mixing of degree 1 then T is ergodic

Proof If $\Lambda \epsilon \epsilon$, satisfies $T\Lambda = \Lambda$ then since T is a mixing of degree 1 we have

 $\lim_{n \to \infty} \left| \rho \left(\Lambda_{n} T^{-n} \Lambda \right) - \rho \left(\Lambda \right) \rho \left(\Lambda \right) \right| = 0$ But $T\Lambda = \Lambda$ implies $\Lambda_{n} T^{-n} \Lambda = \Lambda$ for $n \in \Gamma^{+}$ and so (1) gives

 $\mu(\Lambda) - \mu(\Lambda) \mu(\Lambda) = 0$ i.e. $\mu(\Lambda) = 0, 1$ i.e. $\mu(\Lambda) = 0 \text{ or } \mu(X-\Lambda) = 0$ Hence T is ergodic.

Corollary If T is a Kolmogorov automorphism then T is ergodic.

Proof The result is an immediate consequence of the corollary of theorem 4.41 and the theorem.

4.5 EQUIVALENCE OF KOLMOGOROV AND REGULAR AUTOMORPHISMS

This follows from the work of Ja.G.Sinai, J.R.Blum and D.L.Hanson (see [19] and [2]). We do not use the above papers, but consider expressions for $\Pi(T)$.

Lemma 4.51 If $\ll \epsilon Z$, $\beta = \propto^{-1}$ then $\beta \ll \Pi(T)$

Proof By lemma 3.23 if
$$\forall \not\in \beta_{\infty}$$
 we have

$$H(\forall | \forall^{-}) + H(\ll | \ll^{-} \forall_{T}) = H(\ll \forall | \ll^{-} \forall^{-})$$

$$= H(\ll | \varkappa^{-}) + H(\forall | \forall^{-} \varkappa_{T}) \qquad (1)$$

Now $\propto \gamma_{\rm T} = \propto$ since ${\rm T}^{\rm i} \gamma \leqslant {\rm T}^{\rm i} \beta_{\infty} = \beta_{\infty}$ because $\beta \leqslant {\rm T} \beta$ giving H($\ll | \propto \gamma_{\rm T}) = {\rm H}(\alpha | \propto)$. But $\gamma \leqslant \alpha_{\rm T}$ and so H($\gamma + \gamma \sim \alpha_{\rm T}$) = 0 giving from (1) that H($\gamma + \gamma \sim 0$) = 0, i.e. $\gamma \leqslant {\rm T}({\rm T})$. The result then follows since γ was any σ -algebra such that $\gamma \leqslant \beta_{\infty}$.

Lemma 4.52 $T(T) = \bigvee_{\alpha \in Z} (\alpha)_{\alpha}$

Proof By the previous lemma $(\varkappa)_{\infty} \leq \pi(T)$ for all $\ll \mathbb{Z}$ and so $\bigvee_{\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}} (\alpha)_{\infty} \leq \pi(T)$. If $\beta \leq \pi(T)$ then $0 = h(\beta, T) = H(\beta|\beta)$ giving $\beta \leq \beta$ and hence $T\beta \leq T\beta = \beta \beta^{-1} = \beta^{-1}$ and so by induction we get $T^{i}\beta \leq \beta^{-}$, $i \in \Gamma^{+}$. Thus $\beta \leq T^{-i}\beta^{-}$, $i \in \Gamma^{+}$ giving $\beta \leq (\beta^{-})_{\infty}$ and therefore $\pi(T) \leq \bigvee_{\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}} (\alpha)_{\infty}$.

Corollary 1 $\pi(T) = \bigvee_{\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_1} (\alpha)_{\alpha}$

Proof Since $Z_1 \in Z$ we have $\bigvee_{\alpha \in Z_1} (\alpha^{-1})_{\infty} \in \Pi(T)$. If $\beta \leq \Pi(T)$, $B \in \beta$ consider $\delta = \{ \phi, B, X-B, X \}$. Now $\delta \leq \beta$ and so $\delta \leq \Pi(T)$ giving as in the proof of the lemma that $\delta \leq (\delta^{-1})_{\infty}$ and so $B \in \delta \leq \bigvee_{\alpha \in Z_1} (\alpha^{-1})_{\infty}$. But B was any set in β and so $\beta \leq \bigvee_{\alpha \in Z_1} (\alpha^{-1})_{\infty}$ and therefore $\pi(T) \leq \bigvee_{\alpha \in Z_1} (\alpha^{-1})_{\infty}$.

Corollary 2 T is a regular automorphism if and only if $\Pi(T) = \nu$

Proof We observe that $(\alpha)_{\alpha} = (\alpha)$

Combining this last result with 3.4 and 4.1 we get:

Theorem 4.53 T is a Kolmogorov automorphism if, and only if, T is a regular automorphism.

4.6 SPECTRAL THEORY

Given an increasing real-valued non-negative function $F(\lambda)$ defined on $[-\pi,\pi]$ then if we put

 $F_{1}(f_{x},y) = F(y) - F(x)$ $F_{1}(f_{x},y) = \lim_{h \to 0+} F(y-h) - F(x)$ $F_{1}(f_{x},y) = F(y) - \lim_{k \to 0+} F(x+k)$ $F_{1}(f_{x},y) = \lim_{h \to 0+} F(y-h) - \lim_{k \to 0+} F(x+k)$ we have that F_{1} is a measure on $[-\pi,\pi]$. Conversely, if F_{1} is a measure on $[-\pi,\pi]$ and we put

 $\mathbb{F}^{*}(\lambda) = \mathbb{F}_{1}([-\pi, \lambda])$

then F* is an increasing real valued function on $[-\Pi, \Pi]$. Moreover, if given F we construct F_1 and then F* we have that F = F* almost everywhere. Throughout this section we shall not distinguish between an increasing real-valued function on $[-\Pi, \Pi]$ and the associated measure on $[-\Pi, \Pi]$ and the same symbol will be interpreted as both; the context making clear which interpretation is meant.

Before continuing we introduce the following notation. Given any $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbf{L}_{\mu}^{2}$ we denote by $\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{x}}$ the subspace generated by $\mathbf{U}^{n}\mathbf{x}, n \in \Gamma$ and refer to it as the cyclic subspace generated by \mathbf{x} . For each $n \in \Gamma$ we put

 $\varphi_{\mathbf{x}}(\mathbf{n}) = (\mathcal{U}^{\mathbf{n}}\mathbf{x},\mathbf{x})$

and note that for all n

$$\varphi_{x}(-n) = (u^{-n}x, x)$$
$$= (x, u^{n}x)$$
$$= \varphi_{x}(n)$$

Further, since $|\varphi_x(n)| \leq \varphi(0)$, $n \in \Gamma$ it follows that $\varphi_x(n)$ is a positive definite function and hence (see [3]) there exists a measure G_x on $[-\Pi,\Pi]$ such that

$$\varphi_{\mathbf{x}}(\mathbf{n}) = \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} e^{\mathbf{i}\mathbf{n}\lambda} dG_{\mathbf{x}}(\lambda), \mathbf{n} \in \Gamma$$

We refer to $F_x = G_x / \int_{\overline{\mu}}^{\pi} G_x(\lambda) d\lambda$ as the spectral type of x. Lastly we put

 $Y_x = \{ y: F_x \sim F_y \}$

where \sim denotes the usual equivalence relation between measures, i.e. $F_x \sim F_y$ if and only if they vanish on the same sets. The reader is referred to P.R.Halmos [5] for a discussion of the relations \sim and \checkmark as applied to measures. The main results we need are that if F,G, are measures, a, b, are non-zero numbers then $F \sim G$ if and only if a $F \leq bG$ and $F \leq G$ if and only if a $F \leq bG$. Further if F_i , $i \in \Gamma$ are finite and normalized measures, $a_i, b_i, i \in \Gamma$ are non-zero, positive real numbers such that $\sum_{i \in \Gamma} a_i, i \in \Gamma b_i < \infty$ then $\sum_{i \in \Gamma} a_i F_i \sim \sum_{i \in \Gamma} b_i F_i$.

Lemma 4.61 If $x \in L^2_{p}$, $y \in H_x$ then $F_y \in F_x$

Proof Since $y \in H_x$ there exist constants a_k , $k \in \Gamma$ such that $y = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{|k| \leq n} a_k U^k x$. Hence $\varphi_y(\Lambda) = (U^n y, y)$ $= (\sum_{k \in \Gamma} a_k U^{n+k}, \sum_{k \in \Gamma} a_k U^k x)$ $= \sum_{l \in \Gamma} b_{nl} (U^l x, x)$ $= \sum_{l \in \Gamma} b_{nl} \int_{\pi}^{\pi} e^{il\lambda} dG_{x} (\lambda)$

giving us that $F_y \leqslant F_x$

Lemma 4.62 If $x \in L_p^2$, $y \in H_x$, $F_y \neq F_x$ then $H_y \neq H_x$

Proof $F_y \leq F_x$ by lemma 4.61 and $x \in H_y$ implies $F_x \leq F_y$ by the same lemma, and hence $F_x \sim F_y$. This is a contradiction and so we deduce that $x \notin H_y$. But $x \in H_x$ and so we have $H_y \notin H_x$. Lemma 4.63 If $x \in L_p^2$, $y \in H_x$, $F_y \not \sim F_x$ then there exists a $z \in H_x$ such that $H_y \perp H_2$

Proof By lemma 4.62 $H_y \neq H_x$ and hence since $H_y \in H_x$ there exists a $z \in H_x$ such that $z \perp H_y$, i.e. $z \perp U^n y$, $n \in \Gamma$ and so $U^n z \perp y$ for all n giving us that $H_y \perp H_2$.

Lemma 4.64 If $x_y \in L_p^2$ are such that $H_x \perp H_y$ then $F_{x+y} = (F_x + F_y)/2$

Proof $\mathcal{P}_{x+y}(n) = (\mathcal{U}^{n}(x y), (x y))$ = $(\mathcal{U}^{n}x, x) + (\mathcal{U}^{n}x, y) + (\mathcal{U}^{n}y, x) + (\mathcal{U}^{n}y, y)$

but $H_x \perp H_y$ imply $(U^n x, y) = 0 = (U^n y, x)$ and so

$$\mathcal{P}_{x+y} (n) = (\mathcal{U}^{n}x, x) + (\mathcal{U}^{n}y, y)$$
$$= \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} e^{in\lambda} \ dG_{x} + \int_{\pi}^{\pi} e^{in\lambda} \ dG_{y}$$
$$= \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} e^{in\lambda} \ d(G_{x} + G_{y})$$

giving $G_{x+y} = G_x + G_y$ and hence $F_{x+y} = (F_x + F_y)/2$

Lemma 4.65 If $x_i, i \in I$ satisfy $x_i \in L_p^2$, $||x_i|| = \text{constant}$ for all i, $Hx_i \perp Hx_j$ if $i \neq j$ and a_i , $i \in I$ are real numbers such that $\sum_{i \in I} |a_i| \leq M$ and $|a_i| \leq I$ for each i then if $y = \sum_{i \in I} a_i x_i$ we have that $F_y = (\sum_{i \in I} a_i^2 F_{xi}) / \sum_{i \in I} a_i^2$.

74

Proof
$$\|\sum_{i \in I} a_i x_i\| \leq \sum_{i \in I} |a_i| \|x_i\| \leq M^2$$

and so y is well defined.

$$(U^{n}\mathbf{y}, \mathbf{y}) = (U^{n}\sum_{i \in I} a_{i} x_{i}, \sum_{i \in I} a_{i} x_{i})$$
$$= \sum_{i \in I} a_{i}^{2} (U^{n}x_{i}, x_{i})$$
$$= \sum_{i \in I} a_{i}^{2} \int_{\mathbf{y}}^{\mathbf{\pi}} e^{i \mathbf{\lambda} n} dG_{\mathbf{x}i}$$

Thus since $a_i^2 \leq 1$, $M \geq (x_i, x_i) = \int_{\pi}^{\pi} dG_{xi}$ we have that $\sum_{i \in I} a_i^2 G_{xi}$ is well defined and so $G_y = \sum_{i \in I} a_i^2 G_{xi}$ giving $F_i = (\sum_{i \in I} a_i^2 F_{xi}) / \sum_{i \in I} a_i^2$.

Lemma 4.66 If L_{μ}^{2} is separable and x_{i} , if y_{j} , $j \in J$ are such that $x_{i} \in L_{\mu}^{2}$, $y_{j} \in L_{\mu}^{2}$ for all i, j and

- (1) $H_{xi} \perp H_{xk}$ if $i \neq k$
- (2) $H_{yj} \perp H_{yl}$ if $j \neq 1$

(3)
$$\bigoplus_{i \notin I} H_{xi} = L_{p}^{2} = \bigoplus_{j \notin J} H_{yj}$$

then for all non-zero, positive real numbers a_i , $i \in I$, b_j , $j \in J$ we have $\sum_{i \in I} a_i F_{xi} \sim \sum_{j \in J} b_j F_{yj}$

Proof Since L_{ρ}^{2} is separable I, $J \in f$ and since F_{xi} , F_{yj} are normalized measures it follows that $\sum_{i \in I} a_i F_{xi}$, $\sum_{j \in J} b_j F_{yj}$ are well defined and finite. By (3) we have that for each $j \in J$ there exist v_{ji} , $i \in I$ such that $v_{ji} \in H_{xi}$ for each i and $y_j = \sum_{i \in I} v_{ji}$ By lemma 4.65 we have that $F_{yj} = F_{vji}$ and since by lemma 4.61 we have that $F_{vji} \leq F_{xi}$ for each i it follows that $F_{yj} \leq \sum_{i \in I} a_i F_{xi}$, $j \in J$. Thus we deduce that $\sum_{j \in J} b_j F_{yj} \leq \sum_{i \in I} a_i F_{xi}$. Similarly we show that $\sum_{i \in I} a_i F_{xi} \leq \sum_{j \in J} b_j F_{yj}$ and so we have $\sum_{i \in I} a_i F_{xi} \sim \sum_{j \in J} b_j F_{yj}$.

75

We now define the maximal spectral type of U if L_{μ}^{2} is separable to be the equivalence class of measures which contains $\sum_{i \notin I} a_{i} F_{xi}$ where x_{i} , if I are any elements of L_{μ}^{2} such that $H_{xi} \perp H_{xj}$ if $i \neq j$, $L_{\mu}^{2} = \bigoplus_{i \notin I} H_{xi}$ and a_{i} are any non-zero, positive real numbers such that $\sum_{i \notin I} a_{i} < \infty$. By lemma 4.66 we have immediately that the maximal spectral type is well defined and unique.

We say that U has a Lebesgue spectrum of multiplicity \mathbf{x}_{o} if there exists \mathbf{x}_{i} , is I such that $\mathbf{x}_{i} \in L_{P}^{2}$ for each i, $\mathbf{H}_{xi} \perp \mathbf{H}_{xj}$ if $i \neq j$, $\mathbf{L}_{P}^{2} = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbf{I}} \mathbf{H}_{xi}$, \mathbf{F}_{xi} for each i is equivalent to the ordinary Lebesgue measure and I is countable finite.

If U satisfies all the above conditions except the last then we say that U has a Lebesgue spectrum of multiplicity S = cardinal number of I.

Lemma 4.67 If there exists an orthonormal basis f_{ij} , if $i \in I$, $j \in J_i$ of L_p^2 such that $J_i = \int or \int f' f'$ for each i and $Uf_{ij} = f_{ij+1}$ for all i, j then U has a Lebesgue spectrum.

Proof Let $x_i = f_{ij}$ for some $j \in J_i$. Then $(U^n x_i, x_i) = \begin{cases} \|x_i\| & \text{if } n = 0 \\ 0 & \text{if } n \in f^+ \end{cases}$

hence we must have G_{xi} equal to a constant times the ordinary Lebesgue measure. Hence F_{xi} is equivalent to the Lebesgue measure and since f_{ij} , $i \in I$, $j \in J_i$ is an orthonormal basis we must have $L_{l}^2 = \bigoplus_{i \in I} H_{xi}$, and $H_{xi} \perp H_{xk}$ if $i \neq k$. Hence we see that U has a Lebesgue spectrum. Lemma 4.68 If there exists an $x \in L_{\mu}^{2}$ such that F_{x} is singular with respect to Lebesgue measure then U does not have a Lebesgue spectrum.

Proof As usual we say that two measures are singular if the only measure which is absolutely continuous with respect to both is the zero measure (see [5])

If U has a Lebesgue spectrum then there exist x_i , if $i \neq j$, $L_{\Gamma}^2 = \bigoplus_{i \in I} Hx_i$. such that $x_i \in L_{\Gamma}^2$ for each i, $Hx_i \nmid Hx_j$ if $i \neq j$, $L_{\Gamma}^2 = \bigoplus_{i \in I} Hx_i$. Hence given $x \in L_{\Gamma}^2$ there exist v_i , if $x \equiv x_i \in Hx_i$ each i and $x = \sum_{i \in I} v_i$. By lemma 4.65 $F_x = \sum_{i \in I} F_{v_i}$ and so since $F_{v_i} \leq F_{x_i}$ and F_{x_i} is absolutely continuous with respect to Lebesgue measure for each i, so too if Fx. But this is a contradiction and so we deduce that U does not have a Lebesgue spectrum.

4.7 THE SPECTRUM OF A KOLMOGOROV AUTOMORPHISM

In this section we look at some spectral properties of T, and in particular the spectrum of T if T is a K - automorphism.

For any σ -algebra α we put $L_{\alpha} = \{f: f \in L_{r}^{2}, f \text{ is measurable} with respect to <math>(X, \alpha)\}$ If $\Lambda \epsilon \propto , \chi_{\Lambda}$ is the characteristic function of Λ , U as in section 1.2 then

$$\mathbf{x}_{\Lambda} = \mathbf{x}_{\Lambda} \mathbf{T} = \mathbf{x}_{\mathbf{T}-\mathbf{1}_{\Lambda}}$$

Thus we see that for any step-function $f \in L_{\alpha}$ we have $Uf \in L_{T^{-1}\alpha}$. And as usual we can approximate any f by step functions and obtain for all $f \in L_{\mu}^{2}$ that

 $f \in L_{\alpha}$ implies $U f \in L_{T-1_{\alpha}}$

Moreover if $\alpha \in T \propto$ then $L_{T-1} \in L_{\alpha}$ and so $UL_{\alpha} \in L_{\alpha}$.

We define a subspace of L of L_p^2 to be invariant if

UL ≤ L

and to be exhaustive if

$$\bigvee_{t \in \Gamma^+} U^t L = L^2_{\mu}$$

Here as always we use $\bigvee_{t \in \Gamma^+} U^t L$ to denote the closure of $\bigcup_{t \in \Gamma^+} U^t L$.

Lastly we point out that if \propto is a K_1 -algebra then L_{α} is invariant and exhaustive.

The following four lemmas are essentially proved in K. Jacobs [8].

Lemma 4.71 If L is an invariant exhaustive subspace of L_p^2 and $L_{\infty} = \bigwedge_{t \in \Gamma^+} u^t L$, L⁺ satisfies $L_p^2 = L^+ \bigoplus L_{\infty}$ then U has a Lebesgue spectrum in L⁺ if L⁺ \neq [0]

Proof Let H₁ be the subspace such that

 $L = H_{1} \oplus UL$ and define $H_{t} = U^{t-1}H_{1}$ for $t \in \Gamma^{+}$ then $UH_{t} = H_{t+1}$ and $U^{t-1}L = H_{t} \oplus U^{t}L$. Thus $L_{\Gamma}^{2} = t \bigoplus_{\epsilon \Gamma} U^{-t}L$ $= t \bigoplus_{\epsilon \Gamma} H_{t} \oplus L_{\infty}$

If (f_i) it is an orthonormal basis in H_1 and

 $\{f_{it}\} = U^{t-1} f_{i1}$ then $\{f_{it}\}$, $i \in I$, $t \in \Gamma$ is an orthonormal basis of $L^{+} = \bigoplus_{t \in \Gamma} H_t$ such that $f_{it+1} = U f_{it}$. Thus U has a Lebesgue spectrum in L.

Lemma 4.72 If T is ergodic, \propto an invariant σ -algebra and $T^{-1} \approx \neq \propto$ then (X, ε, μ) is atom free.

Proof Since $T \neq \prec$ there exists a set $\Lambda_1 \neq \phi$ such that $\Lambda_1 \in T \prec$, $\Lambda_1 \notin \prec$, and for each $n \in \Gamma^+$ there exists a set $\Lambda_n \neq \phi$

such that $A_n \in T^n \propto A_n \notin T^{n-1} \propto$ and hence $A_n \neq A_j$, $1 \leq j \leq n-1$. Let β be the σ -algebra generated by $\{A_n\}$ $n \in \Gamma^+$. Let δ be the least limit point of the $\{\rho(B_n)\}$, $B \in \beta$, $B \neq \phi$ and suppose $\delta > 0$. Then there exists a sequence $\{B_i\}$, $i \in \Gamma^+$ such that $B_i \neq B_j$ if $i \neq j$ and such that $\lim_{i \to \infty} \rho(B_i) = \delta$, and an N such that for $i \geqslant N$ we have $\rho(B_i) < 3\delta/2$. Consider $C_{ij} = B_i \wedge B_j$ for $i, j \geqslant N$, then we must have $C_{ij} \neq \phi$ for an infinite number of pairs i, j since otherwise the Bi, $i \geqslant$ some N_1 are disjoint and so $1 = \rho(X) \geqslant \sum_{i=N_1}^{\infty} \rho(B_i) \geqslant \sum_{i=N}^{\infty} \delta = \infty$ which is absurd. For these pairs either $0 < \rho(B_i \wedge B_j) < \delta/2$ or $0 < \rho(B_i - B_j) < \delta/2$, giving a limit point of $\{\rho(B)\}$, $B \in \beta$, $B \neq \phi$ which is $\leq \delta/2 < \delta$ i.e. a contradiction to $\delta > 0$. Thus we have shown that there are sets in ϵ with arbitrarily small measure.

For any set Λ with $\mu(\Lambda) > 0$ we can find a set B with $0 < \mu(B) < \mu(\Lambda)$, and since T is ergodic there is a t > 0 such that $\mu(T^{-t}B_{\Lambda}\Lambda) > 0$. But $T^{-t}B_{\Lambda}\Lambda \leq \Lambda$ and $\mu(T^{-t}B_{\Lambda}\Lambda) \leq \mu(B) < \mu(\Lambda)$ hence (X, ϵ, μ) is atom free.

Lemma 4.73 If (X, ε, μ) is atom free, \propto any σ -algebra and H_1 the subspace defined by $L^2_{\mu} = H_1 \oplus L_{\alpha}$ then either $H_1 = \{0\}$ or H_1 is infinite dimensional.

Proof If $H_1 \neq \{0\}$ then there exists an $f \neq 0$ such that $f \in H_1$. Further if $F = \{x: f(x) \neq 0\}$ then $F \in \alpha$ and $\mu(F) > 0$. Moreover the space

$$\mathbf{L} = \{gX_{\mathbf{T}}: g\in \mathbf{L}^2\}$$

is infinite dimensional. Let,

 $L_1 = \{g \chi_F : g \in L_{\alpha} \}$

and L be defined by

 $L = L_{o} \oplus L_{l}$ If $g \in L_{o}$, $h \in L_{\alpha}$ and $g = g_{l} \chi_{F}$, $g_{l} \in L_{\mu}^{2}$ we have $(g,h) = (g_{l} \chi_{F}, h)$ $= (g_{l} \chi_{F}, h \chi_{F})$ $= 0 \text{ since } g_{l} \chi_{F} \in L_{o}, h \chi_{F} \in L_{l}$

Thus $L_0 \in H_1$. If L_1 has finite dimension then L_0 and hence H_1 is infinite dimensional. If L_1 is infinite dimensional then there exist $\{h_i\}$, $i \in \Gamma^+$ such that h_i is bounded, $h_i \in L_{\rho}^2$ each i and $\{h_i \chi_F\}$ are linearly independent. Since $f(x) \neq 0$ for $x \in F$ we have that $\{h_i f\}$, $i \in I^{++}$ are linearly independent. Also if $h \in L_{\rho}$ then

$$(h_i f, h X_F) = (f, h_i h)$$

= 0 for all $i \in \Gamma^+$

because $h_i h \in L_{\alpha}$, $f \in H_1$. Thus $h_i f \in L_0$, $i \in \Gamma^+$ and so L_0 and therefore H_1 is infinite dimensional.

Theorem 4.74 If α is a K_1 algebra, $L_{\infty} = \bigoplus_{t \in I^+} U^t L_{\alpha}$ then U has a Lebesgue spectrum in L^+ where L^+ is the subspace such that $L_p^2 = L^+ \bigoplus L_{\infty}$, if $L^+ \neq \{0\}$. If T is ergodic, $L^+ \neq \{0\}$ then U has an infinite Lebesgue spectrum.

Proof
$$U L_{\infty} = \bigcap_{t \in P^+} U^{t+1} L_{\alpha} \subseteq \bigcap_{t \in P^+} U^t L_{\alpha} = L_{\infty}$$

$$\bigcup_{t \in P^+} U^{-t} L_{\infty} = \bigcup_{t \in P^+} U^{-t} \bigcap_{s \in P^+} U^s L_{\alpha} = \bigcup_{t \in P^-} L_{\alpha}$$

Thus L_{∞} is invariant and exhaustive, and so by lemma 4.71 Uhas a Lebesgue spectrum in L^+ if $L^+ \neq \{0\}$.

Since α is a K₁ algebra either $\alpha = \epsilon$ giving L⁺ = 101 or

 $T \propto \neq \propto$ giving (X, ε, μ) to be atom free by lemma 4.62. The result then follows from lemma 4.63.

Corollary If T is a Kolmogorov automorphism then \mathcal{U} has an infinite Lebesgue spectrum in the orthogonal complement of the subspace of constant functions.

Proof There exists a K-algebra \propto , and for this \propto , $L_{\infty} = \bigcap_{t \in \Gamma^+} U^{t}L_{\alpha} = \text{subspace of constant functions.}$ By theorems 4.41 and 4.42 T is ergodic and the result then follows from the theorem.

This last result was first indicated by A.N.Kolmogorov in [11].

5 MIXINGS WHICH ARE NOT KOLMOGOROV AUTOMORPHISMS

5-1 RIESZ PRODUCTS

We consider the Riesz product

$$\prod_{\nu \in \Gamma^+} (1 + \alpha_{\nu} \cos n_{\nu} x)$$
(1)

where $n_{\nu} \in \Gamma^{+}$, $n_{\nu+1}/n_{\nu} \ge q \ge 3$, $0 < |\langle \nu| \le 1$ for $\nu \in \Gamma^{+}$. If $\mu_{k} = \sum_{i=1}^{k} n_{\nu}$, $\mu_{k}' = n_{k+1} - \mu_{k}$ for $k \in \Gamma^{+}$ then $\mu_{k} < n_{k}q/(q-1)$, $\mu_{k}' > n_{k+1}(q-2)/(q-1)$ and so $\mu_{k}'/\mu_{k} \ge 1$. For $k \in \Gamma^{+}$ we put $p_{k}(x) = 1 + \sum_{\nu=1}^{k} \forall_{\nu} \cos \nu x = \prod_{i=1}^{k} (1 + \alpha_{i} \cos n_{i}x)$ (2)

where the δ_{μ} are chosen (uniquely) to satisfy the second equality for all x. Thus we have $\delta_{\mu} = 0$ if μ is not of the form $n_{i1} \pm n_{i2} \pm \dots$ with $k \ge i_1 \ge i_2 \ge \dots$ Now $p_{k+1}(x) = p_k(x)$ $(1 + \alpha_{k+1} \cos n_{k+1} x)$ giving that the difference $p_{k+1} - p_k$ is a polynomial whose lowest term is of rank $p'_k > p'_k$. Hence the passage from p_k to p_{k+1} consists in adding to p_k a group of terms whose ranks all exceed p_k . Letting $k \rightarrow \infty$ in (2) we obtain the series

$$1 + \sum_{\nu \in \Gamma^+} \delta_{\nu} \cos \nu x \tag{3}$$

in which $\mathcal{J}_{p} = 0$ if $n \neq n_{i} \neq n_{i} \neq n_{i} \neq \dots$ with $i > i_{1} > i_{2} > \dots$ The partial sums $S_{n}(x)$ of (3) have the property that $S_{p_{k}}(x) = p_{k}(x) \ge 0$, $k \in \Gamma^{+}$. Moreover if $G(x) = \lim_{k \to \infty} \int_{0}^{x} p_{k}(t) dt$

then it follows (see [22]) that (3) is the Fourier-Stieltjes series for G(x) which is a non-decreasing continuous function.

If we formally multiply out (1) and replace the products of cosines by linear combinations of cosines then it is easy to show that no two terms are of the same rank. Before continuing our discussion we need a lemma and the following notation.

$$A_{n_{k}} = \varkappa_{k} \cos n_{k} x, \ k \in \Gamma^{+}; \ a_{n_{i}} = \begin{cases} n^{-1} \text{ if } 1 \leq i \leq n, \ n \in \Gamma^{+} \\ 0 \text{ otherwise} \end{cases}$$

$$R_{mn} = \sum_{l=n}^{\infty} a_{m_{k}} \qquad \Upsilon_{m}(x) = \sum_{k \in \Gamma^{+}} A_{n_{k}}(x) R_{mn_{k}}$$

Lemma 5.11 If $\sum_{k \in \Gamma^+} \alpha_k^2$ then the set of points at which

$$\gamma_{\rm m}^{+}(\mathbf{x}) = \mathbf{o} \left\{ \sum_{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{f}^{+}} \alpha_{\mathbf{k}}^{2} \mathbf{R}_{\rm mn}^{2} \right\}^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
(5)

where $\gamma_{\rm m}^+(x) = \max \{0, \gamma_{\rm m}(x)\}$ is of measure zero.

Proof If $\Gamma_m^2 = \sum_{k \in \Gamma + k}^2 R_{mn_k}^2$, $E = \{x; (1) \text{ holds}\}$ and |A| denotes the measure of any measurable set in the real line then if |E| > 0and d_1 is any number such that $d_1 > 0$, there exists a set $\mathcal{E} \subseteq E$ with $|\mathcal{E}| > |E|/2$ such that $\mathcal{T}_m(x) / \Gamma_m \leq d_1$ in \mathcal{E} for $m > m_0 = m_0(d_1)$.

By omitting the first few terms of $\sum_{k \in I} A_n(x)$ we may without loss of generality and without changing \mathcal{E} suppose n_1 as large as we please.

Then
$$\begin{cases} \left(\mathcal{C}_{m}(x) \right) dx & \leqslant \int_{\mathcal{E}} \left\{ \left[\mathcal{C}_{m}(x) - d_{1} \right] \right]_{m} + d_{1} \right]_{m} dx \\ &= \int_{\mathcal{E}} \left\{ 2d_{1} \right]_{m} - \mathcal{C}_{m}(x) dx \\ &= 2d_{1} \int_{m} \left[\mathcal{E} \right] - \int_{\mathcal{E}} \mathcal{C}_{m}(x) dx \\ \text{but} & \int_{\mathcal{E}} \mathcal{C}_{m}(x) dx = \int_{\mathcal{E}} \left\{ \sum_{k \in \Gamma^{+}} \mathcal{C}_{k} \cos n_{k} x R_{mn_{k}} \right\} dx \\ &= \sum_{k \in \Gamma^{+}} \pi a_{n_{k}} \alpha_{k} R_{mn_{k}} \end{cases}$$

where a is the nth Fourier coefficient of the characteristic

function of the set $\boldsymbol{\xi}$.

Thus
$$\int_{\xi} |\gamma_{m}(\mathbf{x})| \, d\mathbf{x} \leqslant 2d_{1} \Gamma_{m} |\xi| - \Pi \sum_{k \in \Gamma^{+}} a_{n_{k}} \ll_{k} R_{mn_{k}}$$
$$\leqslant 2d_{1} \Gamma_{m} |\xi| + \Pi \Gamma_{m} \{\sum_{k \in \Gamma^{+}} a_{n_{k}}^{2}\}^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

by Holder's inequality. Hence if n is sufficiently large

i.e.
$$\int_{\xi} |\mathcal{T}_{m}(x)| dx \leq d_{1} \Gamma_{m}(2|\xi| + \pi)$$

i.e.
$$m(x) dx = o(\Gamma_{m})$$
(6)

But by Holder's inequality

$$\int_{\xi} \mathcal{T}_{m}^{2}(\mathbf{x}) \, \mathrm{d} \, \mathbf{x} \leq \left\{ \int_{\xi} |\mathcal{T}_{m}(\mathbf{x})| \, \mathrm{d} \, \mathbf{x} \right\}^{2/3} \left\{ \int_{\xi} \mathcal{T}_{m}^{4}(\mathbf{x}) \, \mathrm{d} \mathbf{x} \right\}^{\frac{1}{2}3}$$

and A. Zygmund [22] shows that

 $\Gamma_{\rm m}^2 = O\left(\int_{\xi} \gamma_{\rm m}^2 (x) dx\right)$ for n₁ large enough and $\int_{\xi} \gamma_{\rm m}^4 (x) dx = O\left(\Gamma_{\rm m}^4\right)$

thus giving

$$\Gamma_{\rm m} = O\left(\int |\mathcal{T}_{\rm m}(\mathbf{x})|\right) d\mathbf{x}$$
⁽⁷⁾

This is a contradiction to (6) and so we conclude that |E| = 0

We now return to our discussion of Riesz products.

Lemma 5.12 If $\Sigma \alpha_{\mu}^2 = \infty$ then the function G has a derivative O almost everywhere.

Proof The series (3) is almost everywhere summable (C,1) to sum G'(x). (see [22] vol.1 P.105). Further the series has infinitely many gaps (μ_k, μ'_k) and since $\mu'_k/\mu_k > 1$ we have (see [22] vol.1, P.79) that the partial products $\mu_k(x)$ converge to G'(x) almost everywhere. But $1+u < e^u$ and so

$$0 \leq p_k(x) \leq \exp\left(\sum_{\mu=1}^k \alpha_{\mu} \cos n_{\mu} x\right)$$

In lemma 541 for fixed k we have $\lim_{m \to \infty} R_{mn} = 1$ and so $\lim_{m \to \infty} \Gamma_m^2 = \infty$. Thus applying lemma we see that $\sum_{\mu=1}^{k} \alpha_{\mu} \cos n_{\mu} x$ takes arbitrarily large negative values, as $k \to \infty$, for almost all x. Hence $\lim_{k \to \infty} \inf p_k(x) = 0$, i.e. G'(x) = 0 almost everywhere.

Remark We have also proved that (1) converges to 0 almost everywhere.

5.2 A PARTICULAR PRODUCT

We consider the Riesz product:

 $\prod_{\nu \in \Gamma^{k}} (1 + \cos n_{\nu} x) = 1 + \sum_{\nu \in \Gamma^{k}} \delta_{\nu} \cos \nu x = \sum_{\nu \in \Gamma^{k}} \delta_{\nu} e^{i\nu x}$ where $n_{k} = 2^{2^{k}}$ and the δ_{ν} , $\nu \in \Gamma$ are chosen so that the last equality is satisfied. By the last section the series is the Fourier-Stieltjes series of an increasing, continuous and singular function G(x), and that $0 \le \delta_{\nu} \le 1$ for $\nu \in \Gamma$. For any N>3 there is a k such that $n_{k-1} \le N < n_{k}$ and hence

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \delta_{r} \leq \sum_{r=1}^{r} \delta_{r} = \sum_{k=1}^{k} 2 = 2^{k} \leq 2^{2} \log n.$$

giving the δ_{ν} small "on the average".

Consider the mapping

$$x = x(t) = \frac{1}{2} \left(t_{+} \frac{t^{2}}{\pi} \operatorname{sign} t \right), -\pi \leq t \leq \pi$$

of the interval $[-\Pi, \Pi]$ onto itself.

If F(x) = G(t) then since $1/2 \le x^{1}(t) \le 3/2$ we have that F(x) is increasing, continuous and singular. Moreover (see [22] vol 1.P.158)

$$\frac{1}{2\pi}\int_{\pi}^{\pi} e^{-inx} dF(x) = \frac{1}{2\pi}\int_{\pi}^{\pi} e^{-inx(t)} dG(t) = \sum_{\nu \in \Gamma} \lambda_{n,\nu} \delta_{\nu}$$

and the series is absolutely convergent since $e^{-inx(t)}$ has a derivative of bounded variation and so its Fourier coefficients

$$\lambda_{n,\nu} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\pi}^{\pi} e^{-i(nx(t)+\nu t)} dt$$

are $0(\mu^{-2})$.

We now leave this product in order to prove three lemmas.

Lemma 5.21 If
$$f(t)$$
 is a real valued function for $a \leq t \leq b$,
 $f^{4}(t)$ is monotone and there exists a $\lambda > 0$ such that either
 $f^{4}(t) \geq \lambda$ or $f^{4}(t) \leq -\lambda$ for $a \leq t \leq b$ then $\left| \int_{a}^{b} e^{2\pi i f(t)} dt \right| < \lambda^{-1}$
Proof $\int_{a}^{b} e^{2\pi i f(t)} dt = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{a}^{b} \frac{1}{f^{4}(t)} de^{2\pi i f(t)}$
and by the second mean value theorem there exists c_{1}, c_{2} in (a,b)
such that
 $\int_{a}^{b} \frac{1}{f^{4}(t)} dcos(2\pi f(t)) = \frac{1}{f^{4}(a)} \int_{a}^{c_{1}} dcos(2\pi f(t)) + \frac{1}{f^{4}(b)} \int_{c_{1}}^{b} dcos(2\pi f(t))$
 $\int_{a}^{b} \frac{1}{f^{4}(t)} dsin(2\pi f(t)) = \frac{1}{f^{4}(a)} \int_{a}^{c_{2}^{2}} dsin(2\pi f(t)) + \frac{1}{f^{4}(b)} \int_{c_{2}}^{b} dsin(2\pi f(t))$
giving $\int_{a}^{b} e^{2\pi i f(t)} dt \leq 2\pi i \left(\int_{a}^{b} f^{4}(t) dcos(2\pi f(t)) + \int_{a}^{b} f^{4}(t) dsin(2\pi f(t)) \right)$
 $\leq \frac{1}{2\pi} \cdot \frac{2}{\lambda} \cdot 2$
 $< \frac{1}{\lambda}$

Lemma 5.22 If f(t) is a real valued function for $a \leq t \leq b$ and there exists $a \rho > 0$ such that $f^{\mu}(t) \geq \rho$ or $f^{\mu}(t) \leq -\rho$ for $a \leq t \leq b$ then

$$\left| \int_{a}^{b} e^{2\pi i f(t)} dt \right| \leq 4p^{-\frac{1}{2}}$$

Proof If $f''(t) \leqslant -\rho$ we consider -f(t). Hence without loss of generality we take $f''(t) \geqslant \rho$. If $f'(t) \geqslant 0$ for $a \leqslant t \leqslant b$, and $a < \delta < b$ then $f'(t) \geqslant (\delta - a)\rho$ for $\delta \leqslant t \leqslant b$ Hence $\left| \int_{a}^{b} e^{2\pi i f(t)} dt \right| \leqslant \left| \int_{a}^{\delta} e^{2\pi i (t)} dt \right| + \left| \int_{\delta}^{b} e^{2\pi i f(t)} dt \right|$ $\leqslant \delta - a + (\frac{1}{\delta} - a)\rho$ by lemma 5.21

But $\delta - a + \frac{1}{(\delta - a)\rho}$ has a minimum value when $\delta = a + \rho^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ and so

87

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \int_{a}^{b} e^{2 \pi i f(t)} dt \right| \leq \rho^{-\frac{1}{2}} + \rho^{-\frac{1}{2}} = 2\rho^{-\frac{1}{2}} \end{aligned}$$
If $f'(t) \leq 0$ for $a \leq t \leq b$ then for $a < \delta < b$, $f'(t) \leq -(b-\delta)\rho$ for $a \leq t \leq \delta$ then for $a < \delta < b$, $f'(t) \leq -(b-\delta)\rho$ for $a \leq t \leq \delta$ then vecto consider the two intervals in which $f'(t)$ is of constant sign. Thus in general

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \int_{a}^{b} e^{2 \pi i f(t)} dt \right| \leq 2\rho^{-\frac{1}{2}} + 2\rho^{-\frac{1}{2}} = 4\rho^{-\frac{1}{2}} \end{aligned}$$
Lemma 5.23 $|\lambda_{n,\nu}| \leq 4n^{-\frac{1}{2}}, \nu \in \Gamma$
 $|\lambda_{n,\nu}| \leq 4\nu^{-2}, |\nu| \geq 3n$
where A is a constant.
Proof If $f(t) = nx(t) + \nu t$ then
 $f'(t) = nx'(t) + \nu$
 $= \frac{n}{2} \left(1 + \frac{2\pi}{3} \operatorname{sign} t \right) + \nu$
 $f''(t) = \frac{n}{3\pi} \operatorname{sign} t$
Thus for t in $(0, \pi)$, $f''(t) = n\pi^{-1} > 0$, and so by lemma 5.22
 $\left| \int_{0}^{\pi} e^{-if(t)} dt \right| \leq 4(2n)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \end{aligned}$
Hence $|\lambda_{n,\nu}| \leq \frac{1}{2\pi} 8(2n)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \leq \frac{8}{3\pi} n^{-\frac{1}{2}}, \nu \in \Gamma$ $f(t)$ is an odd
function and so
 $\pi \lambda_{n,\nu} = \int_{0}^{\pi} \operatorname{cos} f dt$
 $= \int_{0}^{\pi} \frac{1}{2t} d \sin f = \int_{0}^{\pi} \frac{\sin f}{2t} \int_{0}^{\pi} dt$
Further $f'(t)$ is monotone for $0 \leq t < \pi$ and is of constant
sign if $|\nu| \geq 3n/2$. For $|\nu| \geq 3n$ we have $|f'| \geq |\nu|/2$ and so by

the second mean value theorem

$$\begin{aligned} |\lambda_{n,\nu}| \leq n \pi^{-2} \frac{2^3}{|\nu|^3} \left| \int_0^{\pi} \sin f f' dt \right| \\ \leq \frac{2 - 4 \pi^{-2}}{|\nu|^2} \cdot 2 \\ f \Lambda &= 48/\pi^2 \end{aligned}$$

Thus i

$$\begin{aligned} |\lambda_{n,\nu}| \leq A n^{-\frac{1}{2}}, \quad \nu \in \Gamma \\ |\lambda_{n,\nu}| \leq A \nu^{-2}, \quad |\nu| \geq 3n \end{aligned}$$

Returning to our particular Riesz product we put

$$\varphi(\mathbf{n}) = \frac{1}{2^{\frac{1}{\pi}}} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} e^{-i\mathbf{n}\mathbf{x}} dF(\mathbf{x}), \quad \mathbf{n} \in \mathbf{f}$$

then $|\varphi(\mathbf{n})| \leq \sum_{\nu \in \Gamma} |\lambda_{\mathbf{n},\nu}| \delta_{\nu}$

$$= \sum_{i\nu \mid \leq 3n} |\lambda_{\mathbf{n},\nu}| \delta_{\nu} + \sum_{\nu \mid > 3n} |\lambda_{\mathbf{n},\nu}| \delta_{\nu}$$

$$\leq An^{-\frac{1}{2}} \sum_{\nu \mid \leq 3n} \delta_{\nu} + A \sum_{|\nu| > 3n} \nu^{-2} \delta_{\nu}$$

$$\leq An^{-\frac{1}{2}} \sum_{\nu \mid \leq 3n} 1 + A \sum_{|\nu| > 3n} \nu^{-2}$$

$$= 0(n^{-\frac{1}{2}} \log n) + 0(n^{-1})$$

$$= 0(n^{-\frac{1}{2}+d}) \quad \text{for every } d > 0$$

5°3

STATI ONARY GAUSSIAN PROCESSES

Throughout this section we let R_{∞} be the infinite dimensional Euclidean space whose points are of the form $u = \{u_j\}, j \in \Gamma$ where for each i, u_i is a real number. Further for any finite set $J \leq \Gamma$ we let R_J denote the finite dimensional Euclidean space whose points are of the form $u = \{u_j\}, j \in J$. We say that a real valued, non-negative and countably additive set function $\mu_{\rm I}$ such that $r_{J}(R_{J}) = 1$ is a Gaussian measure on R_{J} if there exists a positive definite quadratic form $Q_{J}(x)$ such that for all $x \in R_{J}$ we have $\int_{\mathbf{P}_{-}} e^{i} \int_{\mathbf{z}_{J} \mathbf{x}_{J} \mathbf{u}_{J}} d\mu_{J}(\mathbf{u}) = e^{-Q_{J}(\mathbf{x})/2}$

As usual by a positive definite quadratic form $Q_{j}(x)$ we mean that $Q_{T}(x)$ can be written as

 $Q_{j}(x) = \sum_{j,k \in J} a_{jk} x_{j} x_{k}$ and that $Q_{j}(x) \ge 0$ for all $x \in R_{j}$.

If P_J is the transformation on R_{∞} which sends $x = \{x_j\}, j \in \Gamma$ into $x = \{x_j\}, j \in J, \ \beta_{\infty}$ is a real valued, non-negative and countably additive set function on R_{∞}, β_{τ} is defined by

$$p_{\rm J}({\rm A}) = p_{\infty} \left({\rm P}^{-1} {\rm A} \right)$$

for all measurable sets A in R_J then we say that p_{∞} is a Gaussian measure if for every finite set $J \in \Gamma$ we have that p_J is a Gaussian measure. If S is the transformation on R_{∞} which is given by

Sx = y

where if $x = \{x_j\}, j \in \Gamma, y = \{y_j\}, j \in \Gamma$ we have $y_j = x_{j-1}, j \in \Gamma$, and if S is measure preserving with respect to a Gaussian measure ρ_{∞} then we refer to ρ_{∞} as a stationary Gaussian measure. Lastly we say that S is a stationary Gaussian process if ρ_{∞} is a stationary Gaussian measure. If $\rho(n), n \in \Gamma, -n \notin \Gamma^+$ is a real valued function such that for all finite sets $J \in \Gamma^-$ if we put

$$Q_{j}(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{j,k \in J} \varphi(\{j-k\}) \mathbf{x}_{j} \mathbf{x}_{k}$$

then we have that $Q_J(x)$ is a positive definite quadratic form, we say that $\varphi(n)$ is a positive definite function. We now quote some well known results.

Theorem 5.31 A function $\varphi(n)$, n = 0, 1, 2, ... is positive definite if and only if there exists a monotone non-decreasing, real-valued function F(x) defined on $[-\pi, \pi]$ and such that

$$\varphi(n) = \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} e^{-inx} dF(x), n = 0, 1, 2, ...$$

See [3] P.474. This result has already been quoted

in section 4.6 and is repeated here only for convenience.

For each $n \in \Gamma$ we define a function U_n' on R_{∞} by $U_n'(U) = U_n$ for all $u = \{u_j\}, j \in \Gamma$ in R_{∞} . Further in expressions such as $\int_{R_{\infty}} U_n'(u) U_m'(u) d \prod_{\infty} (u)$ we omit the ' and simply write $\int_{R} U_n U_m d \prod_{\infty} (u)$

With this convention we get:

Theorem 5.32 If S is a stationary Gaussian process and we put $\varphi(n) = \int_{R_{\infty}} U_n U_0 d \eta_{\infty}$, n = 0, 1, 2, ... then if the second moments exist $\varphi(n)$ is a uniquely determined positive function. Conversely if $\varphi(n)$ is a positive definite function then there exists a unique stationary Gaussian process such that

$$\varphi(\mathbf{n}) = \int_{R_{\infty}} U_{\mathbf{n}} U_{\mathbf{n}} d\eta_{\infty} , \mathbf{n} = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$

Proof See [3] P.473. From now on we always assume that S is a stationary Gaussian process and $\varphi(n)$, n = 0, 1, 2, ... is the associated positive definite function. μ_{∞} will always be the stationary Gaussian measure associated with S, J will always be a finite subset of Γ , μ_J the measure formed from μ_{∞} , J as previously and $Q_J(x)$ will denote $\sum_{j,k \in J} \varphi((j-kl)x_jx_k)$. We have that

$$\int_{R_J} e^{i \sum_{j \in J^X j^U j}} d \eta_J(u) = e^{-Q_J(x)/2}$$
(1)

expanding the left hand side gives

$$\int_{R_{J}} \left\{ \begin{array}{c} 1+i \sum_{j \in J} x_{j} u_{j} + \frac{1}{2} \left(\begin{array}{c} i \sum_{j \in J} x_{j} u_{j} \right)^{2} + \cdots \right\} d \mu_{J} \\ = 1+i \sum_{j \in J} x_{j} \int_{R_{J}} u_{j} d \mu_{J} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j,k \in J} x_{j} x_{k} \int_{R_{J}} u_{j} x_{k} d \mu_{J} + \cdots \\ R_{J} \end{array} \right\}$$

and expanding the right hand side of (1) gives

$$1 - \frac{Q(x)}{2} + \frac{1}{2!} \left(\frac{Q(x)}{2}\right)^{2} - \cdots$$

$$= 1 - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j,k \in J} \varphi(|j-k|) x_{j} x_{k} + \frac{1}{8} \left(\sum_{j,k \in J} \varphi(|j-k|) x_{j} x_{k}\right)^{2} - \cdots$$
But (1) is an identity in x and so we may compare coefficients to obtain

$$\int_{R_J} \prod_{j=1}^{k} u_{n,j} d n_J = 0 \text{ if } k \text{ is odd}$$

$$\int_{R_J} u_j u_k d n_J = \varphi(1j-k1)$$

$$\int_{R_J} \prod_{j=1}^{k} u_{n,j} d n_J = \sum_{p=1}^{p} \prod_{q=1}^{Q} \varphi(n_{pq}) \text{ if } k \text{ is even}$$

where Q = k/2, $P = (2Q)!/2^{Q}Q!$, $m_{gg} = n(p, g)$.

Hence we deduce that

$$\int_{R_{\infty}} \int_{R_{\infty}}^{k} u_{n_{j}} d\mu_{\infty} = 0 \text{ if } k \text{ is odd}$$

$$\int_{R_{\infty}} \int_{R_{\infty}} u_{j} u_{k} d\mu_{\infty} = \varphi(|j-k|)$$

$$\int_{R_{\infty}} \int_{j=1}^{k} u_{n_{j}} d\mu_{\infty} = \sum_{p=1}^{p} \int_{q=1}^{q} \varphi(n_{pq}) \text{ if } k \text{ is even}$$
since given any $n_{j}, 1 \le j \le k$ we can find a J such that $n_{j} \in J$
for each j.

Theorem 5.33 If S is a mixing of degree one then $\lim_{n \to \infty} \varphi(n) = 0$

Proof

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \varphi(n) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\mathcal{R}_{\infty}} u_n \, u_0 \, d\mu_{\infty}$$

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\mathcal{R}_{\infty}} (U^n u_0) \, u_0 \, d\mu_{\infty}$$

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} (U^n u_0, u_0)$$

$$= \left\{ \left(\lim_{\mathcal{R}_{\infty}} d\mu_{\infty} \right)^2 \right\}$$

$$= 0$$

Theorem 5.34 If $\lim_{n \to \infty} \varphi(n) = 0$ then 5 is a mixing of all degrees.

Proof Let L_1 be the subset of L_r^2 which consists of all functions of the form

$$\begin{split} \prod_{j=1}^{i} x_{n_{j}}^{i} (\mathbf{x}) &= \prod_{j=1}^{i} x_{n_{j}}^{i}, \text{ i finite} \\ \text{If } \mathbf{f}_{j} &= \prod_{j=1}^{i} x_{j}^{i}, 1 \leq l \leq k \text{ are any } k \text{ functions in } \mathbf{L}_{1} \text{ we put} \\ \text{F} &= F(\mathbf{t}_{1}, \dots, \mathbf{t}_{k}) = \int_{\substack{k \\ K_{\infty}}} \prod_{l=1}^{k} \mathbf{S}^{t_{l}} \mathbf{f}_{l} d p_{\infty} \\ \text{G} &= \prod_{l=1}^{k} \prod_{l=1}^{l} \int_{\substack{k \\ K_{\infty}}} \mathbf{f}_{l} d p_{\infty} \\ \text{I} &= \sum_{l=1}^{k} i_{l} \end{split}$$

If I is odd then F = 0 by the remarks immediately prior to theorem 5.33. However, I odd implies i, odd for some l and consequently $\int_{R_{\infty}} f_{I} d \mu_{\infty} = 0$ for this l giving G = 0 and hence F = G, for all t_{1}, \ldots, t_{k} . If I is even then by the earlier part of this section we can write

$$\mathbf{F} = \sum_{p=1}^{\mathbf{p}} \prod_{q=1}^{\mathbf{Q}} \varphi(\mathbf{n}_{pq})$$

where Q = I/2 and $P = \frac{(2Q)!}{2^{Q}}$. If i, is odd for some l say l = m then as above G = 0. Further we have that for each p, $1 \le p \le P$ there is a q = q(p) such that

$${}^{n}pq(\mathbf{p}) = {}^{l}\mathbf{r}_{j} + \mathbf{t}_{r} - (\mathbf{m}_{n} + \mathbf{t}_{m}) \mathbf{I}$$

where $l \leq r \leq k$, $r \neq m$ Thus if $\Delta = \inf_{l \neq n} |t_{l} - t_{n}|$ we have that

$$\lim_{\Delta \to \infty} \varphi (n_{pq}(p)) = 0$$

and so for each $p, l \leq p \leq P$

$$\lim_{\Delta \to \infty} \prod_{q=1}^{Q} \varphi(n_{pq}) = 0$$

giving us that

$$\lim_{\Delta \to \infty} F = 0 = G$$

If i, is even for all 1, and r = t(p,q,), $r_j = t_j(p,q)$ s = s(p,q), s_n = s_n (p,q) are defined by

$$n_{pq} = |r_{j} + t_{r} - (s_{n} + t_{s})|$$

then we have

 $\lim_{\Delta \to \infty} \varphi(\mathbf{n}_{pq}) = 0 \text{ if } \mathbf{r} \neq \mathbf{s}$ while if $\mathbf{r} = \mathbf{s}$ we have

$$\varphi(n_{pq}) = \varphi(r_j - r_n)$$

and so

and so by theorem 4.21 corollary 1, we have that S is a mixing of all degrees.

Theorem $5 \cdot 35$ If **S** is a mixing of degree 1 then it is a mixing of all degrees.

Proof If S is a mixing of degree 1 then by theorem 5.33 $\lim_{n\to\infty} \varphi(n) = 0$ and so by theorem 5.34 we have that S is a mixing of all degrees.

5.4 SPECTRAL PROPERTIES OF STATIONARY GAUSSIAN PROCESSES

Keeping the notation of the previous section we now turn to the spectral properties of S. As usual if $f \in L^2_{\rho}$ then we refer to the subspace spanned by Sⁿf, $n \in \Gamma$ as the cyclic subspace generated by f, and to the set function G defined on $[-\pi,\pi]$ and such that $(S^k f, f) = \int_{\pi}^{\pi} e^{i\lambda k} dG(\lambda)$ as the spectral type of f. (cf.section 4.6). Further since the set of all finite polynomials in a finite number of the x'_n 's is everywhere dense in L^2_{μ} it follows that the sum of all cyclic subspaces generated by a polynomial of the above form will cover L^2_{μ} . However, in order to find the maximal spectral type of S we need to express L^2_{μ} as an orthogonal sum of cyclic spaces (see section 4.6). We now proceed to find an orthogonal sequence of polynomials such that the cyclic subspaces generated by them are mutually orthogonal and their orthogonal sum equals L^2_{μ} . Before starting we prove a lemma which we shall need shortly.

Lemma 5.41 If F,G are integrable functions on $[-\pi,\pi]$ and defined elsewhere so as to be periodic with period 2π then

$$\left\{ \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} e^{i\lambda k} dF(\lambda) \right\} \left\{ \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} e^{iuk} dG(u) \right\} = \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} e^{i\lambda k} dH(\lambda)$$

where H is the convolution of F with G.

 $\begin{array}{l} \operatorname{Proof} & \left\{ \int_{\pi}^{\pi} e^{i\lambda} k_{dF}(\lambda) \right\} \left\{ \int_{\pi}^{\pi} e^{-iuk} dG(u) \right\} \\ &= \int_{\pi}^{\pi} \int_{\pi}^{\pi} e^{i(\lambda - u)k} dF(\lambda) dG(u) \\ &= \left[\mathbb{F}(\lambda) \int_{\pi}^{\pi} e^{i(\lambda - u)k} dG(u) \right]_{\pi}^{\pi} - \int_{\pi}^{\pi} \int_{\pi}^{\pi} i k e^{i(\lambda - u)k} F(\lambda) dG(u) d\lambda \\ &= -\int_{\pi}^{\pi} \int_{\pi}^{\pi} i k e^{i\mathbf{v}k} F(\lambda) dG(\lambda - v) dv \\ &= \left[-e^{i\mathbf{v}k} \int_{\pi}^{\pi} F(\lambda) dG(\lambda - v) \right]_{\pi}^{\pi} + \int_{\pi}^{\pi} e^{i\mathbf{v}k} \frac{d}{dv} \left\{ \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} F(\lambda) dG(\lambda - v) \right\} \\ &= \int_{\pi}^{\pi} e^{ivk} dH(\lambda) \\ & \text{where } H(\lambda) = \int_{\pi}^{\pi} F(\lambda - u) dG(u) \\ &= \int_{\pi}^{\pi} F(v) dG(\lambda - v) \\ & \text{Let } h_{1} = x_{0}^{\prime} \quad \text{and } H_{1} \text{ be the cyclic subspace generated by } h_{1}. \end{array}$

94

$$(S^{k}h_{1}, h_{1}) = \int_{R_{\infty}} x_{0} d p$$
$$= \varphi(k)$$
$$= \int_{\pi}^{\pi} e^{i \lambda k} dF(\lambda)$$

showing that F is the spectral type of h_1 . Also $\int_{R_{no}} h_1(x) d\mu(x) = \int_{R_{no}} x_0 d\mu = 0$ giving us that $H_1 \perp H_0$, where H_0 is the cyclic subspace generated by the constant functions.

Before continuing, we pause to point out that since F is singular we have already by lemma 4.68 that S does not have a Lebesgue spectrum.

Returning to our investigation of the spectral type of S we have that if $h_2^{(0)} = (x_0^{\prime})^2 - 1$, $H_2^{(0)}$ the cyclic subspace generated by $h_2^{(0)}$ then

$$\int_{R_{\infty}} h_{2}^{(0)}(x) d\mu(x) = \int_{R_{\infty}} (x_{0}^{2} - 1) d\mu$$

and $\int_{\mathcal{R}_{\infty}}^{h(0)} (\mathbf{x}) \mathbf{S}^{k} \mathbf{h}_{1}(\mathbf{x}) d\boldsymbol{\mu}(\mathbf{x}) = \int_{\mathcal{R}_{\infty}}^{l} (\mathbf{x}_{0}^{2} \mathbf{x}_{k} - \mathbf{x}_{k}) d\boldsymbol{\mu}$ = 0

giving us that $H_2^{(o)}$ is orthogonal to $H_0 \oplus H_1$

$$(S^{k}h_{2}^{(0)}, h_{2}^{0}) = \int_{R_{\infty}} (x_{k}^{2} x_{0}^{2} - x_{k}^{2} - x_{0}^{2} + 1) d\mu$$

= 2 { $\varphi(k)$ }² + { $\varphi(0)$ }² - 2 $\varphi(0)$ + 1
= 2 { $\varphi(k)$ }²
= 2 { $\varphi(k)$ }²
= 2 { $\pi} e^{i\lambda k} dF_{2}(\lambda)$
where $F_{2}(\lambda) = \int_{\pi}^{\pi} F(\lambda - u) dF(u) by$ lemma 5.41.

Thus we see that F_2 is the spectral type of $h_2^{(0)}$.

Similarly if we let $h_3^{(o)} = (x_0^{\prime})^3 - x_0^{\prime}$, $H_3^{(o)}$ be the cyclic subspace generated by $h_3^{(o)}$ then we get $H_3^{(o)} \perp H_0 \oplus H_1 \oplus H_2^{(o)}$ and

95

 $(S^{k}h_{3}^{(o)}, h_{3}^{(o)}) = 6 \int_{\pi}^{\pi} e^{i\lambda k} dF_{3}(\lambda)$ where $F_{3}(\lambda) = \int_{\pi}^{\pi} F_{2}(\lambda - u) dF(u)$. Thus F_{3} is the spectral type of $h_{3}^{(o)}$.

In general we take

$$h_{2r}^{(o)} = (x_0')^{2r} + \alpha_1(x_0)^{2(r-1)} + \cdots + \alpha_r$$

where the α_i , l < i < r are chosen so that

$$(h_{2r}^{(0)}, h_{n}^{(0)}) = 0 \text{ for } 2 \le n \le 2r - 1$$

$$(h_{2r}^{(0)}, h_{1}) = 0$$

and
$$\int_{R_{\infty}} h_{2r}^{(0)}(x) d\mu(x) = 0$$

Although we appear to have 2r conditions these reduce to r in view of 5.3

Similarly we take

$$h_{2r-1}^{(o)} = (x_0^{\prime})^{2r-1} + \beta_1(x_0^{\prime})^{2(r-1)-1} + \cdots + \beta_{r-1}^{\beta} x_0^{\prime}$$

where the \ll_i , $1 \leq i \leq r-1$ are chosen so that

$$(h_{2r-1}^{(o)}, h_{n}^{(o)}) = 0$$
 for $2 \le n \le 2r-2$
 $(h_{2r-1}^{(o)}, h_{1}) = 0$
and $\int_{B} h_{2r-1}^{(o)}(x) d\mu(x) = 0$

Again the same remarks as applied to the conditions the α_i 's. satisfied apply here also. We then let $H_n^{(o)}$ denote the cyclic subspace generated by $h_n^{(o)}$ for $n = 2, 3, 4, \ldots$. Clearly we have $H_n^{(o)} \perp H_0 \oplus H_1$ for all n and $H_n^{(o)} \perp H_m^{(o)}$ if $n \neq m$. Further we have

$$(S^{k}h_{n}^{(0)}, h_{n}^{(0)}) = p(\varphi(k))$$

where p is a polynomial of degree n and so by lemma 5.41 we have that the spectral type of $h_n^{(0)}$ is absolutely continuous with respect to $\sum_{i=1}^{n} F_{i}(\lambda)$ where $F_{1}(\lambda) = F(\lambda)$ and $F_{i}(\lambda) = \int_{\pi}^{\pi} F_{i-1}(\lambda-u) dF(u)$ for $2 \leq i \leq n$.

In general $L_{P}^{2} \neq H_{0} \oplus H_{1} \oplus \bigoplus_{n=2}^{\infty} H_{n}^{(o)}$ and so we consider $\mathbf{x}_{o'n}^{\prime} - \varphi(n)$, $n \in \Gamma^{+}$ and define $h_{n}^{(1)}$ to be the projection of $\mathbf{x}_{o'n}^{\prime} - \varphi(n)$ on the orthogonal complement of $H_{0} \oplus H_{1} \oplus \bigoplus_{m=2}^{\infty} H_{m}^{(o)} \oplus \bigoplus_{i=0}^{n-1} H_{i}^{(1)}$ and $H_{n}^{(1)}$ to be the cyclic subspace spanned by $h_{n}^{(1)}$. Further $(S^{k}(\mathbf{x}_{o'n}^{\prime} - \varphi(n)), (\mathbf{x}_{o'n}^{\prime} - \varphi(n))) = \int_{R_{\infty}} (\mathbf{x}_{k} \mathbf{x}_{n+k} \mathbf{x}_{o'n} - \mathbf{x}_{k} \mathbf{x}_{n+k} \varphi(n) - \mathbf{x}_{o'n} \varphi(n) + i \varphi(n) i^{2}) d\mu$ $= \{\varphi(n)\}^{2} + \{\varphi(n)\}^{2} + \varphi(n+k) \varphi(n-k) - \{\varphi(n)\}^{2} + i \varphi(n)\}^{2}$ $= \{\varphi(k)\}^{2} + \varphi(n+k) \varphi(n-k)$ and $\varphi(n+k) \varphi(n-k) = \{\int_{-\pi}^{\pi} i \lambda (n+k) dF(\lambda)\} \{\{\int_{-\pi}^{\pi} e^{iu(n-k)} dF(u)\}$

$$= \int_{\pi}^{\pi} e^{i\lambda k} dG(\lambda)$$

where $G(\lambda) = \int_{\pi}^{\pi} e^{i(\lambda - u)n} F(\lambda - u) d\{e^{iun} F(u)\}$ by lemma 5.41. Thus we see that

$$(\mathbf{U}^{\mathbf{k}}\mathbf{h}_{\mathbf{n}}^{(1)},\mathbf{h}_{\mathbf{n}}^{(1)}) = \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} e^{\mathbf{i}\,\boldsymbol{\lambda}\,\mathbf{k}} \,\mathrm{d}\,\Phi\,_{2}^{\mathbf{n}}(\boldsymbol{\lambda})$$

where $\Phi_2^n(\lambda)$ is absolutely continuous with respect to $F_2(\lambda)$. Again

$$(S^{k}(x_{o}' x_{n}'x_{m}'), x_{o}'x_{n}'x_{m}') = \int_{R_{\infty}} x_{k} x_{n+k} x_{m+k} x_{o} x_{n} x_{m} d\mu$$

$$= \varphi(n) \{ \varphi(n+k) \varphi(n-m) + \varphi(m+k-n) \varphi(m) + \varphi(k) \varphi(n) \}$$

$$+ \varphi(n) \{ \varphi(n+k) \varphi(n-m) + \varphi(k) \varphi(m) + \varphi(n+k-m) \varphi(n) \}$$

$$+ \varphi(k) \{ \{ \varphi(n-m) \}^{2} + \{ \varphi(k) \}^{2} + \varphi(n+k-m) \varphi(m+k-m) \}$$

97

$$\begin{aligned} +\varphi(\mathbf{n}-\mathbf{k})\{\varphi(\mathbf{n}-\mathbf{m})\varphi(\mathbf{m})+\varphi(\mathbf{n}+\mathbf{k})\varphi(\mathbf{k})+\varphi(\mathbf{n}+\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{m})\varphi(\mathbf{m}+\mathbf{k})\}\\ +\varphi(\mathbf{m}-\mathbf{k})\{\varphi(\mathbf{n}-\mathbf{m})\varphi(\mathbf{n})+\varphi(\mathbf{n}+\mathbf{k})\varphi(\mathbf{m}+\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{m})+\varphi(\mathbf{k})\varphi(\mathbf{m}+\mathbf{k})\}\\ \text{Thus if } \mathbf{h}_{n}^{(2)} \text{ is the projection of the nth term of the sequence}\\ \mathbf{x}_{O}^{'}\mathbf{x}_{O}^{'}\mathbf{x}_{O}^{'}, \mathbf{x}_{O}^{'}\mathbf{x}_{1}^{'}\mathbf{x}_{1}^{'}, \mathbf{x}_{O}^{'}\mathbf{x}_{2}^{'}\mathbf{x}_{0}^{'}, \mathbf{x}_{O}^{'}\mathbf{x}_{2}^{'}\mathbf{x}_{1}^{'}, \mathbf{x}_{O}^{'}\mathbf{x}_{2}^{'}\mathbf{x}_{1}^{'}, \mathbf{x}_{O}^{'}\mathbf{x}_{2}^{'}\mathbf{x}_{1}^{'}, \mathbf{x}_{O}^{'}\mathbf{x}_{2}^{'}\mathbf{x}_{2}^{'}, \mathbf{x}_{O}^{'}\mathbf{x}_{3}^{'}\mathbf{x}_{0}^{'}, \mathbf{x}_{O}^{'}\mathbf{x}_{3}^{'}\mathbf{x}_{1}^{'}, \cdots \\ \text{on } \mathbf{H}_{O} \oplus \mathbf{H}_{1} \oplus \bigoplus_{m=2}^{\infty} \mathbf{H}_{m}^{(O)} \oplus \bigoplus_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \mathbf{H}_{\ell}^{(1)} \oplus \bigoplus_{1=1}^{n-1} \mathbf{H}_{1}^{(2)}\\ \text{and if } \mathbf{f}_{3}^{(n)} \text{ is the spectral type of } \mathbf{h}_{n}^{(2)} \text{ we have that}\\ \mathbf{f}_{3}^{(n)} \leq \mathbf{F} + \mathbf{F}_{2} + \mathbf{F}_{3} \text{ since for all } \mathbf{n}, \mathbf{m} \in \Gamma^{+} \text{we have}\\ \int_{\pi}^{\pi} \mathbf{F}_{m}^{'}(\lambda - \mathbf{u}) \ d\mathbf{F}_{n}^{'}(\mathbf{u}) = \int_{\pi}^{\pi} \int_{\pi}^{\pi} \mathbf{F}_{m-1}^{'}(\lambda - \mathbf{u} - \mathbf{v}_{1}) \ d\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{v}_{1}) \ d\mathbf{F}_{n}^{'}(\mathbf{u})\\ &= \int_{\pi}^{\pi} \int_{\pi}^{\pi} \mathbf{F}_{m}^{'}(\lambda - \mathbf{u} - \sum_{1=1}^{m} \mathbf{v}_{1}) \ d\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{v}_{1}) \ d\mathbf{F}_{n}^{'}(\mathbf{u})\\ &= \int_{\pi}^{\pi} \int_{\pi}^{\pi} \mathbf{F}_{m}^{'}(\lambda - \mathbf{u} - \sum_{1=1}^{m} \mathbf{v}_{1}) \ d\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{u}) \ d\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{v}_{m}) \cdots \mathbf{d}\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{v}_{1})\\ &= \int_{\pi}^{\pi} \int_{\pi}^{\pi} \mathbf{F}_{m}^{'}(\lambda - \mathbf{u} - \sum_{1=1}^{m} \mathbf{v}_{1}) \ d\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{u}) \ d\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{v}_{m+m}) \cdots \mathbf{d}\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{v}_{1})\\ &= \int_{\pi}^{\pi} \int_{\pi}^{\pi} \mathbf{F}_{m}^{'}(\lambda - \mathbf{u} - \sum_{1=1}^{m} \mathbf{v}_{1}) \ d\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{u}) \ d\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{v}_{m+m}) \cdots \mathbf{d}\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{v}_{1})\\ &= \int_{\pi}^{\pi} \int_{\pi}^{\pi} \mathbf{F}_{m}^{'}(\lambda - \mathbf{u} - \sum_{1=1}^{m} \mathbf{v}_{1}) \ d\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{u}) \ d\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{v}_{m+m}) \cdots \mathbf{d}\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{v}_{1})\\ &= \int_{\pi}^{\pi} \int_{\pi}^{\pi} \mathbf{F}_{m}^{'}(\lambda - \mathbf{u} - \sum_{1=1}^{m} \mathbf{v}_{1}) \ d\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{u}) \ d\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{v}_{m+m}) \cdots \mathbf{d}\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{v}_{1})\\ &= \int_{\pi}^{\pi} \int_{\pi}^{\pi} \mathbf{F}_{m}^{'}(\lambda - \mathbf{u} - \sum_{1=1}^{m} \mathbf{v}_{1}) \ d\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{u}) \ d\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{v}_{1}) \ d\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{v}_{1}) \cdots \mathbf{d}\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{v}_{1})\\ &= \int_{\pi}^{\pi} \int_{\pi}^{\pi} \mathbf{F}_{m}^{'}(\mathbf{F}_{m}^{'}(\mathbf{F}_{m}^{'}) \cdots \mathbf{F}_{m}^{'}(\mathbf{F}_{m}^{'}) \ d\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{v}_{m}^{'}) \$$

Thus if \mathbf{a}_i , $\mathbf{i} \in \Gamma^+$ satisfy $\mathbf{a}_i > 0$ each i, $\sum_{i \in P^+} \mathbf{a}_i < \infty$ and $\mathbf{i}_1(\lambda) = \sum_{j \in \Gamma^+} \mathbf{a}_j \mathbf{F}_j(\lambda)$ then by the method used earlier in this section it is easy to show that the spectral type of all polynomials in a finite number of the \mathbf{x}'_j , $\mathbf{j} \in \Gamma$ is absolutely continuous with respect to $\mathbf{i}_1(\lambda)$. Thus if we order these polynomials and consider their projections on the orthogonal complement of the $\mathbf{H}_j^{(i)}$'s already defined we can express \mathbf{L}_P^2 as the orthogonal sum of cyclic subspaces whose spectral types are all absolutely continuous with respect to $\mathbf{i}_1(\lambda)$. Hence if $\mathbf{F}_0(\lambda)$ is the spectral type of \mathbf{H}_0 , $\mathbf{a}_0 > 0$ we have that $\mathbf{i}(\lambda) = \mathbf{a}_0 \mathbf{F}_0(\lambda) + \mathbf{i}_1(\lambda)$ is the maximal spectral type of \mathbf{L}_P^2 since $\mathbf{F}_n(\lambda)$ is the spectral type of $\mathbf{H}_n^{(o)}$ for $n \ge 2$ and $\mathbf{F}_1(\lambda) = \mathbf{F}(\lambda)$ is the spectral type of \mathbf{H}_1 .

5.5 MIXING AND REGULARITY PROPERTIES OF AN AUTOMORPHISM

We have previously defined Kolmogorov and regular automorphisms and the concept of mixing of all degrees. In section 4.5 we showed that an automorphism on a finite measure space is regular if and only if it is a Kolmogorov automorphism and in section 4.4 we showed that this condition implied mixing of all degrees. The aim of this section is to show that the converse is not true, i.e. that there exist automorphisms on finite measure spaces which are mixing of all degrees but which are not Kolmogorov automorphisms.

Theorem 5.51 There exist automorphisms of finite measure spaces which are mixing of all degrees but which are not Kolmogorov automorphisms.

Proof We consider the F(x) and $\varphi(n) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} e^{-inx} dF(x)$. of section 5.2. Since F(x) is monotone increasing we have by 5.31 that $\varphi(n)$ is a positive definite function and so by 5.32 there is a

stationary Gaussian process S on \mathbb{R}_{∞} such that $\varphi(n)$ is the associated positive definite function. Now it was proved in 5.2 that $\varphi(n) = 0$ $(n^{-\frac{1}{2}+d})$ for every d > 0 and so we have $\lim_{n \to \infty} \varphi(n) = 0$. Theorem 5.34 now gives us that S is a mixing of all degrees. Further using the notation and results of section 5.4 we see that the maximal spectral type of S is $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} c_n \mathbb{F}_n(\lambda)$ where $\mathbb{F}_0(\lambda)$ concentrates on the eigenvalue corresponding to the constants, $\mathbb{F}_1(\lambda)$ is singular and the $\mathbb{F}_n(\lambda)$ for $n \ge 2$ are absolutely continuous. Hence we see that S cannot have a Lebesgue spectrum in the space orthogonal to the constant functions and so by 4.7 S is not a Kolmogor ov-automorphism.

99

Corollary There exist automorphisms of finite measure spaces which are mixing of all degrees, but which are not regular.

Proof This is an immediate consequence of 4.4 and the theorem.

With the notation of 5.4 we have

$$\int_{\pi}^{\pi} e^{in\lambda} F(\lambda) d\lambda = \left[e^{in\lambda} F(\lambda) \right]_{-\pi}^{\pi} + \frac{i}{n} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} e^{in\lambda} dF(\lambda)$$

$$= \frac{i \varphi(n)}{n}$$
and so $F_{2}(\lambda) = \int_{\pi}^{\pi} \sum_{n \in \Gamma} \frac{i \varphi(n)}{n} e^{-in(\lambda - u)} dF(u)$

$$= i \sum_{n \in \Gamma} \frac{\varphi(n)}{n} e^{-in\lambda} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} e^{inu} dF(u)$$

$$= i \sum_{n \in \Gamma} \frac{i \varphi(n)}{n} e^{-in\lambda}$$

$$= \int_{-\pi} \sum_{n \in \Gamma} \frac{i \varphi(n)}{n} d\lambda$$

Hence if $\varphi(n) = 0$ $(n^{-\frac{1}{2}+d})$ for every d > 0 as $n \to \infty$ then $\{\varphi(\ln l)\}^2 = 0$ (n^{-l+d}) for every d > 0 as $n \to \infty$ and so we see that $F_2(\lambda)$ is the integral of a function in L_p^2 and is therefore absolutely continuous. Similarly $F_n(\lambda)$, $n \ge 2$ is absolutely continuous.

6 *O***-FINITE MEASURE SPACES**

6-1 INTRODUCTION

In this chapter we no longer require μ to satisfy $\mu(X) = 1$. Instead we assume that μ is a σ -finite, i.e. that there exist sets A_i , $i \in \Gamma^+$ such that for all i, $\mu(A_i) < \infty$ and such that $\bigcup_{i \in \Gamma^+} A_i = X$.

We say that a set A is a wandering set if for all i, $j \in \Gamma$ such that $i \neq j$ we have $T^{i}A \wedge T^{j}A = \phi$. Clearly this last condition is equivalent to $A \wedge T^{-i}A = \phi$, $i \in \Gamma^{+}$.

Proposition 6.11 If there are no wandering sets of positive measure then for all $A \in E$ we have p(TB) = p(B) where $B = \bigcup_{i \in I^+} T^{-i}A$

Proof If
$$C = TB-B$$
 then for $n \in \Gamma^{+}$
 $C_{n}T^{-n}C = \{ \bigcup_{i=0}^{\infty} T^{-i}A - \bigcup_{i\in\Gamma^{+}} T^{-i}A \} \land \{ \bigcup_{i=n}^{\infty} T^{-i}A - \bigcup_{i=n+1}^{\infty} T^{-i}A \}$
 $= \{ A - \bigcup_{i\in\Gamma^{+}} T^{-i}A \} \land \{ T^{-n} A - \bigcup_{i=n+1}^{\infty} T^{-i}A \}$
 $\leq \{ A - \bigcup_{i\in\Gamma^{+}} T^{-i}A \} \land T^{-n}A$
 $= \phi \quad \text{since } T^{-n} A \in \bigcup_{i\in\Gamma^{+}} T^{-i} A$

Thus C is a wandering set and so we must have $\mu(C) = 0$ and therefore $\mu(TB) = \mu(B)$ since $B \leq TB$.

Proposition 6.12 If A is any set such that p(A) > 0 and we put $A_i = \{x: x \in A, T^i x \in A, T^j x \notin A, 1 \le j \le i-1\}$ for $i \in \Gamma^+$ then if there are no wandering sets of positive measure, $p(A - \bigcup_{i \in \Gamma^+} A_i) = 0$.

Proof If $B = A - \bigcup_{i \in \Gamma^+} A_i$ then for $n \in \Gamma^+$ $B_0 T^{-n} B = \{A - \bigcup_{i \in \Gamma^+} A_i\}_0 \{T^{-n} A - \bigcup_{i \in \Gamma^+} T^{-n} A_i\}$ $\leq \{A - \bigcup_{i \in \Gamma^+} A_i\}_0 T^{-n} A$ 101

since for all i $\Lambda_i = \Lambda_n T^{-i} \Lambda - \frac{i-1}{J=1} \Lambda_j$ giving $\Lambda_n T^{-i} \Lambda = \bigcup_{j=1}^i \Lambda_j$ and hence $T^{-n} \Lambda \subseteq \bigcup_{i \in \Gamma} A_i$ for all $n \in \Gamma^+$. But there are no wandering sets of positive measure and so $\mu(B) = 0$ as required.

When dealing with σ -finite measure spaces, with no wandering sets of positive measure we keep the same definitions of invariant exhaustive and K_1 -algebras, but we redefine a K-algebra to be a K_1 -algebra α , such that $\alpha_{\alpha} = \nu$ and such that $0 < \mu(\Lambda) < \infty$ for at least one $\Lambda \epsilon \alpha$. Clearly this coincides with our previous definition if $\mu(X) < \infty$. If α is a K-algebra and $\Lambda \epsilon \alpha$ satisfies $0 < \mu(\Lambda) < \infty$ then we let $\Lambda_i = T^{-i}\Lambda$, $i \in \Gamma^+$. By proposition 6.11 we have that $T_{i\in \Gamma^+} \Lambda_i = U_{i\in \Gamma^+} \Lambda_i$ and since $U_{i\in \Gamma^+} \Lambda_i \epsilon \alpha$ we deduce that $U_{i\in \Gamma^+} \Lambda_i \epsilon T^j \alpha$, $j \in \Gamma$. Hence $U_{i\in \Gamma^+} \Lambda_i \epsilon \int_{j\in \Gamma} T^j \alpha = \nu$ giving us that $U_{i\in \Gamma^+} \Lambda_i = X$ up to a set of measure zero since $0 < \mu(\Lambda)$ implies $\mu(U_{i\in \Gamma^+} \Lambda_i) \neq 0$.

6.2 INDUCED AUTOMORPHISMS

If Λ is any set such that $\mu(\Lambda) > 0$, then we put

 $\boldsymbol{\xi}_{\underline{A}} \equiv \{ B ; B \boldsymbol{\epsilon} \boldsymbol{\epsilon}, B \boldsymbol{\epsilon} \boldsymbol{\Lambda} \}$

and we define a measure μ_{Λ} on (X, ϵ_{Λ}) by putting

 $p_{A}(B) = p(B)$ for $B \in \mathcal{E}_{A}$

and we define S_{Λ} , by

 $S_{\Lambda}(x) = \{T^{i}x : T^{i}x \in \Lambda, T^{j}x \notin \Lambda, 1 \leq j \leq i - l\}$ for $x \in \Lambda$. Clearly by proposition 6.12 S_{Λ} is an automorphism and it is measure preserving since T is. We refer to S_{Λ} as the automorphism induced on $(\Lambda, \epsilon_{\Lambda})$ by T. Lastly if α is any σ -algebra we put $\alpha_{\Lambda} = \{ B : \text{there exists a } C \in \alpha \text{ such that } B = \Lambda_{n}C \}$ Clearly α_{Λ} is a σ -algebra of $(\Lambda, \varepsilon_{\Lambda})$

Proposition 6.21 If \propto is an invariant σ -algebra with respect to T and $\Lambda \epsilon \propto$ is such that $\mu(\Lambda) > 0$ then \propto_{Λ} is an invariant σ -algebra with respect to S_{Λ} if there are no wandering sets of positive measure in (X, ϵ, μ, T)

Proof For any $B \in \alpha_{\Lambda}$, (and hence to \ll) we put $B_k = T^k \Lambda_{\Lambda} B - \frac{k-1}{j=1} B_j$, $k \in \Gamma^+$ then $B_k \leq B$ and $S_{\Lambda}^{-1} B_k = T^{-k} B_k$ for all k. If $C = B - \frac{U}{k \in \Gamma^+} B_k$ then for $n \in \Gamma^+$ we have

$$C \circ T^{n} C = \{B - \bigcup_{k \in \Gamma^{+}} B_{k}\} \circ \{T^{n}B - \bigcup_{k \in \Gamma^{+}} T^{n} B_{k}\}$$

 $\{B - \bigcup_{k \in \Gamma^+} B_k\} \cap T^n B$

Now $x \in B \wedge T^n$ B implies $T^{-n} x \in B \leq \Lambda$ i.e. $x \in T^n \Lambda$ but $x \in B$ and so $x \in T^n \Lambda \cap B$ giving $x \in \bigcup_{j=1}^n B_j$. Thus $C \cap T^n C = \phi$ and hence $C \cap T^{-n} C = \phi$ for all $n \in \Gamma^+$ and therefore C is a wandering set and so we have p(C) = 0. Further $B_1 = T\Lambda \cap B \in T \ltimes$ and by induction we get $B_k \in T^k \ltimes$ for $k \in \Gamma^+$. Hence neglecting a set of measure zero we have

$$B = \bigcup_{k \in r^{+}} B_{k}$$
$$= S_{A} S_{A}^{-1} \bigcup_{k \in r^{+}} B_{k}$$
$$= S_{A} \bigcup_{k \in r^{+}} T^{-k} B_{k}$$

But $T^{-k} B_k \in \alpha$, and $T^{-k} B_k \in \Lambda$ giving $T^{-k} B_k \in \alpha_\Lambda$ for all $k \in \Gamma^+$ and hence $\bigcup_{k \in \Gamma^+} T^{-k} B_k \in \alpha_\Lambda$. Thus $B \in S_\Lambda \propto_\Lambda$ and so we deduce that . $\alpha_\Lambda \leq S_\Lambda \propto_\Lambda$ i.e. α_Λ is invariant.

 $Corollary l \qquad \boldsymbol{\prec}_{\Lambda} \notin (\mathbf{T}_{\boldsymbol{\varkappa}})_{\Lambda} \notin \mathbf{S}_{\Lambda} \boldsymbol{\prec}_{\Lambda}$

Proof Since $\ll \leq T \ll$ we have immediately that $\simeq_{\Lambda} \leq (T \ll)_{\Lambda}$. If $B \in (T \ll)_{\Lambda}$ then since $\Lambda \leq \ll \leq T \ll$ we have $B \in T \ll$. The proof of the proposition remains valid for this B and so we get $B \in S_{\Lambda} \simeq_{\Lambda}$ giving $(T \ll)_{\Lambda} \leq S_{\Lambda} \simeq_{\Lambda}$

104

Corollary 2 If α is a K_1 -algebra with respect to T then α_A is a K_1 -algebra with respect to S_A .

Proof $\xi = \alpha_m$ and so

 $\begin{aligned} \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{\Lambda} &= \left(\boldsymbol{\varkappa}_{\mathrm{T}}\right)_{\mathrm{A}} \\ & \leq \left(\boldsymbol{\varkappa}_{\Lambda}\right)_{\mathrm{S}_{\Lambda}} \quad \text{by corollary 1} \\ & \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{\Lambda} \end{aligned}$

giving $(\alpha_{\Lambda})_{S_{\Lambda}} = \epsilon_{\Lambda}$

i.e. α_{Λ} is exhaustive. But α_{Λ} is invariant by the proposition and so we have that α_{Λ} is a K_1 -algebra with respect to S_{Λ} .

Proposition 6.22 If α is a K_1 -algebra, $\Lambda \in \alpha, \infty > \mu(\Lambda) > 0$ and $B \in \ell_{\Lambda}$ is such that $S_{\Lambda}B = B$ then $B \in \alpha_{\Lambda}$

Proof $\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{\Lambda}$ is a K_l-algebra and so for each $k \in \Gamma^+$ there exists an n_k and a B_k $\in S_{\Lambda}^{nk} \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{\Lambda}$ such that $\boldsymbol{p}(B \triangleq B_k) < 2^{-k}$

But $B = S_A B$ and so $\mu(B \bullet S_A^{-nk} B_k) = \mu \{ S^{-nk}(B \bullet B_k) \}$ $= \mu (B \bullet B_k)$ $< 2^{-k}$ If $C_k = S^{-nk} B_k$, $k \in \Gamma^+$ then $C_k \in \alpha_A$ for each k. Now $\mu(B - \bigcup_{k=n}^{\infty} C_k) \leq \mu(B - C_m)$ for $n \leq m$ $\leq \mu(B \bullet C_m)$ Thus we get $\mu(B - \bigcup_{k=n}^{\infty} C_k) = 0$ and so $B \leq \bigcup_{k=n}^{\infty} C_k$ up to a set of measure zero for all $n \in \Gamma^+$ giving us that $B \leq \bigcap_{n \in \Gamma^+} \bigcup_{k=n}^{\infty} C_k$ But $\mu(\bigcap_{n \in \Gamma^+} \bigcup_{k=n}^{\infty} C_k - B) \leq \mu(\bigcup_{k=n}^{\infty} C_k - B), n \in \Gamma^+$ $\leq \sum_{k=n}^{\infty} \mu(C_k - B)$ $\leq \sum_{k=n}^{\infty} \mu(C_k \wedge B)$ $\leq \sum_{k=n}^{\infty} 2^{-k}$ $= 2^{1-n}$ giving $\mu(\bigcap_{n \in C^+} \bigcup_{k=n}^{\infty} C_k - B) = 0$ i.e. $\bigcap_{n \in \Gamma^+} \bigcup_{k=n}^{\infty} C_k \leq B$ up to a set of

giving $\int (n\epsilon r + k = n c_k - B) = 0$ i.e. $n\epsilon r + k = n c_k \subseteq B$ up to a set of measure zero. Thus $B = \bigcap_{n \in r} \bigcup_{k=n}^{\infty} C_k$ up to a set of measure zero and hence $B \in \mathcal{A}$ if we neglect a set of measure zero as we are at liberty to do.

Corollary If α is a K_1 -algebra, $\Lambda \in \alpha$, $\mu(\Lambda) > 0$ and $B \in \epsilon_{\Lambda}$ is such that $T^k B = B$ then $B \in \alpha_{\Lambda}$

Proof If $B_i = T^{-k} \wedge B - \frac{i-1}{j=1} B_j$ then since $T^k B = B$ we have $T^{-k} \wedge B = B$ giving us that $B = \frac{v}{i=1} B_i$ with $S_{\Lambda} B_i = T^i B_i$ and so $S_{\Lambda} B = B$. The result then follows from the proposition.

Theorem 6.23 If α is a K_1 -algebra, $\beta \in Z_1$ is such that T $\beta = \beta$ then $\beta \leq \alpha$ if we neglect a set of measure zero.

Proof If A = X in proposition 6.22 then since $T\beta = \beta$, $\beta \in Z_1$ implies that for each $B \in \beta$ p(B) > 0, there exists a $k \in \Gamma^+$ with $T^k B = B$ the result follows from corollary 1 of that proposition. Proposition 6.24 If $\Lambda \in \epsilon$, $\mu(\Lambda) > 0$, S_A is ergodic and there are no wandering sets of positive measure in (X, ϵ, μ) then T is ergodic in (B, ϵ_B, μ_B) where $B = \bigcup_{i \in \Gamma} T^{-i} \Lambda$.

Proof By proposition 6.11 TB = B and so T is an automorphism on (B, $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{B}, \boldsymbol{\mu}_{B}$) and $\boldsymbol{S}_{B} \boldsymbol{x} = T \boldsymbol{x}$ for $\boldsymbol{x} \boldsymbol{\epsilon} B$. If $C \boldsymbol{\epsilon} \boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{B}$ is such that TC = C then we put

 $C_{\Lambda} = \{ x : x \in \Lambda, T^{-1}x \in C \text{ for some } i \in \Gamma^+ \}$ Now TC = C and so $T^{-1} x \in C$ for some $i \in \Gamma^+$ implies that $T^1 x \in C$ for all $i \in \Gamma$ thus $S_{\Lambda} C_{\Lambda} = C_{\Lambda}$ giving $\mu(C_{\Lambda}) = 0$ or $\mu(\Lambda - C_{\Lambda}) = 0$ since S_{Λ} is ergodic. If $C^1 = \Lambda_{\Lambda}C$ then we define C^k , $k \in \Gamma^+$ inductively by putting

$$C^{k} = T^{-k} \wedge \rho C - \frac{k-1}{j\underline{U}_{1}} C^{j}$$

Thus $C^{i} \wedge C^{j} = \phi$ if $i \neq j$ and $C \sim U_{C}^{ck}$ up to a set of measure zero by 6.12...

Further $C_{\Lambda} = \bigcup_{k \in \Gamma^{+}} T^{k}C^{k}$ and so $\mu(C_{\Lambda}) = 0$ implies $\mu(T^{k}C^{k}) = 0$ for $k \in \Gamma^{+}$ which in turn implies $\mu(C) = 0$. While $\mu(C_{\Lambda}) \neq 0$ implies $\mu(\Lambda - C_{\Lambda}) = 0$, $\Lambda \in C_{\Lambda}$ up to a set of measure zero. Thus if D = B - C we have TD = D and hence $\mu(D_{\Lambda}) = 0$ or $\mu(\Lambda - D_{\Lambda}) = 0$ as above. But $\Lambda \notin C_{\Lambda}$ implies $\Lambda \wedge D_{\Lambda} = \emptyset$ and so we must have $\mu(D_{\Lambda}) = 0$ which implies $\mu(D) = 0$ as above. And so $\mu(B - C) = \mu(D) = 0$.

This last result is due to S.Kakutani see [9].

6.3 KOLMOGOROV AUTOMORPHISMS

Theorem $6 \cdot 31$ If T is a Kolmogorov-automorphism then T is ergodic.

Proof Let \propto be a K-algebra and Λ_n , $n \in \Gamma^+$ such that $A_n \in \alpha$, $0 < \mu(A_n) < \infty$ for each n and $\bigcup_{n \in \Gamma^+} A_n = X$. We write $\epsilon_n, \mu_n, s_n, \alpha_n$ for $\epsilon_{\Lambda_n}, \mu_{\Lambda_n}, s_{\Lambda_n}, \alpha_{\Lambda_n}$. By proposition 6.21 corollary 2 α_n is a K-algebra. Suppose that S_n is not ergodic for some $n \in \Gamma^+$. Then there exists a $B \in \mathcal{E}_n$ such that $0 < \mu(B) < \mu(\Lambda_n)$ and $S_n B = B$. By proposition 6.22 $B \in \alpha_n$ and hence $B \in \alpha$. Now T $\bigcup_{k \in \Gamma^+} T^{-k} B = \bigcup_{k \in I^{-+}} T^{-k} B$ by proposition 6.11 and so $B \in A_n \land \bigcup_{k \in \Gamma^+} T^{-k} B. \quad \text{If } x \in A_n \land \bigcup_{k \in \Gamma^+} T^{-k} B \text{ then } x \in A_n \land T^{-l} B \text{ for some}$ $l \in \Gamma^+$ and so $x \in B$ since $S_n^B = B$ giving $A \wedge \bigcup_{k \in \Gamma^+} T^{-k} B \subseteq B$ and hence $B = A_n \wedge V_{ker} + T^{-k}B.$ If $C = V_{ner} + T^{-k}B$ then by proposition 6.11 TC = C. However $T^{-k}B \in T^{-k} \leq \alpha$ and so $C \leq \alpha$ and therefore since TC = C we have $C \in \propto_{\infty}^{*} = \nu$. But $0 < p(B) \leq p(C)$ and therefore p(X-C) = 0 which in turn gives $\Lambda_n \wedge C = \Lambda_n$ modulo zero i.e. $\mu(B) = \mu(\Lambda_n)$ a contradiction. Thus S_n is ergodic for all n. By proposition 6.24 we have that T is ergodic in $V_{\Gamma+}T^{-1}\Lambda_n$ and since $T \bigcup_{i \in \Gamma^+} T^{-i} \Lambda_n = \bigcup_{i \in \Gamma^+} T^{-i} \Lambda_n$ by proposition 6.11 we have in view of $\bigcup_{i \in r+} T^{-i} \Lambda_n \in \alpha$, $\alpha_{\infty} = \nu$ that $\bigcup_{i \in r+} T^{-i} \Lambda_n = X$ and hence the desired result.

Corollary If T is a Kolmogorov automorphism then T^k is argodic for $k \in \Gamma^+$

Proof If α is a K-algebra with respect to T then $\alpha \leq T \alpha$ and so $\alpha \leq T^k \alpha$. Now $\bigvee_{i=-\infty}^n T^i \alpha = T^n \alpha \leq T^{kn} \alpha = \bigvee_{i=-\infty}^n T^{ki} \alpha$ for $n \in \Gamma^+$ hence letting $n \to \infty$ gives $\alpha_T \leq \alpha_{T^k}$ but $\alpha_T = \epsilon$ and so $\alpha_{T^k} = \epsilon$. Further $\bigwedge_{i=-n}^{\infty} T^{ki} \alpha = T^{-kn} \alpha \leq T^{-n} \alpha = \bigwedge_{i=-n}^{\infty} T^i \alpha$ for $n \in \Gamma^+$ and letting $n \to \infty$ gives $\alpha_{\infty}^{T^k} \leq \alpha_{\infty}^T$, but $\alpha_{\infty}^T = \nu$ and so $\alpha_{\infty}^{T^k} = \nu$. Thus α is a K-algebra with respect to T^k , $k \in \Gamma^+$ and so T^k is a Kolmogorov automorphism for $k \in \Gamma^+$. The ergodicity of T^k then follows from the theorem.

SUMMARY OF NOTATION AND DEFINITIONS

Numbers refer to the page(s) where the definition or symbol was first introduced.

atom:	A is an atom of α if $B \in \alpha$, $\mu(B-\Lambda) = 0$	
	imply $\mu(B) = 0$ or $\mu(B) = \mu(\Lambda)$.	16
atom set:	Λ_i , ielertis an atom set of $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_3$ if	
	Λ_i is an atom of α for each i, $\Lambda_i \wedge \Lambda_j = \phi$	
	whenever $i \neq j$ and $\mu(\bigcup_{i \in I} \Lambda_i) = 1$.	22.
automorphism:	8.	
continuous set:	A is a continuous set of \varkappa if given any	
	$\Lambda_1 \in \mathscr{A}$ such that $\Lambda_1 \notin \Lambda$ and any d such that	
	$0 < d \leq p(A_1)$ then there exists a $B \in \alpha$ with	
	$\mu(B-\Lambda_1) = 0 \text{ and } 0 < \mu(B) \leq d.$	16.
endomorphism:	8.	
entropy:	21, 27, 28, 44, 51.	
ergodic:	T is ergodic if $TA = A$ implies $p(A) = 0$ or	Ċ
	$\mu(X-\Lambda) = 0.$	12.
exhaustive:	\propto is exhaustive if $\propto_{T} = \epsilon$. 55,6	51.
	L is exhaustive if V_{terr} , $U^{t}L = L_{p}^{2}$.	78.
Gaussian measure:	88, 89.	
generator:	α is a generator if $\alpha_{T} = \epsilon$.	52.
Komomorphism:	8.	
increasingly filtered:	32.	
induced automorphism:	102.	
invariant:		61.
	L is invariant if UL & L.	78.

109

isomorphism:	21.	
K-algebra:	\approx is a K-algebra if: $\propto < T \propto$, $\propto_{T} = \epsilon$,∝,55,61.
K _l -algebra:	\propto is a K ₁ -algebra if: $\propto \leq T \propto$, $\propto_T = \xi$. 55, 61.
K-automorphism:	T is a K-automorphism if there exists a	
	K-algebra.	55, 6l.
Lebesgue space:	8.	
Lebesgue spectrum:	76.	
measure:	7.	
measure space:	8.	
metric type:	11.	
mixing:	61.	
notation:	$\epsilon, u, n, -, \bullet, \epsilon, \Gamma, \Gamma^+, \phi,$	7.
	(X,ε,η), , , V, Λ, μ, Τ,	9.
	L_{μ}^{2} , (f,g), f , U,	10.
	z ₁ , z ₂ , z ₃	18.
	μ (Δ‡B),	21.
	$H(\alpha), H(\alpha \beta),$	21, 27,28.
•	$S(\alpha) = \{ \alpha' : \alpha' \le \alpha, \alpha' \in \mathbb{Z}_3 \},\$	27.
	$Z = \{ \alpha : H(\alpha) < \infty \},\$	31.
	$\rho(\alpha,\beta) = H(\alpha \mid \beta) + H(\beta \mid \alpha),$	38.
	$T \propto = \{ \Lambda; T^{-1} \Lambda \in \infty \},$	42.
		42.
		42.
	$\boldsymbol{\alpha}^{-} = \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{\mathrm{T}}^{-} = \underbrace{\mathbf{V}}_{\mathbf{i} \in \Gamma^{+}} \mathbf{T}^{-i} \boldsymbol{\alpha} ,$	42.
	$\alpha_{\infty} = \alpha_{\infty}^{\mathrm{T}} = \Lambda_{\mathrm{i}\epsilon \Gamma^{+}} \mathrm{T}^{-\mathrm{i}} \alpha$	42.
	$\mathbf{h}_{1}(\boldsymbol{\alpha},\mathbf{T}) = \lim_{n \to \infty} H(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) \mathbf{T}^{-n} \boldsymbol{\alpha}^{n},$	44.
	$h(\alpha,T) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} H(\alpha^{n}),$	44.

. 110.

 $h(T) = \sup_{\alpha \in Z} h(\alpha, T),$ 51.

$$S^* = \{ \alpha : h(\alpha, T) = 0 \},$$
 56.

$$\pi (\mathbf{T}) = \underbrace{\mathbf{V}}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha} \in \mathbf{S}^{\star}} \boldsymbol{\alpha} , \qquad 56.$$

$$(\alpha) = \bigwedge_{i \in \Gamma} T^{i} \alpha^{-} = \bigwedge_{i \in \Gamma^{+}} T^{-i} \alpha^{-}, \qquad 61.$$

$$H_{x}, \varphi_{x}(n),$$
 72.

partition:

σ-algebra:

 σ - finite:

wandering set:

regular:

18.

T is regular if $(\alpha) = \nu$ for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_1$. 61. 7. 101. 61. tail σ -algebra: A is a wandering set if $T^{i}A \cap T^{j}A = \phi$ for all i, $j \in \Gamma$ such that $i \neq j$. 101.

111.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. ABRAMOV, L.M., Certain topics in the metric theory of dynamical systems, dissertation, Moscow State University, 1960.
- 2. BLUM, J.R. and HANSON, D.L., Some asymptotic convergence theorems, Proceedings of an International Symposium held at Tulane University, New Orleans, 1961.
- 3. DOOB, J.L., Stochastic Processes, New York, 1953.
- 4. FOMIN, S.V., Dynamical systems in a function space, Ukrainskii Matematicheskii Zhurnal, 2, no.2, 1950.
- 5. HALMOS, P.R., Measure Theory, Van Nostrand Co.Inc. 1950.
- 6. HALMOS, P.R., Lectures on Ergodic Theory, Chelsea Publishing Co., 1956.
- 7. HARDY, G.H., A course of Pure Mathematics, 10th edition, Cambridge, 1952.
- 8. JACOES, K., Lecture notes on Ergodic Theory, Matematisk Institut, Aarhus Universitet, 1962/63.
- 9. KAKUTANI, S., Induced measure preserving transformations, Proceedings of the Imperial Academy, Tokio, 19, 1943.
- 10. KELLEY, J.L., General Topology, Van Nostrand Co. Inc. 1955.
- 11. KOLMOGOROV, A.N., A new metric invariant of transient dynamical systems and automorphisms of Lebesgue spaces, Doklady Akad. Nauk. S.S.S.R., 119, 1958.

- KOLMOGOROV, A.N., Entropy per unit time as a metric invariant of automorphisms, Doklady Akad. Nauk. S.S.S.R. 124, 1959.
- 13. PINSKER, M.S., Information and information stability of random variables and processes, Moscow, 1960.
- 14. ROKHLIN, V.A., On the fundamental ideas of measure theory, Mat. Sbornik, 25, 1949.
- 15. ROKHLIN, V.A., Exact endomorphisms of a Lebesgue space, Izv. Akad. Nauk. S.S.S.R., Ser. Mat., 24, 1960.
- 16. ROKHLIN, V.A., New progresses in the theory of transformations with invariant measure, Uspekhi Mat. Nauk. 15, 1960.
- 17. ROKHLIN, V.A., and SINAI, Ja.G., Construction and properties of invariant measurable partitions, Doklady Akad. Nauk., S.S.S.R., 141, 1961.
- 18. SINAI, Ja.G., On the concept of entropy for dynamical systems, Doklady Akad. Nauk. S.S.S.R., 124, 1959.

American Mathematical Society, 1932.

 SINAI, Ja.G., Probabilistic ideas in Ergodic Theory, Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians, 1962
 SINAI, Ja.G. and ROKHLIN, V.A., see ROKHLIN, V.A. and SINAI, Ja.G.
 STONE, M.H., Linear transformations in Hilbert space, 21. SUCHESTON, L., Remarks on Kolmogorov automorphisms, Proceedings of an International Symposium held at Tulane University, New Orleans, 1961.

22. ZYGMUND, A., Trigonometric Series, Cambridge, 1959.